
City of Lemon Grove 
City Council Regular Meeting Agenda 

Tuesday, December 7, 2021, 6:00 p.m. 
Lemon Grove Community Center 

3146 School Lane, Lemon Grove, CA 91945 
 

 For everyone’s protection, all attendees must maintain a safe social distance 
and face coverings will be required to attend the meeting 

 
City Council 
Racquel Vasquez, Mayor 
Jerry Jones, Mayor Pro Tem 
Jennifer Mendoza, Councilmember 
Liana LeBaron, Councilmember 
George Gastil, Councilmember 
 

A complete agenda packet is available for review on the City’s website 
 

The City Council also sits as the Lemon Grove Housing Authority, Lemon Grove Sanitation District 
Board, Lemon Grove Roadway Lighting District Board, and 

Lemon Grove Successor Agency 
 
Call to Order 
 

Pledge of Allegiance   
 

Changes to the Agenda 
 
Presentation(s) 
 
Certificate of Commendation for Corporal Giovanni Brunacini 
 
Vision Zero, Jesse O’Sullavin, Policy Council, Circulate San Diego 
 

Public Comment 
Digitally submitted public comments received by the City Clerk at amalone@lemongrove.ca.gov will not be read out-loud during 
the meeting. However, they will be provided to the City Council and remain part of the meeting’s records. Per the Lemon Grove 
Municipal Code Section 2.14.150, live comments are allotted a maximum of three (3) minutes. 

 

Consent Calendar 
(Note: The items listed on the Consent Calendar will be enacted in one motion unless removed 
from the Consent Calendar by Council, staff, or the public.) 

1.A Waive Full Text Reading of All Ordinances on the Agenda 
Reference:  Kristen Steinke, City Attorney 
Recommendation: Waive the full text reading of all ordinances included in this 
agenda; Ordinances shall be introduced and adopted by title only. 

1.B City of Lemon Grove Payment Demands 
Reference:  Rod Greek, Interim Administrative Services Director 
Recommendation: Ratify Demands 

 

https://www.lemongrove.ca.gov/city-hall/city-council/current-city-council-meeting-agenda
mailto:amalone@lemongrove.ca.gov


City of Lemon Grove City Council Meeting December 7, 2021 

1.C

1.D

Approval of City Council Meeting Minutes 

Reference: Audrey Malone, City Clerk 
Recommendation: Approve the City Council meeting Minutes, meetings of 
October 23, 2021, November 16, 2021 and November 23, 2021. 

TransNet Funds Transfer 

Reference: Rod Greek, Interim Administrative Services Director 
Recommendation: Staff recommends that City Council adopt Resolution 2021-
3855 approving the transfer of $22,500 of TransNet funds from LG18 Traffic 
Improvements – Congestion Relief Project  (SANDAG MPO ID LG18) to LG16 
Storm Drain Rehabilitation – Congestion Relief Project (SANDAG MPO ID 
LG16) and the transfer of $22,495 of TransNet funds from LG18 Traffic 
Improvements – Congestion Relief Project  (SANDAG MPO ID LG18) to LG14 
Traffic Improvements – Preventative Maintenance (SANDAG MPO ID LG14). 

Public Hearing: 
2. Conditional Use Permit No. CUP-200-0002 – An appeal of a decision by the

Planning Commission to deny a request to add off-sale liquor sales (Type 21
license) at an existing convenience market located in the Transit Mixed Use (3)
zone of the Downtown Village Specific Plan and addressed as 7785 Broadway,
Lemon Grove

Reference: Noah Alvey, Community Development Manager
Recommendation: Conduct a public hearing and adopt the resolution upholding
the Planning Commission decision to deny Conditional Use Permit No. CUP-
200-0002.

Reports to Council: 
3. Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) for the  Fiscal Year  Ended

June 30, 2021

Reference: Rod Greek, Interim Administrative Services Director
 Recommendation: Receive, review, and file the Annual Comprehensive
Financial Report (ACFR) for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021.

4. Second Reading of the State Mandated Organic Waste Disposal Ordinance

Reference: Kristen Steinke, City Attorney
Recommendation: Introduce for its second reading Ordinance 459 “An
Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Lemon Grove, California amending
Chapter 13.28 of the Lemon Grove Municipal Code to comply with State
mandated organic waste disposal requirements.”



City of Lemon Grove City Council Meeting  December 7, 2021 
 
 
 
City Council Reports on Meetings Attended at the Expense of the City 
(GC 53232.3 (d)) (53232.3. (d) states that members of a legislative body shall provide brief reports on meetings 
attended at the expense of the local agency at the next regular meeting of the legislative body.) 
 

City Manager Report  
 
Closed Session:  

a. Conference with legal counsel – existing litigation (Govt Code section 54956.9(d)(1)) 
      In re:  National Prescription Opiate Litigation (U.S.D.C. Case No. 1:17-CV-2804) 
 
Adjournment 
 
AFFIDAVIT OF NOTIFICATION AND POSTING   
STATE OF CALIFORNIA    )   
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO  ) SS   
CITY OF LEMON GROVE  )   
  
I, Audrey Malone, City Clerk of the City of Lemon Grove, hereby declare under penalty of perjury that a 
copy of the above Agenda of the Regular Meeting of the City Council of the City of Lemon Grove, 
California, was delivered and/or notice by email not less than 72 hours, before the hour of 6:00 p.m. on 
December 2, 2021 to the members of the governing agency, and caused the agenda to be posted on the 
City’s website at www.lemongrove.ca.gov and at Lemon Grove City Hall, 3232 Main Street Lemon Grove, 
CA 91945.   
 /s/: Audrey Malone  
Audrey Malone, City Clerk  
 
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), the City of Lemon Grove will provide special 
accommodations for persons who require assistance to access, attend and/or participate in meetings of 
the City Council.  If you require such assistance, please contact the City Clerk at (619) 825-3800 or email 
amalone@lemongrove.ca.gov.  A full agenda is available for public review at City Hall. 



  

 

CITY OF LEMON GROVE 
 

CITY COUNCIL  
STAFF REPORT 

Item No.    1.A 

Meeting Date: December 7, 2021 

Submitted to: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 

Department:   City Manager’s Office 

Staff Contact:  Kristen Steinke, City Attorney 

Item Title:    Waive the Full Text Reading of all Ordinances  

 
Summary:  Waive the full text reading of all ordinances included in this agenda. 
Ordinances shall be introduced and adopted by title only. 
  

Environmental Review: 

 Not subject to review  Negative Declaration 

 Categorical Exemption, Section        Mitigated Negative Declaration 

 
Fiscal Impact: None. 
 
Public Notification: None. 
 



  

 

CITY OF LEMON GROVE 
 

CITY COUNCIL  
STAFF REPORT 

Item No.    1.B 

Meeting Date: December 7, 2021 

Submitted to: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 

Department:   City Manager’s Office 

Staff Contact:  Rod Greek, Interim Administrative Services Director 

  rgreek@lemongrove.ca.gov 

Item Title:    City of Lemon Grove Payment Demands  

 
Recommended Action:  Ratify Demands. 

Environmental Review: 

 Not subject to review  Negative Declaration 

 Categorical Exemption, Section        Mitigated Negative Declaration 

 

Fiscal Impact: None. 
 
Public Notification: None. 
 

mailto:rgreek@lemongrove.ca.gov


City of Lemon Grove Demands Summary

Approved as Submitted: 

Yolanda Cerezo, Interim Finance Manager ACH/AP Checks 11/09/21‐11/23/21 448,282.12

For Council Meeting: 12/07/21

Payroll ‐ 11/16/21 120,899.78

Total Demands 569,181.90

CHECK NO INVOICE NO VENDOR NAME CHECK DATE Description INVOICE AMOUNT

CHECK 

AMOUNT

ACH Nov2 21 US Treasury 11/09/2021 Federal Taxes 11/2/21 31,369.27 31,369.27

ACH Oct 21 Wells Fargo 11/10/2021 Credit Card Processing‐Mo.Svc ‐ Oct'21 9.95 615.68

Credit Card Transaction Fees ‐ Oct'21 605.73

ACH 12463244 LEAF 11/10/2021 Ricoh C3502 Copier System‐PW Yard ‐ Oct'21 138.27 138.27

ACH Oct 21 Wells Fargo 11/12/2021 Bank Service Charge ‐ Oct'21 122.09 122.09

ACH Oct 21 Home Depot Credit Services 11/12/2021 Home Depot Purchases ‐ Oct'21 1,469.29 1,469.29

ACH Oct6‐Nov2 21 California Public Empl Retirement System 11/17/2021 Pers Retirement 10/6/21‐11/2/21 70,015.29 70,015.29

ACH Nov16 21 Employment Development Department 11/17/2021 State Taxes 11/16/21 7,108.93 7,108.93

ACH Nov3‐Nov16 21 Calpers Supplemental Income 457 Plan 11/18/2021 457 Plan 11/3/21‐11/16/21 9,559.05 9,559.05

ACH 009110 Aflac 11/18/2021 AFLAC Insurance 11/17/21 1,689.44 1,689.44

ACH Refill 11/18/21 Pitney Bowes Global Financial Services LLC 11/19/2021 Postage Usage 11/18/21 250.00 250.00

ACH Oct21 WEX Bank 11/22/2021 Fuel ‐ Fire Dept/Animal Control/Code Enforcement‐ Oct'21 2,084.20 2,084.20

ACH Nov16 21 US Treasury 11/23/2021 Federal Taxes 11/16/21 24,120.06 24,120.06

15010 ADT Commercial ADT Commercial LLC 11/09/2021 Refund/ADT Commercial LLC/Fee Overpaid B21‐0370 90.00 90.00

15011 235488 Allstar Fire Equipment Inc 11/09/2021 Phenix First Due NFPA Helmet ‐ Fire 349.47 513.93

235586 HiViz Raincoat ‐ Fire 164.46

15012 L1072895VK American Messaging 11/09/2021 Pager Replacement Program 11/1/21‐11/30/21 50.61 50.61

15013 ARS Rescue  ARS Rescue Rooter 11/09/2021 Refund/ARS Rescue Rooter/Withdrew B21‐0402 149.94 149.94

15014 Fire‐ 17222024 AT&T 11/09/2021 Fire Backup Phone Line‐ 9/22/21‐10/21/21 44.27 44.27

15015 Dec 2021 California Dental Network Inc 11/09/2021 California Dental Insurance ‐Dec21 214.79 214.79

15016 21102702 California Municipal Statistics, Inc. 11/09/2021 Direct & Overlapping Debt Statement FY21 500.00 500.00

15017 0000015866 City of El Cajon 11/09/2021 HFTA Assessments ‐ QTR 2 FY21/22 4,306.00 4,306.00

15018 23808 City of La Mesa 11/09/2021 Overtime Reimbursement ‐ Sergent 10/8/21 1,557.10 2,883.77

23808 Overtime Reimbursement ‐ Granger 10/10/21 1,326.67

15019 1000315794 City of San Diego 11/09/2021 Municipal Sewer Transportation‐ FY22 Q1 7/1/21‐9/30/21 9,022.17 9,022.17

15020 22CTOFLGN04 County of San Diego‐ RCS 11/09/2021 800 MHZ Network ‐ Oct21 2,251.50 2,251.50

15021 11022120560 DAR Contractors 11/09/2021 Animal Disposal‐ Oct'21 162.00 162.00

15022 1026219905 Domestic Uniform Rental 11/09/2021 Shop Towels & Safety Mats 10/26/21 37.25 37.25

15023 1394 East County Transitional Living Center (ECTLC) 11/09/2021 Weed Abatement/9 Acres ‐ Mt. Vernon & Lawson St 5,000.00 5,000.00

15024 IN289007 Geotab USA, Inc. 11/09/2021 Monthly ProPlus Plan 197.50 197.50

15025 5189 Harmony Environmental Services, Inc 11/09/2021 Hazmat Cleanup/New Jersey & San Miguel/SD Unit Unavail 10/22/21 423.40 423.40

15026 HS‐5607‐0010 Home Start, Inc. 11/09/2021 LG Homeless Outreach ‐ Sep'21 3,706.56 3,706.56

15027 Hooper Hooper, David & Yoryana 11/09/2021 Refund/Hooper,D&Y/Diversion Deposit/B20‐0001/7220 Rosemary Ln 500.00 500.00

15028 MVPR 5088 Martin, Ralph 11/09/2021 Filming State of the City Address '21/Vasquez 1,500.00 750.00

MVPR 5088‐Disc Discount/Filming State of the City Address '21/Vasquez ‐750.00

15029 7682 North County EVS, Inc. 11/09/2021 E10 Service Call/Repair Coolant Leak 986.26 1,562.24

7685 E310 Service Call/Repair Fuel Leak 575.98

15030 Permit Runner Permit Runner 11/09/2021 Refund/Permit Runner/Diversion Deposit/B20‐0650/2431 VernonRanch 500.00 500.00

15031 Oct2021 Preferred Benefit Insurance Administrators 11/09/2021 Dental Insurance‐ PPO ‐Oct'21 4,110.50 8,165.40

Sep2021 Dental Insurance‐ PPO ‐Sep'21 4,054.90



15032 3568860625/1121 SDG&E 11/09/2021 Electric Usage:St Light 10/1/21‐10/31/21 1,523.17 3,748.65

4154920380/1121 Electric Usage:St Light 10/1/21‐10/31/21 2,225.48

15033 8064087159 Staples Advantage 11/09/2021 Office Supplies & Copy Paper ‐ City Hall 297.30 297.30

15034 2021‐121 Streamline Automation Systems LLC 11/09/2021 Streamline Cloud Fee/Admin Portal License/Ipad Support ‐ Fire 3,530.52 3,530.52

15035 311380‐09 Stryker Flex Financial 11/09/2021 Annual Equipment Rent Service & Maintenance Agreement ‐ FY21/22 24,203.37 35,160.00

311380‐09 Annual 360 ALS Support ‐ FY21/22 1,875.76

311783‐09R Advanced Life Support 360 Service & Maintenance Agreement ‐ FY21/22 9,080.87

15036 I211103584 Alcatraz Locksmith 11/17/2021 Replacement Automobile Key/PW Yard ‐ LGPW#24 VacCon 295.00 295.00

15037 1371‐4JP9‐GXHX Amazon Capital Services, Inc. 11/17/2021 Cases for PW Replacement Tablets 206.82 206.82

15038 5656658138 AutoZone, Inc. 11/17/2021 Cleaner/Degreaser 8.38 238.65

5656721375 Magnetic LED Pickup Tool ‐ Promenade Light Repair 10.87

5656724555 Halogen Light Bulb ‐ LGPW#22 '03 GMC 2500 11.41

5656731294 Duralast Battery ‐ LGPW#01 '12 Ford Dump Truck 165.08

5656741871 Diesel Exhaust Fluid/Glass Cleaner/High Temp Grease Tube ‐ Sanitation 42.91

15039 10368L‐IN Aztec Landscaping Inc 11/17/2021 Landscape Management ‐ One Time Cleanup ‐ Various Locations 6,979.00 8,586.05

19805L‐IN Landscaping Labor ‐ Irrigation Repairs ‐ Various Locations 980.00

19805L‐IN Material ‐ Irrigation Repairs ‐ Various Locations 627.05

15040 13588 Balestreri, Potocki & Holmes 11/17/2021 Legal Svcs: File 1019‐224 ‐ thru Sep'21 2,316.00 2,316.00

15041 Nov2021 Benefit Coordinators Corporation (BCC) 11/17/2021 Life Insurance ‐ Nov'21 558.90 1,226.61

LTD Insurance ‐ Nov'21 667.71

15042 681088 Broadway Auto Electric 11/17/2021 LGPW#T5 ‐ Repair Trailer Harness 435.43 838.00

681088 LGPW#17 ‐ Repair Connection to Distribution Panel 120.00

681097 LGPW#26 '14 Chevy ‐ Replace Battery 282.57

15043 4083 Clothing International, Inc 11/17/2021 Protective Clothing ‐ PW ‐ Work Shirts/Pants/Orange Vest 214.21 214.21

15044 49635 Colantuono, Highsmith & Whatley, PC 11/17/2021 Legal Svcs: Affordable Housing Oct'21 485.45 485.45

15045 0111809 Discount Specialty Chemical 11/17/2021 Disinfectant Wipes 278.33 278.33

15046 65399 EW Truck & Equipment Company, Inc. 11/17/2021 LGPW#32 GapVax‐ Oil Change & Filter/Air Filter/Fuel Filter 625.26 625.26

15047 PS020054042 Hawthorne Machinery Co 11/17/2021 Replacement Sweeper Brush Kits‐ CAT Skidsteer 834.16 2,314.90

SS000223680 Equip Maint ‐ Replace Sweeper Brush Kits ‐ CAT Skidsteer 1,480.74

15048 00097405 Hudson Safe‐T‐ Lite Rentals 11/17/2021 PW/No Parking Vehicles Over 3 Tons/Various Traffic Signs 963.43 963.43

15049 33978 Hunter's Nursery Inc 11/17/2021 Lodge Poles‐ PW Yard & Senior Center 159.20 159.20

15050 11/16/21 ICMA 11/17/2021 ICMA Deferred Compensation Pay Period Ending 11/16/21 780.77 780.77

15051 1710 Janazz, LLC SD 11/17/2021 IT Services‐ City Hall‐ Oct'21 2,500.00 2,500.00

15052 148457 Knott's Pest Control, Inc. 11/17/2021 Monthly Bait Stations‐ Civic Ctr ‐ Nov'21 60.00 120.00

148456 Monthly Bait Stations‐ Sheriff‐ Nov'21 60.00

15053 INV37689 Logicopy 11/17/2021 Ricoh C3502 Copier Contract Charge‐PW Yard‐11/7/21‐12/6/21 51.58 51.58

15054 5207943 Mallory Safety and Supply, LLC 11/17/2021 Black Rubber Boots 25.32 240.82

5215845 Nitrile Gloves 215.50

15055 10766 MCD Tire 11/17/2021 LGPW#29 '06 Peterbilt ‐ 2 Tires & Installation 1,066.55 1,066.55

15056 Mendenhall Mendenhall, Lewis 11/17/2021 Reimb‐ Class B License & Testing ‐ Mendenhall 83.00 83.00

15057 154301PS Pacific Sweeping 11/17/2021 Street Sweeping/Main St ‐ Bulk Item Fall Event 10/16/21 360.00 360.00

15058 175997 Penske Ford 11/17/2021 LGPW#31 '14 Ford Escape‐ Repair Coolant Leak 1,421.08 1,421.08

15059 PD‐48818 Plumbers Depot Inc 11/17/2021 Sewer Camera‐ Replace Mini Keyboard ‐ LGPW#26 149.99 149.99

15060 32432600 RCP Block & Brick, Inc. 11/17/2021 Bulk Concrete Sand 199.46 199.46

15061 182 RXR Plumbing, Inc. 11/17/2021 Plumbing Repair ‐ Community Center 10/22/21 510.00 850.00

183 Plumbing Repair ‐ Community Center 10/25/21 340.00

15062 0000013208 San Diego Stormwater Solutions, Inc 11/17/2021 BMP Maint Svc ‐ Stormdrain Filter Insert Cleanings/Fed Blvd 960.00 1,296.00

0000013210 BMP Maint Svc ‐ Stormdrain Filter Insert Cleanings/Olive & North 336.00

15063 Oct21 SDG&E 11/17/2021 Gas & Electric 9/22/21‐10/21/21 24,834.16 24,834.16

15064 4536 Spring Valley Lawn Mower Shop 11/17/2021 Air Filter 17.78 17.78

15065 543890 State of California‐ Department of Justice 11/17/2021 Fingerprint Apps ‐ Iriarte 32.00 32.00

15066 118843492‐0001 Sunbelt Rentals Inc. 11/17/2021 Propane 10.56 10.56

15067 238943 Superior Ready Mix Concrete LP 11/17/2021 Asphalt: ‐ 2873 Skyline/PW Yard 204.51 204.51



15068 11‐1543347 Vortex Industries, Inc. 11/17/2021 Repair Bay Door ‐ Fire Station 2,647.80 2,647.80

15069 73099729 Vulcan Materials Company 11/17/2021 Asphalt/SS1H 4.5 Gallon Bucket 159.28 637.26

73104869 Asphalt 477.98

15070 80396639 Waxie Sanitary Supply 11/17/2021 Janitorial Supplies 438.19 1,194.69

80403590 Janitorial Supplies 756.50

15071 177936 West Coast Arborists, Inc. 11/17/2021 Tree Maintenance ‐ 9/16/21‐9/30/21 17,586.40 17,586.40

15072 1HHW‐9NV7‐44NH Amazon Capital Services, Inc. 11/23/2021 American Flag ‐ Fire 52.26 52.26

15073 11/12/2021 AT&T 11/23/2021 Phone Service 10/13/21‐11/12/21 91.04 91.04

15074 Jul‐Sep 21 California Building Standards Commission 11/23/2021 BSA Fees: Jul‐Sep'21 260.10 260.10

15075 2021.3397 Chen Ryan 11/23/2021 Prof Svc: Connect Main St Ph 1‐2 thru 7/3/21 19,509.25 24,302.25

2021.3462 Prof Svc: Connect Main St Ph 1‐2 thru 7/31/21 2,720.00

2021.3611 Prof Svc: Connect Main St Ph 1‐2 thru 10/2/21 2,073.00

15076 Dec 3 21 Climb‐It 11/23/2021 Bonfire ‐ Rock Climbing Wall 4:30 ‐ 8:30 pm 12/3/21 785.00 785.00

15077 HIRT‐2022‐011 County of San Diego‐ OES 11/23/2021 FY21‐22 (7/1/21‐6/30/22) HIRT Membership Fee 23,508.00 24,236.00

UDC‐2022‐010 FY21‐22 Unified SD County‐ Emergency Svc Membership Fee 728.00

15078 Jul‐Sep21 Department of Conservation 11/23/2021 Qtrly SMIP Fees ‐ Jul‐Sep'21 1,248.02 1,248.02

15079 307 Diviana's Party Rentals 11/23/2021 Tables/Chairs/Stage/Dance floor/Canopy/Generator‐Bonfire 12/3/21 1,465.00 1,465.00

15080 1109219905 Domestic Uniform Rental 11/23/2021 Shop Towels & Safety Mats 11/9/21 37.00 37.00

15081 10/11/21‐10/14/21 Esgil Corporation 11/23/2021 75% Building Fees‐ 10/11/21‐10/14/21 7,466.25 61,510.59

10/18/21‐10/21/21 75% Building Fees‐ 10/18/21‐10/21/21 4,299.95

10/25/21‐10/28/21 75% Building Fees‐ 10/25/21‐10/28/21 7,324.64

10/4/21‐10/7/21 75% Building Fees‐ 10/4/21‐10/7/21 9,025.51

6/14/21‐6/17/21 75% Building Fees‐ 6/14/21‐6/17/21 3,962.35

7/12/21‐7/15/21 75% Building Fees‐ 7/12/21‐7/15/21 4,637.35

7/19/21‐7/22/21 75% Building Fees‐ 7/19/21‐7/22/21 5,592.50

7/26/21‐7/29/21 75% Building Fees‐ 7/26/21‐7/29/21 5,084.63

8/2/21‐8/5/21 75% Building Fees‐ 8/2/21‐8/5/21 8,252.51

8/23/21‐8/26/21 75% Building Fees‐ 8/23/21‐8/26/21 5,864.90

15082 INV1020832 George Hills Company 11/23/2021 TPA Claims‐ Adjusting/Other Services ‐ Oct'21 270.00 270.00

15083 65017 Horrocks Engineers Inc 11/23/2021 Prof Eng Svcs: FY19/20 Sewer Rehab Proj thru 10/31/21 1,721.00 1,721.00

15084 2011 Jerrys Photo Booth 11/23/2021 Bonfire ‐ Photo Booth 12/3/21 550.00 550.00

15085 60 Maistrenko, Ekaterina 11/23/2021 Facepainting ‐ Bonfire 12/3/21 430.00 430.00

15086 Reimb 11/8/21 Ortiz, Phillip 11/23/2021 Reimb: Firefighter Driver/Operator Class 134.40 134.40

15087 Rogoway Rogoway,Jeffrey 11/23/2021 Refund/Rogoway, Jeffrey/Diversion Dep‐ 2525 Corona St/B21‐0179 351.19 351.19

15088 233 ROM, LLC. 11/23/2021 Live Band for Bonfire 12/3/21 2,500.00 2,500.00

15089 AR‐S263138 Signa Digital Solutions 11/23/2021 Plotter Svc: Print Head for Plotter 611.12 611.12

15090 SC‐128645 State Water Resources Control Board 11/23/2021 Oversight Costs‐ LGA Realignment Site Cleanup 4/1/21‐6/30/21 447.01 447.01

15091 Tatum Tatum, Maureen 11/23/2021 Refund/Tatum, Maureen/Diversion Dep‐8013 Longdale Dr/B20‐0377 296.30 296.30

15092 8/30/21‐8/31/21 Esgil Corporation 11/23/2021 75% Building Fees‐ 8/30/21‐8/31/21 2,349.16 19,642.15

8/9/21‐8/12/21 75% Building Fees‐ 8/9/21‐8/12/21 7,043.27

9/1/21‐9/2/21 75% Building Fees‐ 9/1/21‐9/2/21 2,447.54

9/20/21‐9/23/21 75% Building Fees‐ 9/20/21‐9/23/21 7,802.18

448,282.12 448,282.12



CITY OF LEMON GROVE  

  
CITY COUNCIL   

STAFF REPORT  
 

Item No.    1.C 

Meeting Date: December 7, 2021 

Submitted to: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 

Department:   City Manager’s Office 

Staff Contact:  Audrey Malone, City Clerk  

   amalone@lemongrove.ca.gov 

Item Title:   Approval of City Council Meeting Minutes  
 

  
Recommended Action:  Approval of City Council Meeting Minutes, meetings of 
October 25, 2021, November 6, 2021 and November 23, 2021. 
  
Environmental Review:  

 Not subject to review   Negative Declaration  

 Categorical Exemption, Section        Mitigated Negative Declaration  

  
Fiscal Impact: None.  
  
Public Notification: None.  
    

  

mailto:amalone@lemongrove.ca.gov


 
 

MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL MEETING STREET WORKSHOP-STUDY SESSION   
OF THE LEMON GROVE CITY COUNCIL 
SATURDAY, OCTOBER 23, 2021 at 9 AM 

Lemon Grove Community Center  
3146 School Lane, Lemon Grove, CA 91945 

 
The City Council also sits as the Lemon Grove Housing Authority,  

Lemon Grove Sanitation District Board, Lemon Grove Roadway Lighting District Board,  
and Lemon Grove Successor Agency. 

 
 
Call To Order: 
Mayor Vasquez called the Special City Council Meeting to order at 9:09 am.  
 
Present:  
Mayor Racquel Vasquez, Mayor Pro Tem Jerry Jones, Councilmember Jennifer Mendoza, 
Councilmember Liana LeBaron, and Councilmember George Gastil. 
 
Staff Members Present: 
Lydia Romero, City Manager, Kristen Steinke, City Attorney, Mike James, Assistant City 
Manager/Public Works Director, Noah Alvey, Community Development Manager, and Tom Bell, 
Public Works Operations/Administration Manager, Lieutenant Patrick McEvoy, Sherriff’s 
Department, Michael Stauffer, Senior Management Analyst, and Marlene Torres, Community 
Services Assistant. 
 
Pledge of Allegiance:  
Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag was led by Councilmember LeBaron. 
 
Study Session: 
Community Workshop Discussion Item - Pavement Management Program, The 
Worst Streets in the City and What are Complete Streets 
 
Council Discussion facilitated by Mike James, Assistant City Manager/Public Works Director 
regarding Study Session above.  
 
Public Comment: 
Written Submission: Denise and Robert Saenz, Clarence, Malory and Robert Rico, Nea, 
Ginger Baker, Paula Gannou, Luis, Rasheda, Dalia, Rebeka Samayoa, Paolo Sanchez, Gina, 
Jones, Stephen Cadeira, Coral Bowen, Jamie Macomber, Israel Lopez, Miguel Nava, Oleta 
Hamby, Steven Chhuon, Donalynn Purification, Alex, McMullen, Becky Runyan. 
 
Live Comments: Larry Crano, Wayne Buttron, Rosie Galford, Marie Venable, DW Donahoo, 
Sandra Goheen, Loreen and Erik Madsen, Brenda Keliinoi, Lianne Lish, Alana Snyder, John 
Wood.  

 
Adjournment:   
There being no further business to come before the Council, Mayor Vasquez adjourns meeting 
at 12:30 p.m. to the next Regular City Council Meeting on Tuesday, November 2, 2021. 

 
     

Audrey Malone 
Deputy City Clerk 
  



 
 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING  
OF THE LEMON GROVE CITY COUNCIL 
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 16, 2021 at 6 PM 

Lemon Grove Community Center  
3146 School Lane, Lemon Grove, CA 91945 

 
The City Council also sits as the Lemon Grove Housing Authority,  

Lemon Grove Sanitation District Board, Lemon Grove Roadway Lighting District Board,  
and Lemon Grove Successor Agency. 

 
 
Call To Order: 
Mayor Vasquez called the Regular City Council Meeting to order at 6:04 p.m. 
 
Present:  
Mayor Racquel Vasquez, Mayor Pro Tem Jerry Jones, Councilmember Jennifer Mendoza, 
Councilmember Liana LeBaron, and Councilmember George Gastil.  
 
Staff Members Present: 
Lydia Romero, City Manager, Kristen Steinke, City Attorney, Noah Alvey, Community 
Development Manager, Steve Swaney, Fire Chief, Patrick McEvoy, Lieutenant, and Audrey 
Malone, Deputy City Clerk. 
 
Pledge of Allegiance:  
Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag was led by Mayor Pro Tem Jones. 
 
Changes to the Agenda:  
Councilmember LeBaron request to pull Item 1.D Award a Contract for Guardrail Repairs from 
the Consent Calendar. Motion by Councilmember LeBaron to pull Item 1.D with no second, 
motion fails.  
 
No changes to the agenda.  
 
Public Comment: 
Email Submitted:  

• Judi Strang  
• Kathleen Lipitt 

 
Live Comments:  

• John Wood 
• Penny Martinez 
• Jessyka Heredia  
• Gustavo Lopez 

 
Consent Calendar:  
1.A Waive Full Text Reading of All Ordinances on the Agenda 
1.B City of Lemon Grove Payment Demands 
1.C Approval of City Council Meeting Minutes  
1.D Award a Contract for Guardrail Repairs (Contract No. 2021-26) 
 
Action: Motion by Councilmember Gastil and seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Jones, to approve 
the Consent Calendar. 

 The motion passed by the following vote: 
   Ayes: Vasquez, Jones, Mendoza, Gastil. 
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   Noes: LeBaron. 
   Absent: None.  

 
Reports to Council:  
2. State Mandated Organic Waste Disposal Ordinance  
 
Mayor Vasquez calls on Lydia Romero, City Manager to present staff report. Ms. Romero 
introduces Kristen Steinke, City Attorney to provide details of report.  

Public Comment: 
Email Submitted: None.  
Live Comments:  

• Shelley Leyna 
 

Council provides questions/comments of staff and EDCO Representative.  

Action: Motion by Mayor Pro Tem Jones seconded by Councilmember Gastil, to introduce the 
first reading of Ordinance 459 “An Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Lemon Grove, 
California amending Chapter 13.28 of the Lemon Grove Municipal Code to comply with State 
mandated organic waste disposal requirements.” 

 The motion passed by the following vote: 
   Ayes: Vasquez, Jones, Mendoza, LeBaron, Gastil. 
   Noes: None. 
   Absent: None. 

 

3. Call for Applications for the Community Advisory Commission  
 
Mayor Vasquez calls on Lydia Romero, City Manager to present staff report.  
 
Public Comment: 
Email Submitted: None.  
Live Comments:  

• Shelley Leyna 
 

Mayor Vasquez calls for a recess at 7:23 pm during live public comment.  

Mayor Vasquez reconvenes meeting at 7:36 pm.  

Council provides questions/comments of staff. 

Action: Motion by Mayor Pro Tem Jones seconded by Councilmember Gastil to adopt a 
resolution, establishing a recruitment process for the three permanent and the undetermined 
number of ad-hoc members of the Community Advisory Commission.  

  The motion passed by the following vote: 
   Ayes: Vasquez, Jones, Mendoza, LeBaron, Gastil. 
   Noes: None. 
   Absent: None. 
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City Council Reports on Meetings Attended at the Expense of the City 

 
Councilmember Gastil 

• No report.  
 
Councilmember LeBaron 

• Business Improvement District Meeting (BID) 
• Provides formal letter of complaint to Council and Deputy City Clerk and request 

that it be recorded as part of the meetings records.  
 
Councilmember Mendoza 

• League of California Cities luncheon 
• Lemon Grove Clergy Meeting 
• SANDAG Transportation Board Meeting 

 
Mayor Pro Tem Jones 

• Metro JPA Wastewater Commission Meeting  
• IROC (Independent Rate and Oversight Committee) Meetings  
• Metro Finance Meeting 

 
Mayor Vasquez 

• SANDAG Board of Director’s Special Meeting  
• SANDAG Executive Committee Meeting  
• Lemon Grove’s Lion’s Club private viewing  
• East County Mayor Meeting  

 
City Manager Report:  
Lydia Romero, City Manager  

• Lemon Grove Annual Bonfire December 3, 2021 at 4:30pm 
• Now accepting applications for Turkey Camp and Winter Camp  

 
Adjournment:   
There being no further business to come before the Council, Mayor Vasquez adjourns meeting 
at 8:08 p.m. to the next Regular City Council Meeting on Tuesday, December 7, 2021. 

 

     
Audrey Malone 
Deputy City Clerk 
 

 

 

  



 
 

MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL MEETING  
OF THE LEMON GROVE CITY COUNCIL 
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 23, 2021 at 6 PM 

Lemon Grove Community Center  
3146 School Lane, Lemon Grove, CA 91945 

 
The City Council also sits as the Lemon Grove Housing Authority,  

Lemon Grove Sanitation District Board, Lemon Grove Roadway Lighting District Board,  
and Lemon Grove Successor Agency. 

 
 
Call To Order: 
Mayor Vasquez called the Special City Council Meeting to order at 6:01 p.m. 
 
Present:  
Mayor Racquel Vasquez, Mayor Pro Tem Jerry Jones, Councilmember Jennifer Mendoza, 
Councilmember Liana LeBaron, and Councilmember George Gastil. 
 
Staff Members Present: 
Kristen Steinke, City Attorney, Mike James, Assistant City Manager/Public Works Director, 
Audrey Malone, Deputy City Clerk. 
 
Pledge of Allegiance:  
Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag was led by Councilmember LeBaron. 
 
Public Comment: 
Email Submitted: None.  
Live Comments: None. 
 
Closed Session   

a. Conference with Legal Counsel – Anticipated Litigation Per Complaint Submitted 
Against City/Contract Employee(s) (Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(2)) 

 
Mike James, Assistant City Manager/Public Works Director, convenes meeting at 6:03 pm into 
Closed Session to discuss anticipated litigation.  
 
Councilmember LeBaron is recused from Closed Session.  
 
At 6:33 pm Mike James, Assistant City Manager/Public Works Director reconvenes meeting 
with no reportable action.  

 
Adjournment:   
There being no further business to come before the Council, Mayor Vasquez adjourns meeting 
at 6:33 pm to the next Regular City Council Meeting on Tuesday, December 7, 2021. 

 
     

Audrey Malone 
Deputy City Clerk 
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CITY OF LEMON GROVE 
 

CITY COUNCIL  
STAFF REPORT 

Item No.   1.D 

Meeting Date:  December 7, 2021 

Submitted to:  Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 

Department:   Finance 

Staff Contact:  Rodney Greek, Interim Administrative Services Director;  

  rgreek@lemongrove.ca.gov  

Item Title:  TransNet Funds Transfer 

 
Recommended Action:  Staff recommends that City Council adopt Resolution 2021-
3855 (Attachment A) approving the transfer of $22,500 of TransNet funds from LG18 
Traffic Improvements – Congestion Relief Project  (SANDAG MPO ID LG18) to LG16 
Storm Drain Rehabilitation – Congestion Relief Project (SANDAG MPO ID LG16) and the 
transfer of $22,495 of TransNet funds from LG18 Traffic Improvements – Congestion 
Relief Project  (SANDAG MPO ID LG18) to LG14 Traffic Improvements – Preventative 
Maintenance (SANDAG MPO ID LG14). 
 
Discussion: The San Diego Association of Governments (SANDAG) is required by state 
and federal laws to develop and adopt a Regional Transportation Improvement Program 
(RTIP) every two years. The RTIP is a multi-year program of proposed major highway, 
arterial, transit, and bikeway projects including the TransNet Program of Projects.  
 
The current 2018 RTIP was adopted by the SANDAG Board on September 28, 2018 and 
covers the five-year fiscal period 2018/19 through 2022/23. The RTIP includes projects 
funded by the 2004 Proposition A (TransNet Extension). 
 
This item is before the City Council to consider adoption of Resolution No. 2021-3855 
(Attachment A) to close LG18 (SANDAG MPO ID LG18) with a zero balance by 
transferring remaining funds to two currently ongoing TransNet-funded projects from 
this completed TransNet-funded Capital Improvement Project. 
 
LG18 Traffic Improvements – Congestion Relief Project (SANDAG MPO ID LG18) was 
completed and closed in FY2020-21 subsequent to the adoption of the current 5-year 
RTIP. The project has a positive balance of $44,995 in the TransNet Account. The 
proposed transfer will result in a zero remaining balance after the transfer of funds from 
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LG18 Traffic Improvements funds into the LG16 Storm Drain Rehabilitation – Congestion 
Relief Project (SANDAG MPO ID LG16) and the LG14 Traffic Improvements – 
Preventative Maintenance (SANDAG MPO ID LG14), both on-going projects annual 
funded through 2023. 
 
The Public Works Department has experienced several storm drain failures during 
inclement weather over the past three (3) years and were unfunded. The additional funds 
allocated to LG16 Storm Drain Congestion Relief (CR) will help to mitigate future failures 
within the City’s storm drain system during this year’s storm season. In addition, the 
department currently has several significant storm drain mitigation projects in the 
design/review stage to include; public work yard basin failure, various sidewalk drains, 
basin inlets and frames, and curb and gutter projects scheduled for this fiscal year to also 
include one funded and one unfunded major drainage system rehabilitation project. 
Although LG16 (CR) has an allocated amount of $87,000, staff believes the transfer of 
additional funds will help staff design and repair anticipated drainage maintenance and 
repair projects.   

Additional funding is needed for the City’s traffic signal maintenance. The City has 
experienced signaling maintenance and repair issues concerning traffic loop detection, 
battery back–up systems, and signal controller repairs. Currently staff is reviewing these 
issues and recommend funds be applied to LG14 Traffic Improvements Preventative 
Maintenance (PM). This will increase funding to meet the current growing needs within 
the City’s traffic signalized intersections. Staff will prioritize future repairs based on the 
monthly assessment reports provided by the City’s traffic signal maintenance contractor 
Southwest Signal. 
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Environmental Review: 

 Not subject to review  Negative Declaration 

 Categorical Exemption, Section        Mitigated Negative Declaration 

 
Fiscal Impact: None. 
 
Public Notification: None 
 
Staff Recommendation:   
Adopt Resolution 2021-3855 (Attachment A) approving the transfer of $22,500 of 
TransNet funds from LG18 Traffic Improvements – Congestion Relief Project  (SANDAG 
MPO ID LG18) to LG16 Storm Drain Rehabilitation – Congestion Relief Project (SANDAG 
MPO ID LG16) and the transfer of $22,495 of TransNet funds from LG18 Traffic 
Improvements – Congestion Relief Project  (SANDAG MPO ID LG18) to LG14 Traffic 
Improvements – Preventative Maintenance (SANDAG MPO ID LG14). 
 
Attachments: 
Attachment A – Resolution No. 2021- 3855
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RESOLUTION 2021-3855 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LEMON GROVE, 
CALIFORNIA, APPROVING THE TRANSFER OF TRANSNET FUNDS FROM 

A COMPLETED TRANSNET PROJECT TO OTHER ELIGIBLE TRANSNET 
PROJECTS 

 

WHEREAS, on November 4, 2004, the voters of San Diego County approved 

the San Diego Transportation Improvement Program Ordinance and Expenditure Plan 

(TransNet) extension, and the 2018 Regional Transportation Improvement Program 

(RTIP) was adopted by the SANDAG Board on September 28, 2018; and  

WHEREAS, the City of Lemon Grove has completed the previously 

programmed LG18 Traffic Improvements – Congestion Relief Project  (SANDAG MPO 

ID LG18), which has a positive balance of $44,995 on the SANDAG fiscal and 

compliance audit; and  

WHEREAS, to comply with a SANDAG fiscal and compliance audit, the funds 

from the completed TRANSNET project needs to be transferred in order to reconcile the 

positive balance.  

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of 

Lemon Grove, California:  

1. That the foregoing recitations are true and correct.  

2. That the City Council approves the transfer of $44,995 of TransNet funds from 

the LG18 Traffic Improvements – Congestion Relief Project (SANDAG MPO ID 

LG18) to LG16 Storm Drain Rehabilitation – Congestion Relief Project (SANDAG 

MPO ID LG16) and the transfer of $22,495 of TransNet funds from LG18 Traffic 

Improvements – Congestion Relief Project  (SANDAG MPO ID LG18) to LG14 

Traffic Improvements – Preventative Maintenance (SANDAG MPO ID LG14). 
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 PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Lemon Grove, State 

of California, on December 7, 2021 by the following vote: 

 AYES: 

 NOES: 

 ABSENT: 

 ABSTAIN:    

      __________________________ 

      Racquel Vasquez, Mayor 

Attest: 

 

 

__________________________ 

Audrey Malone, City Clerk  

 

Approved as to Form: 

 

 

_________________________ 
Kristen Steinke, City Attorney  

 



Appeal Application – CUP-200-0002 – 7785 Broadway 
December 7, 2021 

P a g e  | 1 

CITY OF LEMON GROVE 

CITY COUNCIL 
STAFF REPORT 

Item No.    

Meeting Date: 

Submitted to: 

Department: 

Staff Contact: 

Item Title: 

2. 

December 7, 2021 

Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 

Community Development Department 

Noah Alvey, Community Development Manager; 

nalvey@lemongrove.ca.gov 

Conditional Use Permit No. CUP-200-0002 – An appeal of 
a decision by the Planning Commission to deny a request to 
add off-sale liquor sales (Type 21 license) at an existing 
convenience market located in the Transit Mixed Use (3) 
zone of the Downtown Village Specific Plan and addressed 
as 7785 Broadway, Lemon Grove 

Recommended Action: Conduct a public hearing and adopt the resolution 
(Attachment A) upholding the Planning Commission decision to deny Conditional Use 
Permit No. CUP-200-0002. 

Summary: On October 25, 2021, the Planning Commission conducted a public hearing 
and adopted a resolution denying a request to add off-sale liquor sales (Type 21 license) 
at an existing convenience market located at 7785 Broadway. The decision by the Planning 
Commission to deny the request found that the census tract where the convenience 
market is located has an undue concentration of alcohol establishments and that the 
crime-reporting district where the convenience market is located experienced crime at 
more than double the citywide average. The appeal application indicates that the Planning 
Commission’s findings pertaining to “overconcentration and high crime” can be mitigated 
through conditions placed on the conditional use permit.  

In order to uphold the decision by the Planning Commission, the City Council must 
evaluate the concentration of alcohol establishments and the crime rate for the area near 
the subject site. It is recommended that the City Council uphold the Planning 
Commission’s decision to deny the conditional use permit because the census tract where 
the use is located has an overconcentration of off-sale alcohol licenses, other off-sale 
alcohol outlets exist nearby, and the crime rate for the area is more than double the 
citywide average.  
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Background: 7785 Broadway is an existing convenience market (market) located within 
a one story commercial shopping center located on the south side of Broadway between 
Olive and Main Streets. The market is 1,740 square feet and currently offers convenience 
items such as non-alcoholic beverages and food. The market previously sold smoking 
devices and paraphernalia, but this portion of the market was relocated to a separate 
tenant space addressed as 3358 Main Street, south of the existing market. The applicant’s 
representative confirmed that the market has been operated by Alisha and Peter Hormiz 
for more than twenty years. The site is located in the Transit Mixed Use (3) zone of the 
Downtown Village Specific Plan and a conditional use permit is required for a liquor store. 
 
Citywide Regulations for Alcoholic Beverage Sales: Title 18 of the Municipal Code 
includes citywide regulations and Chapter 18.27 includes regulations for alcoholic 
beverage sales. The purpose of this Chapter is “[t]o deal with and ameliorate problems 
and adverse conditions associated with establishments which sell, serve or give away 
alcoholic beverages by restricting the location of such uses in relation to one another, and 
their proximity to facilities primarily devoted to use by children and families and the 
general public, and through the denial of a conditional use permit or through the 
imposition of conditions on a case-by-case basis, thereby preventing undue concentration 
and undesirable community impact of such uses, and by the imposition of reasonable 
conditions upon the operation of all such uses both existing and in the future,” and “[t]o 
implement the purposes, policies, and programs of the general plan.” 

Minimum Conditions of Approval – Section 18.27.060 of the Municipal Code includes 
minimum conditions of approval including, but not limited to, the location of alcoholic 
beverage displays, signage, prohibition of “airport bottles”, single serve container 
requirements, and the age of employees. The applicant has provided a floor plan and 
written narrative confirming compliance with the minimum conditions of approval, 
and these requirements could be included as conditions of approval if the requested 
permit were to be approved. 

Separation Standards – Section 18.27.060.A.17 of the Municipal Code states, 
“Businesses engaged in the sale or distribution of alcoholic beverages for off-site 
consumption shall maintain a minimum separation of five hundred feet from any 
other business required to have a conditional use permit for the sale of alcoholic 
beverages. This subdivision shall not apply to incidental alcoholic beverage sales and 
warehouses, and distribution facilities.” Dirk’s Nite Club is located approximately 525 
ft. to the northwest and the nearest off-sale alcoholic beverage location is Sprouts 
Market, which is approximately 675 ft. to the southeast of the subject site. 

 
Concentration of Establishments – Section 18.27.050 indicates that the City Council 
should consider the concentration of establishments selling alcoholic beverages when 
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considering a conditional use permit. The subject site is located in Census Tract 
144.00, which is permitted two (2) licenses based on California Department of 
Alcoholic Beverage Control (ABC) regulations. Census Tract 144.00 currently has 10 
off-sale licenses and is therefore over concentrated. The locations of the off-sale 
licenses in Census Tract 144.00 and the associated distances from the subject site are 
as follow: 
 

Off-Sale Licenses – Census Tract 144 
Address License Type* Proximity to Subject Site 

Sprouts, 3205 Lemon Grove Ave. 20 675 ft. 
7-11, 7607 Broadway  20 850 ft. 
Arco, 8001 Broadway 20 1,550 ft. 
Food 4 Less, 7420 Broadway 21 1,900 ft. 
Mobil, 8170 Broadway 20 3,050 ft. 
Grove Liquor, 7245 Broadway 21 3,275 ft. 
Rite Aid, 7224 Broadway 21 3,350 ft. 
Rock Liquor, 7161 Broadway 21 3,800 ft. 
CVS, 7100 Broadway 21 4,125 ft. 
Albertsons, 7090 Broadway 21 4,200 ft. 

*  Type 20 – Off-Sale Beer and Wine (Authorizes the sale of beer and wine for consumption off the premises where sold) 
 Type 21 – Off-Sale General (Authorizes the sale of beer, wine and distilled spirits for consumption off the premises where sold.) 

  
The list of licenses show that there are two off-sale licenses within 1,000 ft. of the 
subject site and that all 10 locations are within one mile of the subject site. 
 
Crime – Section 18.27.050 of the Municipal Code indicates that the City Council must 
also consider crime in the area and whether or not the area has experienced a greater 
than average number of reported crimes and arrests. Business and Professions Code 
Section 23958.4 uses the average number of offences for all districts within the City 
and specifies a threshold of 20% greater than the average for the City as a threshold. 
The average number of offenses in the City per district for 2020 was 190.3 and 120% 
of the average is 228.4 offenses. The crime reporting district for the subject site 
experienced 467 offenses in 2020, which is more than double the citywide average and 
exceeds the 120% threshold. 
 
Impacts – Section 18.27.010 of the Municipal Code indicates the necessity of 
appropriate regulations because without them, “the sale, service and use of alcoholic 
beverages may adversely and seriously affect the peace, health, safety and welfare of 
residents of the community and may specifically affect the safety of children and of 
visitors to the city, may contribute to the deterioration of neighborhoods, cause 
devaluation of property, erode community values and lower the quality of life.”  It also 
states: “the sale and use of alcoholic beverages contributes to problems encountered 
by residents, businesses, property owners, visitors and workers of the city of Lemon 
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Grove. Documented problems include: (1) debilitating and life-threatening medical 
conditions such as those related to the dysfunction of the heart and circulatory system, 
stroke and diseases of the liver; (2) social problems such as child and family neglect 
and abuse, public drunkenness, and lost productivity; (3) public safety issues relating 
to drunk driving and related automobile traffic and pedestrian accidents, violence and 
crime.”  And “relatively high densities of alcohol outlets are associated with relatively 
higher rates of related medical disorders, relatively higher rates of social problems and 
alcohol-related traffic casualties.” 

 
General Plan: The Health and Wellness Element of the General Plan identifies “a high 
concentration of alcohol and tobacco sales establishments within the Broadway 
commercial corridor, but a low concentration in the remaining areas of the City.” 
Objective 2.2 of the Health and Wellness Element is “a diverse flourishing economy that 
promotes public health.” The addition of another off-sale alcohol outlet will increase 
access to alcohol. The General Plan Health and Wellness Element also indicates, 
“excessive alcohol use is associated with numerous health problems, including numerous 
chronic diseases…” 
 

Downtown Village Specific Plan: The subject site is located in the Transit Mixed Use 
(3) zone of the Downtown Village Specific Plan. The zone is intended to provide for a mix 
of retail, commercial, and residential development that take advantage of the convenient 
access to nearby bus and trolley services. Since regulations for off-sale alcohol are not 
included in the zone, citywide Municipal Code regulations for alcohol sales apply. 
 

Planning Commission Hearing: During the October 25, 2021 Planning Commission 
hearing 12 speakers spoke in support and one speaker spoke in opposition. The Planning 
Commission adopted resolution denying the conditional use permit with a vote of four in 
support of the resolution of denial and one opposed (Commissioner Browne).  
 

Environmental Review: 

 Not subject to review  Negative Declaration 

 Categorical Exemption, Sections 15301  Mitigated Negative Declaration 
 

The project as proposed is categorically exempt from the environmental review 
requirements of the CEQA per Sections 15301 of the CEQA Guidelines. The Class 1, 
Section 15301 Existing Facilities exemption consists of the operation, repair, 
maintenance, permitting, leasing, licensing, or minor alteration of existing public or 
private structures, facilities, mechanical equipment, or topographical features, involving 
negligible or no expansion of use. The CUP application seeks authorization to operate an 
existing structure in an urbanized area as an off-sale alcohol outlet and involves no 
expansion of the existing structure. A denial of the proposed project is exempt from CEQA 
Guidelines, Section 15270. 
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Public Notification: On November 19, 2021, the Notice of Public Hearing for this item 
was published in the East County Californian and on November 26, 2021 notice was 
mailed to all property owners within 1,000 feet of the subject property. The presence of 
the required on-site public notice sign was also reconfirmed on December 1, 2021. The 
City of Lemon Grove did not receive any comments in response to the Notice of Public 
Hearing. The applicant provided four letters of support (Attachment G) for the request 
and 72 signatures in support (Attachment H) prior to the Planning Commission hearing.  
Staff will provide the City Council with any comments received after publication of the 
staff report.  
 
Staff Recommendation: Conduct a public hearing and adopt the resolution 
(Attachment A) upholding the Planning Commission decision to deny Conditional Use 
Permit No. CUP-200-0002. 
 
 
Attachments:   
Attachment A – Draft Resolution 
Attachment B – Crime Data Beat Map 
Attachment C – Business Narrative 
Attachment D – Business Photographs  
Attachment E – Site Plan 
Attachment F – Floor Plan 
Attachment G – Letters of Support 
Attachment H – Support Signatures 
Attachment I – LEAD Training Certificate 
Attachment J – Planning Commission Resolution 
Attachment K – Alcohol Offenses Map 
Attachment L – Appeal Application 
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 ATTACHMENT A 
RESOLUTION NO. ______ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LEMON GROVE, 
CALIFORNIA, UPHOLDING THE PLANNING COMMISSION DECISION TO 
DENY CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT CUP-200-0002, A REQUEST TO ADD 

OFF-SALE LIQUOR SALES (TYPE 21 LICENSE) AT AN EXISTING 
CONVENIENCE MARKET LOCATED IN THE TRANSIT MIXED USE (3) 

ZONE OF THE DOWNTOWN VILLAGE SPECIFIC PLAN AND ADDRESSED 
AS 7785 BROADWAY, LEMON GROVE 

WHEREAS, on December 20, 2020, Peter and Alisha Hormiz, submitted a 

request for a Conditional Use Permit to add off-sale liquor sales (Type 21 license) to an 

existing convenience market addresses as 7785 Broadway, Lemon Grove, and on 

August 26, 2021, Community Development Department staff found the application to be 

complete; and 

WHEREAS, LGMC Sections 17.28.050(C) and 18.27.050 set forth the findings of 

fact that must be found to grant a Conditional Use Permit for an off-sale alcohol sales 

(Type 21) license at 7785 Broadway; and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission held a duly advertised public hearing on 

October 25, 2021 to consider CUP-200-0002; and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission determined that not all of the findings of 

fact required by LGMC Sections 17.28.050(C) and 18.27.050 to grant a Conditional Use 

Permit for an off-sale alcohol sales (Type 21) license at 7785 Broadway could be made 

in the affirmative; and 

WHEREAS, on October 25, 2021 the Planning Commission adopted a resolution 

denying CUP-200-0002; and 

WHEREAS, on November 4, 2021, the applicant submitted an appeal 

application and request for a public hearing; and 

WHEREAS, Notice of the Public Hearing was given in compliance with Lemon 

Grove Municipal Code (LGMC) Section 17.28.020(F). The Notice of the Public Hearing 

notice was published in the November 19, 2021 edition of the East County Californian 

and was mailed to all property owners within 1,000 feet of the subject property on 
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November 26, 2021. The presence of the required on-site public notice sign was also 

reconfirmed on December 1, 2021; and 

WHEREAS, LGMC Sections 17.28.050(C) and 18.27.050 set forth the findings of 

fact that must be found to grant a Conditional Use Permit for an off-sale alcohol sales 

(Type 21) license at 7785 Broadway; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council held a duly advertised public hearing on 

December 7, 2021 to consider the appeal of the Planning Commission denial of CUP-

200-0002; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council determined that not all of the findings of fact 

required by LGMC Sections 17.28.050(C) and 18.27.050 to grant a Conditional Use 

Permit for an off-sale alcohol sales (Type 21) license at 7785 Broadway could be made 

in the affirmative. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, INCORPORATING THE ABOVE STATEMENTS 

HEREIN, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Lemon Grove, 

California, hereby upholds the Planning Commission decision to deny Conditional Use 

Permit CUP-200-0002, a request to add an off-sale liquor sales (Type 21) license to an 

existing convenience market addresses as 7785 Broadway, Lemon Grove, based on the 

following findings: 

1.  The City Council hereby determines that the findings of fact required by LGMC 

Section 18.27.050 are made as follows:  

A. Whether the proposed use will result in an undue concentration of establishments 

selling alcoholic beverages as defined by the state Alcoholic Beverage Control 

Department (ABC) or by city ordinance, resolution, or policy. 

The proposed use is located within Census Tract 144.00, which based on 

population would allow two off-sale licenses. Census Tract 144.00 currently has 

10 off-sale licenses within one mile of the subject site, of which two are located 

within 1,000 ft. and easily accessible by pedestrians and automobiles. The 

proposed use would therefore result in an undue concentration of establishments 

selling alcoholic beverages. 
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C. Whether the proposed use will be located in an area which, based on the most 

recent yearly compilation by the San Diego County sheriff’s department or other 

appropriate law enforcement agency, has experienced a greater than average 

number of reported crimes and arrests, including those reported as alcohol-

related, as well as, criminal homicide, forcible rape, robbery, aggravated assault, 

burglary, larceny, theft, motor vehicle theft combined with all arrests for other 

crimes, felonies and misdemeanors, except traffic citations. 

Business and Professions Code Section 23958.4 uses the average number of 

offences for all districts within the City and specifies a threshold of 20% greater 

than the average for the City as a threshold. The average number of offenses in 

the City per district for 2020 was 190.3 and 120% of the average is 228.4. The 

crime reporting district for the subject site experienced 467 offenses in 2020, 

which is more than double the citywide average and exceeds the 120% threshold. 

2.  The City Council declines to address the remaining findings identified in LGMC 

17.28.050(C)(1-4) and 18.27.050(B) because the findings in LGMC 18.27.050(A) and 

(C) could not be made, which has the result of requiring a denial of the requested 

Conditional Use Permit; and  

3.  Denial of the project is statutorily exempt from the California Environmental Quality 

Act (CEQA) pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15270. 
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PASSED AND ADOPTED on December 7, 2021, the City Council of the City of 

Lemon Grove, California, adopted Resolution No. ______, by the following vote: 

 

 AYES: 

 NOES: 

 ABSENT: 

 ABSTAIN: 

       

      __________________________ 

      Racquel Vasquez, Mayor 

Attest: 

 

 

__________________________ 

Audrey Malone, City Clerk  

 

Approved as to Form: 

 

 

_________________________ 
 
Kristen Steinke, City Attorney 
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ATTACHMENT B 
Crime Data Beat Map 
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ATTACHMENT C 
Business Narrative 
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ATTACHMENT D 
Business Photographs 
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ATTACHMENT E 
Site Plan 
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ATTACHMENT F 
Floor Plan 

 
 
 
 



 
 Appeal Application – CUP-200-0002 – 7785 Broadway 

 December 7, 2021 
P a g e  | 18 

 

ATTACHMENT G 
Letters of Support 
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ATTACHMENT H 
Support Signatures 
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ATTACHMENT I 
Lead Training Certificate 
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ATTACHMENT J 
Planning Commission Resolution 
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ATTACHMENT K 
Alcohol Offenses Map 
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Appeal Application 
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CITY OF LEMON GROVE 
 

CITY COUNCIL  
STAFF REPORT 

Item No.   3. 

Meeting Date:  December 7, 2021 

Submitted to:  Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 

Department:   Finance 

Staff Contact:  Rodney Greek, Interim Administrative Services Director; 

  rgreek@lemongrove.ca.gov  

Item Title:  Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) for the 

 Fiscal Year  Ended June 30, 2021 

 
Recommended Action:  Receive, review, and file the Annual Comprehensive Financial 
Report (ACFR) for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021 (Attachment A). 
 

Summary: The City contracted with Van Lant & Fankhanel, LLP to complete the Fiscal 
Year 2020-2021 (FY 20-21) independent audit. The audit has been completed and staff 
presents the ACFR for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2021 (Attachment A). Mr. Greg 
Fankhanel, Partner at the audit firm, will be available at the City Council meeting to 
discuss the audit process and internal control report. 
 
  

Discussion: The Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) communicates the 
City’s financial condition and activity for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2021. The 
independent auditor’s opinion provides the assurance that the Financial Report presents 
fairly the City’s financial position for the fiscal year. In past years the City presented only 
the audited financials to the City Council.  It has been a long term goal of the City Council 
to have an ACFR which provides additional information beyond just the audited 
financials.  
 
Included with the Financial Statements are three additional documents from the auditors. 
First, is the Appropriations Limit Report (Attachment B), which reviews the City’s 
adopted fiscal year 2020-2021 Appropriation Limit (or Gann Limit) for compliance with 
Section 1.5 of Article XIIIB of the California Constitution. The audit found the FY 20-21 
adopted Appropriation Limit had no exceptions based on the revisions made in January 
2021. 
 

mailto:rgreek@lemongrove.ca.gov
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The second document (Attachment C) is a letter from the auditors that is dictated by 
government auditing standards, the Auditor’s Communication with Those Charged with 
Governance. The purpose of this letter is to allow the auditor to communicate directly 
with the City Council on the scope of the audit procedures performed, qualitative aspects 
of the City’s accounting practices, significant difficulties encountered during the audit, 
and any other matters that are not communicated in the audited financial statements.  
 
The final document is the Internal Control Report (Attachment D). This report reviews 
the audit’s findings of deficiencies in internal control that may impact the accuracy of the 
City’s financial statements. This year there were no internal control report comments. In 
FY17-18 there were six comments, in FY18-19 there were three, in FY19-20 none, and in 
FY20-21 we had two. One was related to processing of permits and the other was related 
to business license processing. Over the past several years, the City has focused on 
implementing new policies and procedures to ensure the accuracy of the City’s financial 
record-keeping and that is reflected in the improved Internal Control Report findings. 
 
Financial Highlights 
For an overview of the City’s 2020-2021 ACFR, staff recommends reading the Transmittal 
Letter (page i through ix), and the Management’s Discussion and Analysis section of the 
report (page 4-15). In accordance with governmental accounting standards, the ACFR is 
focused on the year’s activity and a short comparison with the prior fiscal year. Therefore, 
it is a good tool for presenting the City’s current financial position and short-term activity, 
but not a good indicator of the City’s long-term financial trends.  
 
That being said, the ACFR includes a Statistical Section beginning on page 89. The 
Statistical Section is made up of tables with year over year data to provide context for 
understanding how the information in the financial statements, notes disclosures and 
supplementary information reflects on the City’s overall financial health. Staff believes 
our ACFR is now complete and will be submitted to the Government Finance Officers 
Association (GFOA) for the Certificate of Financial Achievement Award Program. 
 
Government-wide 
The first and second financial statements in the report (starting on page 18), the 
government-wide statements, presents the financial activity for the entire City regardless 
of fund. The following data points are financial highlights from the government-wide 
statements. 
 
As of June 30, 2021, the City’s total assets exceeded its liabilities by $92.3 million (net 
position). Total net position increased by 6.6 percent from the prior year, due to increases 
in both governmental-type and business-type activity assets. $49.9 million, or 54%, of the 
total net position is invested in capital assets, such as land, buildings, infrastructure, and 
equipment. 
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The City has total long-term liabilities outstanding of $13.9 million. The majority of this 
amount, $9.1 million, is net pension liability. The City’s long-term liabilities decreased by 
about $131,000 between fiscal year 2019-2020 and fiscal year 2020-2021, mainly due to 
increases in net pension liability netted against decreases in Claims and a Capital Lease. 
 
The City’s government-wide revenue was $29.2 million, surpassing $23.5 million in 
expenses. As of June 30, 2021 the City’s total cash and investments totaled $43.9 million, 
while capital assets were valued at $49.9 million net of depreciation. Capital assets 
decreased $1.1 million from the prior year, meaning the City is not investing in capital 
assets at a pace that matches or exceeds the rate of depreciation.  
 
General Fund 
The General Fund unrestricted fund balance was $9.3 million, or approximately 60.1 
percent of total General Fund expenditures. Actual General Fund revenue of $18.9 million 
exceed expenditures and transfers out of $15.5 million, resulting in a net surplus of $3.4 
million.   
 
Avoiding a General Fund deficit and having a sizable surplus at the end of fiscal year 
2020-2021 (FY 20-21) may seem surprising after the discussion on the City’s structural 
deficit issue and the economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. The following detail 
breakdowns the causes of the surplus. 
 
The following table shows the General Fund Budget, including adjustments made 
throughout the year, versus actuals for FY 20-21, summarized from page 55 of the ACFR. 
The adopted budget anticipated a deficit of $354,756 and instead we ended with a surplus 
of $3,415,282 because we received $3.2 million of revenue over budget and expenditures 
came in under budget by $592 thousand. 
 

FY20-21 General Fund 
  

  Budget Actual Difference 
Revenue 15,717,660  18,896,186  3,178,526  
Exp & Transfers 16,072,416  15,480,904  591,512 
Surplus/(Deficit) (354,756) 3,415,282  3,770,038 

 
$1 million of the revenue surplus is from a one-time payment from a court settlement. 
Approximately $1.1 million of the revenue surplus represents higher than anticipated 
sales tax revenues.  This is mainly due to an increase in online sales and is reflected in the 
County pool allocation to municipalities. 
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On the expenditure side, most of the budget savings of $591 thousand can be attributed 
to overall city savings, however the largest savings can be contributed to the  public works 
department. This is due to managing expenditures during COVID and a delay in some 
project work. Following best practices, our budget uses conservative forecasts and 
therefore is expected to end slightly under budget to avoid spending more than 
authorized. 
 
Conclusion 
The City continued to improve our internal control procedures to reduce the risk of fraud 
or misstatements on the financial reports. While assets exceed liabilities, long-term 
liability grew slightly due to pension obligations. The General Fund avoided a deficit 
through the receipt of one-time funds, sales tax revenues and extreme cost cutting city 
wide.  

Environmental Review: 

 Not subject to review  Negative Declaration 

 Categorical Exemption, Section        Mitigated Negative Declaration 

 
Fiscal Impact:  
The audited unrestricted fund balance will be incorporated into the next General Fund 
budget update for FY2021-22. 
 
Public Notification: None 
 
Attachments: 
Attachment A – Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended 
   June 30, 2021 
Attachment B –  Appropriations Limit Report 
Attachment C –  Auditor’s Communication with Those Charged with Governance 
Attachment D –  Internal Control Report 
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To the Honorable Mayor, Members of the City Council, and Residents of Lemon Grove:  
  
It is with great pleasure that we present to you the City of Lemon Grove (City) Annual Comprehensive 
Financial Report (ACFR) for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2021.  
  
This year’s report was prepared by the City’s Finance Department in conformity with Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) and has been audited in accordance with Generally Accepted 
Auditing Standards (GAAS) and Government Auditing Standards by a firm of licensed Certified Public 
Accountants. The report consists of management representations concerning the finances of the City. 
Consequently, responsibility for both the accuracy of the data and the completeness and fairness of the 
presentation, including all disclosures, rests with the City. To the best of our knowledge and belief, the 
enclosed information is accurate in all material respects and is reported in a manner designed to present 
fairly the financial position of the City. All disclosures necessary to enable an understanding of the 
City’s financial activities have been included.  
  
The CAFR includes the financial activity for all funds of the City. The City provides a wide range of 
services including planning; public works; engineering; maintenance of streets, parks and public 
facilities; community services and recreation; fire; sanitation; and general administrative activities. 
Contracted services include engineering services with Rick Engineering, law enforcement with the San 
Diego County Sheriff and animal control with the City of Chula Vista.  
  
Internal Controls  
  
The management of the City is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal control 
structure designed to ensure that the assets of the government are protected from loss, theft, or misuse, 
and to ensure that adequate accounting data is compiled to allow for the preparation of financial 
statements in conformity with GAAP. The internal control structure is designed to provide reasonable, 
but not absolute, assurance that these objectives are met. The concept of reasonable assurance 
recognizes that (1) the costs of a control should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived; and (2) 
the valuation of costs and benefits requires estimates and judgments by management.  
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As a recipient of State, County, and Federal financial resources, the City also is responsible for ensuring 
that an adequate internal control structure is in place to ensure compliance with applicable laws and 
regulations related to those programs. The internal control structure is subject to periodic evaluation 
by the management of the City.  
  
  
Annual Audit  
  
Van Lant & Fankhanel, LLP, appointed by the City Council, has audited the City’s financial 
statements. The goal of the independent audit is to provide reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements of the City for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, are free of material misstatement. As 
part of the City’s annual audit, reviews are made to determine the adequacy of the internal control 
structure as well as to determine that the City has complied with applicable laws and regulations. The 
auditors make no determination as to whether the internal control structure of the City is operating 
effectively.  
  
The results of the City’s annual audit for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, provided no instances of 
material weaknesses in the internal control structure and no violations of applicable laws and 
regulations. The independent auditor concluded there was a reasonable basis for rendering an 
unmodified opinion and the City’s financial statements are fairly presented in conformity with GAAP. 
The independent auditor’s report is presented as the first component of the financial section of this 
report.  
  
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MDA)  
  
This letter of transmittal is designed to complement the Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
(MDA) and should be read in conjunction with it. The MDA provides “financial highlights” and 
interprets the financial reports by analyzing trends and by explaining changes, fluctuations, and 
variances in the financial data. In addition, the MDA is intended to disclose any known significant 
events or decisions that affect the financial condition of the City. The City’s MDA can be found 
immediately following the report of the independent auditors.  
  
Government Profile  
  
The City of Lemon Grove was incorporated on July 1, 1977, under the general laws of the State of 
California and is home to a population of 27,627 residents per the 2020 US Census.  
Included within the City’s financial statements are  two  component  units,  the  Lemon Grove  
Sanitation District  (Sanitation District)  and  the  Lemon  Grove  Lighting  District  (Lighting  District). 
While the Sanitation District and Lighting District are legally separate agencies, their governing boards 
consists entirely of City Council members. These component units are in substance part of the primary 
government's operations and are included as part of the primary government.  
  
Services provided by the City of Lemon Grove General Fund include Public Safety services comprised 
of Law Enforcement and Fire, Community Services which provides parks and facilities for public use, 
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Day Camp programs and special events, Community Development, Engineering and Public Works.  
Public Works provides services to the Sanitation Department as well as capital infrastructure project 
improvements for the City.   
  
  
The City of Lemon Grove is an inland community in San Diego County encompassing approximately 
3.9 square miles and is located approximately nine miles east of the City of San Diego’s downtown 
district. It is bordered to the North by the cities of San Diego and La Mesa, the West by the City of San 
Diego, the East by Spring Valley, a community of the County of San Diego, and to the South by both 
the City of San Diego and Spring Valley.    
  
The City is a general law city that operates under the Council-Manager form of government. The City 
Council (Council) is comprised of an elected Mayor and four Council members elected at large for 
staggered four-year terms of office. The Council acts as the legislative and policy-making body of the 
City, enacting all laws and directing such actions as required providing for the general welfare of the 
community.  
  
The City Manager, appointed by the Council, serves as the Chief Executive Officer and is responsible 
to the Council for the proper administration of all City affairs and for the implementation of all policies 
established by the Council. The City Attorney is appointed by the City Council. All other department 
heads and employees are appointed by the City Manager.  
  
Lemon Grove has established a Planning Commission that is an Advisory Commission to City Council.  
The Commission consists of five members who are residents of the City.  The members are appointed 
by the City Council for a term of four years, and terms stagger so no more than two terms expire in 
any given year.  The Commission hears appeals of land use matters and recommends changes in the 
General Plan to the City Council.  
  
Budgetary Process and Controls  
  
The process of adopting a budget for the City is generally a six-month process beginning in late 
December and ending in June when the Council adopts the budget and appropriates funds necessary 
for the City to provide services to its residents.  
  
The process is all-inclusive as department directors work with the City Manager and representatives 
of the Finance Department to discuss departmental requests relative to the City’s available resources.  
  
The City’s overall objectives and goals, along with the economic outlook, serve as a platform for the 
proposed budget that is distributed to the Council for preliminary review and analysis in preparation 
of public workshops and hearings. The public workshops and hearings are held to facilitate discussions 
of items contained within the proposed budget and to allow the citizenry to participate in the budget 
process.  
  
In June 2020 and 2021, the City Council approved the budgets for Fiscal Years (FY) 2020/21 and 
2021/22 respectively.  The same process was followed in developing the budgets and, as the budget is 
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amended during budget cycle, budget adjustments are brought to the City Council for review and 
approval.    
  
In addition to internal controls, the City maintains budgetary controls. The objective of these budgetary 
controls is to ensure compliance with legal provisions embodied in the annual appropriated budget 
approved by the Council. Activities of the General, Special Revenue, Sanitation District, Special 
Assessment Districts, Internal Service and Successor Agency Funds are included in the annual 
appropriated budget.  
  
Budgetary control is established at the highest level and defined by the City Council through the annual 
Appropriation Ordinance. Budgetary control is exercised at the department level for the General Fund 
and at the fund level for all other funds. In addition, the budget authorized for personnel expenditures 
(salaries and wages) for a fund or department may not be used for non-personnel expenditures. The 
City’s Administrative Services Department monitors the budget to ensure non-personnel expenditures 
are not incurred if a budget appropriation is not available.  
  
The budget is arranged by fund and department and is presented to the Council by the City Manager. 
The budget is then adopted annually by the Council prior to the beginning of the financial year and 
serves as the foundation for the City’s financial planning and control. Department Directors may make 
transfers of appropriations within their own budget units’ departments with City Manager approval. 
The City budget is reviewed and is periodically adjusted at the middle of the fiscal year and at the end 
of the fiscal year. These adjustments are approved by the Council.  
  
The City also maintains an encumbrance accounting system as one technique of accomplishing 
budgetary control. The adopted budget for Fiscal Year 2020/21 was prepared in accordance with the 
guidelines established by the National Advisory Council on State and Local Budgeting and the GFOA's 
best practices on budgeting.  
  
As demonstrated by the statements and schedules included in the financial section of this report, the 
City continues to meet its responsibility for sound financial management.  
  
Economic Condition and Outlook  
  
Just a few miles east of San Diego lies the community of Lemon Grove, a diverse mix of residents who 
enjoy all the charm of small-town living with the conveniences of big city proximity. The center of 
town developed along the rail lines and included a small rail depot and the first general store, which 
also housed the post office and a school. Still known for its near-perfect climate, Lemon Grove 
residents relish the City’s diverse housing options for owners and renters, strong schools, local parks, 
and an eclectic blend of shopping and dining offerings.  
  
As a somewhat suburban community, Lemon Grove's economic base is linked primarily to the 
economy of the greater San Diego region. In particular, the greater San Diego economic base sustains 
the City’s residential and industrial facilities. The local economy is primarily based on small to medium 
sized retail establishments and specialty stores selling general merchandise, automobiles, clothing, 
food, and gasoline. Local economic generators such as building materials/supplies and automotive 
sales support a significant portion of the City’s commercial base.  
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In regards to San Diego’s local economy, the San Diego Regional Economic Development Corporation 
in its report on key economic indicators for the San Diego area shows that The region’s unemployment 
rate was 7.0 percent at the end of June 2021 down from a high of 13.5% at the same time the prior year 
due to the initial impacts of the COVID-19 shutdown. This is still about double the unemployment 
level for the San Diego region pre-COVID-19 impacts. The region’s unemployment rate remains lower 
than California’s unemployment rate of 7.9 percent, but higher than the national unemployment rate 
of 5.9 percent. Unemployment rate trends for San Diego as compared to the State of California and its 
regional neighbor’s trend as shown in the table on the following page.  
  
  
  
  
UNEMPLOYMENT TRENDS:  

   
Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics  
  
  
Year over year, the San Diego region is showing increases in employment across all industry sectors 
with the exception of Financial Activities which was down by 400 (now at 72,700) as of the end of 
June 2021. The biggest gains were in Leisure and Hospitality (up 23,400 to 156,000). The second 
largest job gains were in Professional and Business Services which increased by 11,500 jobs to 
251,200.  
  
House prices continued to climb locally in-spite of the COVID-19 pandemic. Continued low mortgage 
rates, multiple offers exceeding the asking price, and low inventory of available houses are fueling 
house price growth. The median home price in the region was up in June 2021 of this year 21 percent 
from a year prior. Meanwhile, rents are also increasing, however the year over year increase is lower 
at 8 percent growth according to RENT Café.  
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Housing prices continue to place the San Diego region as the third highest median home price chart, 
just below San Francisco and Los Angeles, as compared to the 25 most populous metropolitan areas 
in the United States.  San Diego’s median home price was $750,000 in June 2021, an increase of 
$149,500 as compared to the June 2020.   
  
Lemon Grove’s home values are up as well.  Since the 2008 recession, the City’s median home value 
has steadily risen and in June 2021 was $630,000 according to the Zillow’s Home Value index.  Over 
the past year, home values in the City have increased by 26.0 percent.   
  
According to MOVOTO, the median list price per square foot in Lemon Grove is $383.  Rental costs 
for the City follow the same pattern as the region - the average rent price increased 9 percent year over 
year in Lemon Grove to $1,561 (706 sq ft average size unit), which is lower than the San Diego Metro 
median of $2,344 for an 873 sq ft average size unit.  
  
On June 28, 2022, Governor Gavin Newsom signed a $203.6 billion budget for the 2021/22 fiscal year, 
an increase of 4.8 percent from the FY 2020/21 budget. The state budget includes a $196 billion general 
fund, a $30 billion or 18.3 percent increase, as compared to the revised FY 2020/21 budget 
appropriations. General Fund revenues are estimated at $175.3 billion for FY 2021/22, a decrease of 
7.1 percent when compared with the revised FY 2020/21 revenues.  
  
The new general fund budget allocates $65.4-billion ($67.1 billion from all sources) for K-12, and 
increases higher education to $21.2 billion.  Healthcare spending is the largest portion of the budget, 
with a total cost of $83.7 billion, $57.4 billion from the general fund and $26.3 billion from other 
sources including federal funds.    
  
The FY 2021/22 total budget projects replenishing some reserves that were used during the COVID-
19 related economic downturn.  
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Long-Term Financial Planning  
  
Lemon Grove’s conservative fiscal policies have helped the City build and maintain reserves and 
management will continue to hold costs in line with available resources.  More complete financial 
information can be found in the Financial Section of the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
which includes year over year comparisons along with reasons for significant variances in the 
Management Discussion and Analysis.    
  
General Fund sales taxes have been, and continue to be, the highest revenue generator for the City. 
Property tax is the City’s second largest revenue source. During FY 2020/21, sales taxes increased by 
$1,505,189 or 27.4%, to $6,995,948 as compared to FY 2019/20 mainly due to internet sales and the 
allocation from the county pool. Property tax also increased by $282,866 or 9.6%, to $3,236,228 
mainly due to the economic impact of increasing property values.    
  
Overall,  the  City’s  General  Fund  revenues  increased  by  $3,529,951 or  23.0%,  from $15,366,235 
in FY 2019/20 to $18,896,186 in FY 2020/21.  In addition to Sales and Property tax increases the City 
saw increases in Building Permits, Cannabis Tax, Business License Fees and Cares Act Funding.  We 
are anticipating revenues to remain flat to moderate increases for FY2022.  
  
Total General Fund revenues for FY2020/21 were budgeted at $15.7 million. The City has relied on 
General Fund reserves to operate the City annually. The amended budget projected a $354 thousand 
deficit after transfers for FY 2020/21. As such, the City remains in a structural deficit position and is 
continuing to streamline costs and seeking opportunities for revenue enhancement.   
  
Actual results for the City’s General Fund for the FY2020/21 fiscal year showed an increase to fund 
balance after transfers of $3.4 million. The main reasons for the positive outcome was higher than 
anticipated sales tax revenues and a one-time settlement related to code enforcement litigation.  This 
excess revenue combined with cost savings in Public Works allowed the City to end the fiscal year on 
a positive note.  
  
The City’s General Fund reserve is at a healthy level, and City Council and staff are continuing to work 
on longer term revenue generating solutions to solve the structural deficit. Therefore, it is fiscally sound 
to use reserves as a short-term solution. In FY 2020-21 the City made austere expenditure cuts to 
General Fund services to manage revenue loss caused by the pandemic in combination with the 
structural deficit.   
  
With the City reopening for business and City voters approving a new revenue source, the Cannabis 
Business Tax, the picture is looking brighter for FY2021-22 and beyond. The General Fund budget 
reinstated almost all cuts that were made for FY2020-21.  The General Fund budget for FY2021/22 
was adopted on June 15, 2021. The FY2021/22 General Fund Operating Budget projects an operating 
deficit of $917 thousand which will be covered by existing reserves. In FY2020-21 the City received 
one-time revenue of approximately $1 million that is intended to be used towards expenditures 
included in the FY2021-22 budget. 
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Relevant Financial Policies  
  
The City of Lemon Grove has financial policies that help guide the City in all aspects of finance 
including internal controls, purchasing, asset acquisition, cash management and budgeting.  
  
One such policy is the City’s Investment Policy. This policy has been continuously adhered to by 
Council. This policy identifies our investment objectives, and the authorized investments.  
  
Cash resources of the individual funds are combined to form a pool of cash and investments. Cash 
temporarily idle during the year was invested primarily with MBS Securities and also with the Local 
Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) consistent with the City’s Investment Policy.   
  
The City’s longstanding Investment Policy was amended by the Council on April 6, 2021, and provides 
the City more flexibility to invest its excess funds to provide safety to ensure the preservation of capital 
in the portfolio, provide sufficient liquidity for cash needs, and to realize a market rate of return 
consistent with the investment program while staying within the requirements of California 
Government Code Section 53600.  
  
The City’s Investment Policy is designed to maximize the productive use of assets entrusted to its care 
and to invest and manage those funds wisely and prudently. Criteria for selecting investments and the 
order of priority are: (1) safety (2) liquidity and (3) yield. The basic premise underlying the City’s 
Investment Policy is to ensure that money is safe, always available, and earning the highest and best 
returns.  
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
The Honorable City Council 
City of Lemon Grove, California 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, business-type 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Lemon Grove (City), 
as of and for the year ended June 30, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements which 
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.  
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted 
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinions. 
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Opinions 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, 
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Lemon Grove, as of June 30, 2021, and the 
respective changes in financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis and other required supplementary information, as listed in the table of contents, 
be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, although not a required part 
of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who 
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an 
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. 
 
We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion 
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with 
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the City’s basic financial statements.  The schedules listed in the supplementary information 
section of the table of contents, and the statistical section, are presented for purposes of additional analysis 
and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. 
 
The schedules listed in the supplementary information section are the responsibility of management and 
were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
basic financial statements.  Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and 
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures 
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, 
the schedules listed in the supplementary information section are fairly stated in all material respects in 
relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
 
The schedules in the statistical section have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on them. 
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued a report dated December 3, 2021, 
on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance 
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.  The 
purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial 
reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance. 
 
 

 
 
 
December 3, 2021   
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CITY OF LEMON GROVE 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited) 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 
(Dollars in Thousands) 

 

As management of the City of Lemon Grove (City) we offer readers of the City's Financial Statements this 
narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2021. We encourage readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with the Basic 
Financial Statements and attached notes.  

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

 The assets plus deferred outflows of the City exceeded its liabilities and deferred inflows of the City 
by $92.3 million (net position). The net position value increase from the previous year of $5.7 million, 
or 6.6 percent, was equally driven by increases in governmental and business-type activity non-capital 
related assets. 

 The City’s capital assets (net of depreciation) decreased by $1.2 million, meaning the City is not 
investing in capital assets at a pace that matches or exceeds the rate of depreciation. 

 The City’s overall revenue was $29.2 million compared to expenses of $23.5 million. Expenses were 
relatively unchanged year over year, however revenues increased by 12.4% mainly driven by increases 
in Sales Taxes and Operating Grants. 

 The City’s governmental funds reported a combined ending fund balance of $23.3 million, an increase 
from the previous year’s restated balance of $4.0 million, or 20.7 percent. The increase from the 
previous year was driven by increases in non-capital related assets. 

 At the end of the current fiscal year, the General Fund’s fund balance (the total of the Nonspendable, 
Restricted and Unassigned components of fund balance) was $10.6 million, or approximately 68.6%  
of total General Fund expenditures. 87.7% of the balance is unassigned and available. 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

A major component of the Financial Section of the City’s Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) 
is the Basic Financial Statements, and is comprised of three components: 1) government-wide financial 
statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the basic financial statements. This report also 
contains required and other supplementary information, and statistical tables in addition to the basic 
financial statements.  

Government-wide Financial Statements  

The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the 
City’s finances. They present the financial picture of the City from the economic resources measurement 
focus using the accrual basis of accounting, which means the current year’s revenues and expenses are 
taken into account regardless of when cash is received or paid. 

The government-wide financial statements distinguish functions that are principally supported by taxes 
and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are intended to 
recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type activities). 
The governmental activities of the City include general government, public safety, public works, 
community Development. The business-type activity of the City is the Lemon Grove Sanitation District. 
Included in the government-wide financial statements are two component units, the Lemon Grove 
Sanitation District (Sanitation District) (blended) and the Lemon Grove Lighting District (Lighting District) 
(blended). While the Sanitation District and Lighting District are legally separate agencies, their governing 
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boards consists entirely of City Council members. The City also reports a fiduciary component unit, 
Successor Agency Private Purpose Trust Fund, which is not included in the government-wide financial 
statements. These component units are in substance part of the primary government's operations and 
are included as part of the primary government.  
 
Fund Financial Statements: A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over 
resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state and local 
governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal 
requirements. All funds of the City can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary 
funds, and fiduciary funds. 
 
Unlike the government-wide financial statements, the fund financial statements focus on near-term 
inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at 
the end of the fiscal year, and offer summary information for each major fund. Such information may be 
useful in evaluating a government's near-term financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund 
balance serves as a useful measure of a government's net resources available for spending at fiscal year-
end. 
 
Governmental Funds: Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions 
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the 
government-wide financial statements, governmental funds financial statements focus on near-term 
inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as balances of spendable resources available at the 
end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term financing 
requirements. 
 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing 
so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing 
decisions. Both the governmental funds Balance Sheet and the governmental funds Statement of 
Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this 
comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities. 
 
The City maintains nineteen individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the 
governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures and 
changes in fund balances for the major funds – General, Housing, and TransNet.  Data from the other 
sixteen governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation entitled Non-major 
Governmental Funds. Individual fund data for each of these non-major governmental funds is provided in 
the supplementary information section of this report. 
 
The City adopts an annual appropriated budget. General Fund budgetary comparison schedules have been 
provided to demonstrate compliance with the adopted general fund budget and is presented as required 
supplementary information. 
 
Proprietary Funds: The City maintains two types of proprietary funds; an enterprise fund to account for 
the Lemon Grove Sanitation District and an internal service fund to account for the City’s self-insurance - 
function. Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in 
the government-wide financial statements, but provide more detail and additional information, such as 
cash flows. Internal service funds are used to report activities that provide services to the City’s other 
programs and activities and are reported with Governmental activities in the government-wide financial 
statements. 
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Fiduciary Funds: Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside 
the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because 
the resources of those funds are not available to support the City’s operations. The accounting used for 
fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds. 
 
The City maintains one type of fiduciary fund, a private purpose trust fund, which was established with 
the dissolution of the former Lemon Grove Community Development Agency to report the Successor 
Agency activity. Accordingly, this fund is reported separate from the Government-wide statements.  
 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements: The notes provide additional information that is essential to a 
full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. 
 
Other Information: In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report 
presents certain required supplementary information regarding: changes in the City’s net pension liability; 
changes in the City’s net other postemployment benefits liability; employer contributions to the pension 
plan; and employer contributions to the postemployment healthcare benefits plan. The required 
supplementary information also includes Budgetary comparison schedules for the General Fund.  
 
Immediately following the required supplementary information are the Non-Major Governmental Fund 
supplementary schedules on Balance Sheet and Revenues, Expenditures and Change in Fund Balances 
followed by Budgetary Comparison schedules for each of these funds. The final section of the ACFR 
contains statistical information to provide the reader with context on financial trends over ten consecutive 
years (if available) and other general statistical data. 
 
 
 
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
 
Statement of Net Position: This statement presents information on all of the City’s assets and liabilities, 
with the difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net 
position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is improving or 
deteriorating. The following schedule displays a summary of the City's statement of net position: 
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The City’s total net position increased by 6.6 percent from fiscal year 2020. Governmental Activities and 
Business-Type Activities showed similar increases. The City’s assets exceeded its liabilities by 
approximately $92.3 million. 

 For Governmental Activities, the increase was mainly due to a 27.4% increase in sales tax revenue 
combined with a 52.7% increase in operating grants related to COVID-19. 

 For Business Type Activities, the increase was mainly due to sanitation revenue for use on planned 
capital improvements to upgrade the existing system. 

Approximately 54.1 percent of the City’s net position reflect its investment in capital assets (i.e., land, 
buildings, infrastructure, and equipment), less any related debt used to acquire those assets that is still 
outstanding.  The City uses these capital assets to provide services to residents; consequently, these assets 
are not available for future spending.  
 
28.9 percent of the City’s net governmental-type assets reflect resources that are subject to external 
restrictions as to how they may be used. These restrictions are typically imposed by parties outside the 
government, such as creditors, grantors, and laws or regulations of other governments.   
 
Governmental activities had unrestricted net position of $1,073 thousand, a decrease of 59.3% from Fiscal 
Year ended June 30, 2020. This decrease is mainly due to an increase in restrictions on assets in the special 
revenue funds. 
 

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Assets:
Other assets 31,358$      26,306$      26,773$      23,994$      58,131$      50,300$      
Capital assets, net 42,609        43,712        7,308          7,424          49,917        51,136        

Total Assets 73,967        70,018        34,081        31,418        108,048      101,436      

Deferred Outflows of Resources:
Deferred Outflows 2,418          2,356          663              612              3,081          2,968          

Total Deferred Outflows 2,418          2,356          663              612              3,081          2,968          

Liabilities:
Long-term liabilities 10,652        10,456        3,423          3,298          14,075        13,754        
Other Liabilities 3,272          2,657          119              146              3,391          2,803          

Total Liabilities 13,924        13,113        3,542          3,444          17,466        16,557        

Deferred Inflows of Resources:
Deferred inflows 1,012          914              364              343              1,376          1,258          

Total Deferred Inflows 1,012          914              364              343              1,376          1,258          

Net Position:
Net investment in capital assets 42,609        43,628        7,308          7,424          49,917        51,052        
Restricted 17,767        12,081        1,956          1,141          19,723        13,222        
Unrestricted 1,073          2,638          21,574        19,678        22,647        22,316        

Total Net Position 61,449$      58,347$      30,838$      28,243$      92,287$      86,590$      

City of Lemon Grove's Condensed Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2021 and 2020

(In Thousands)

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Citywide Total
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Statement of Activities: This statement presents information showing all of the City's revenues and 
expenses and their impact on net position during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in position are 
reported as soon as the underlying events giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of 
related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will 
only result in cash flows in the future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes, and earned but unused 
vacation leave). The following schedule shows condensed financial information from the statement of 
activities and changes between the last two fiscal years: 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Revenues:
Program revenues:
Charges for Services 3,451$       3,131$       6,967$       6,822$       10,418$     9,953$       
Operating grants & contributions 2,473          1,619          -                -                2,473          1,619          
Capital grants & contributions 1,155          965             -                -                1,155          965             
Total Program Revenues 7,079          5,715          6,967          6,822          14,046       12,537       
General revenues:
Taxes:
   General property taxes 3,236          2,953          -                -                3,236          2,953          
   Sales tax 6,996          5,491          -                -                6,996          5,491          
   Franchise tax 1,046          1,000          -                -                1,046          1,000          
  Motor Vehicle in Lieu tax 2,918          2,769          -                -                2,918          2,769          
Other 690             505             242             695             932             1,200          
Total general revenues 14,886       12,718       242             695             15,128       13,413       

Total Revenues 21,965       18,433       7,209          7,517          29,174       25,950       

Expenses:
General government 1,442          2,095          -                -                1,442          2,095          
Public safety 11,540       11,348       -                -                11,540       11,348       
Public works 4,088          5,378          -                -                4,088          5,378          
Community development 1,893          904             -                -                1,893          904             
Sanitation 4,514          3,422          4,514          3,422          

Total Expenses 18,963       19,725       4,514          3,422          23,477       23,147       

Excess (deficiency) before 
transfers 3,002          (1,292)        2,695          4,095          5,697          2,803          

Transfers in (out) 100             150             (100)            (150)            -                -                

Change in net position 3,102          (1,142)        2,595          3,945          5,697          2,803          

Beginning net position 58,347       55,316       28,243       24,298       86,590       79,614       
Restatement of net position 4,173          -                -                -                4,173          

Net Position 61,449$     58,347$     30,838$     28,243$     92,287$     86,590$     

City of Lemon Grove's Condensed Statement of Activities
June 30, 2021 and 2020

(In Thousands)

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Citywide Total
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Governmental Activities: 
The governmental activities increased the City’s net position by $3.1 million. Total revenues including net 
transfers of $22.1 million exceeded Total Expenses of $19.0 million.  Below is a breakdown of the sources 
of Revenue. 
 

Fiscal Year 2021 
Total Sources of Governmental Activities Revenue = $22,064,784 (including net transfers) 

(Graphic representation of Table 2 in percentages) 
 

 
 

Overall, revenues for the year ending June 30, 2021, increased by $3.5 million, or 18.7%. The following is 
a list of notable changes compared to the prior year: 
 Sales Tax increased by $1.5 million or 27.4% due to higher than expected allocations from the 

county pool related to on-line sales. 
 Operating Grants increased by $854 thousand or 52.7% mainly due to COVID-related grants. 
 Charges for Services increased by $320 thousand or 10.2% mainly due to more community 

development permit activity in 2021 than in 2020. 
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Fiscal Year 2021 
Total Governmental Activities Program Expenses = $18,963,139 

(Graphic representation of Table 2 in percentages) 
 

 
 

Total expenses decreased by $762 thousand, or <3.9%>. The following are the notable changes compared 
to the prior year: 

 Public Works decreased by $1.3 million or <24.0%> due to delays in the annual road paving 
projects. 

 General Government decreased by $653 thousand due to a decrease in claims activity.  
 Community Development increased by $989 thousand mainly due to increased permit and 

building activity in Lemon Grove. 
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Net Cost of Governmental Activities: 
The table and chart below matches the cost of services by activity and the related revenues associated 
with those activities.  It is included to help better explain the impact of these service categories on the 
general revenues of the City. The last two columns show the net-(cost)/Revenue to the City for the activity 
for the current and last fiscal year.  Public safety is the major activity supported by general revenues such 
as sales and property taxes ($10.6 million in each fiscal year). 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Public Safety 11,540$     11,348$     948$           714$           (10,592)$   (10,634)$   
Public Works 4,088         5,378         2,686         2,479         (1,402)        (2,899)        
General Gov't 1,442         2,095         275             834             (1,167)        (1,261)        
Community Development 1,893         904             3,170         1,688         1,277         784             
Total Governmental Activities 18,963$     19,725$     7,079$       5,715$       (11,884)$   (14,010)$   

(In Thousands)

City of Lemon Grove
Net Cost of Governmental Activities

Total Cost of Services Program Revenues Citywide Total

 $(15,000)

 $(10,000)

 $(5,000)

 $-

 $5,000

 $10,000

 $15,000
Public Safety Public Works General Gov't

Community
Development

Total Cost of Services, Program Revenues 
& Net Cost of Governmental Activities 

FY2021 (In Thousands)

Total Cost of Services Program Revenues Net Cost
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Business-type Activities:  
Similar to the previous page, this page is presented to better show the over-all impact of the net business 
type activities on the City’s Primary government.  
 
The business-type activities increased the City’s net position by $2.6 million. Business-type program 
revenues exceeded expenditures, resulting in an 9.2 percent increase to business-type net position. 
Business-type liabilities increased by $98 thousand, mainly caused by the long term Pension liability. This 
activity is the Lemon Grove Sanitation District which has staff to maintain the sewers, thus allowing for 
more control over expenditures and an enhanced ability to grow assets for future needs. The Sanitation 
District has plans for future capital investments in local transportation lines.  
 

 
 

 
 
The $2.5 million increase in net position was primarily due to: 

 Charges for Services of $7.0 million exceeding operational expenses of $4.6 million. 
 Sanitation revenues are set to a level to build up reserves for capital maintenance and expansion 

of the sanitation transportation system as well as to support the transportation treatment and 
disposal of sewage through the City of San Diego’s Metropolitan Wastewater JPA. 

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Sanitation 4,514$       3,422$       6,967$       6,822$       2,453$       3,400$       

Total Business Activities 4,514$       3,422$       6,967$       6,822$       2,453$       3,400$       

City of Lemon Grove
Net Revenue from Business Activities

(In Thousands)

Total Cost of Services Program Revenues Citywide Total

 $-

 $1,000

 $2,000

 $3,000

 $4,000

 $5,000

 $6,000

 $7,000

 $8,000
Sanitation

Total Cost of Services, Program Revenues 
& Net Revenue from Business Activities 

FY2021 (In Thousands)

Total Cost of Services Program Revenues Net Revenue
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Governmental Fund Balances:  

As of June 30, 2021, the City’s governmental funds reported a combined ending fund balance of $23.3 
million. The Unassigned fund balance, which represents the amount that is available for spending at the 
City's discretion, is currently at $8.9 million. The remainder of fund balance is Restricted or Nonspendable 
to indicate that it is not available for new spending because it has been committed to a variety of restricted 
purposes including low and moderate housing, road maintenance, parks, stormwater and household 
hazardous waste programs. 

 

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City. At June 30, 2021, the total fund balance was 
$10.6 million, of which $9.3 million is considered unassigned fund balance and therefore available for 
discretionary use. 

Proprietary Fund Balance:  There is $2.0 million of restricted net position in the Sanitation Fund, which 
must be spent on pension expenses. Changes in net position show a growth over last year for Sanitation 
of 9.2 percent.  The Unrestricted balance available for discretionary use on sanitation facilities is $21.6 
million at June 30, 2021.  These funds will be used to maintain the sanitation infrastructure. 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements: Below are three notes of particular interest. 

Note 2 – Cash and Investments:  The City’s total cash and investments at the end of the fiscal year 
totaled $43.9 million. Approximately $28.5 million was invested with the Local Agency Investment 
Fund. Approximately $5.1 million was invested in Certificates of Deposits, $3.3 million was 
invested in a pension 115 Trust, and the balance was deposited with Fiscal Agents and in the City’s 
checking accounts. Cash across the accounting funds are pooled for investment purposes.  

 

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Revenues:
General revenues 17,350$   14,591$     528$           545$            17$             12$           17,895$      15,148$      
Charges for Services 718           529              140             137              35                40             893              706              
Intergovernmental Revenues 828           246              2,155          2,439          -                2                2,983          2,687          

Total Revenues 18,896     15,366        2,823          3,121          52                54             21,771        18,541        

Expenditures:
Current 15,300     14,299        1,563          1,400          23                10             16,886        15,709        
Capital Outlay -              -                 821             1,422          34                19             855              1,441          
Debt 87             87                -                -                 -                -              87                87                

Total Expenditures 15,387     14,386        2,384          2,822          57                29             17,828        17,237        

Net Transfers (94)            (126)            194             176              -                -              100              50                

Net Change in Fund Balances 3,415$     854$           633$           475$            (5)$              25$           4,043$        1,354$        

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
FUND BALANCE
NonSpendable 11$           7$                -$            -$            -$            -$         11$              7$                
Restricted 1,288       905              13,075       8,944          104             79             14,467        9,928          
Unassigned 9,252       6,223          (389)            (60)               -                -              8,863          6,163          
Total FUND BALANCE 10,551$   7,135$        12,686$     8,884$        104$           79$           23,341$      16,098$      

City of Lemon Grove
City of Lemon Grove's Governmental Funds - Changes in Fund Balances

(In Thousands)

General Fund Special Revenue Funds Total Governmental FundsCapital Projects Funds

General Fund Special Revenue Funds Capital Projects Funds Total Governmental Funds
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Note 5 – Capital Assets:  Capital assets for the City’s governmental activities were valued at $42.6 
million, net of accumulated depreciation.  The main changes were due to the on-going efforts 
related to construction on Main Street and annual depreciation expense.  

Capital assets for the City’s business-type activities were valued at $7.3 million. The main changes 
are an increase in construction in progress for the sewer rehabilitation project and annual 
depreciation. 

 

 

 

Note 6 – Long-Term Liabilities:   

At June 30, 2021, the City had outstanding long-term debt in the amount of $13.9 million. The 
majority of this amount, $13.9 million is comprised of net pension and OPEB liabilities which 
increased approximately $700 thousand from the prior year mainly due to actuarial changes 
related to the shortening of the amortization period on gains and losses from 30 to 20 years and 
the elimination of the 5-year ramp on unfunded accrued liability for assumption/method changes 
and non-investment gains/losses. The City does maintain a trust fund outside CalPERS to partially 
offset the net pension liability.  The balance in this account at June 30, 2021 was $3.3 million. In 
addition there was a reduction in claims payable of $761 thousand mainly due to the decreased 
experience rate associated with settled and on-going workers compensation related claims. 

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Land 7,521$       7,521$       4$               4$               7,525$       7,525$       
Construction in 

Progress
486             -              451             321             937             321             

Buildings & 
Improvements

2,481         2,636         -              -              2,481         2,636         

Vehicles, Machinery 
& Equipment

574             697             153             218             727             915             

Infrastructure 31,547       32,858       6,700         6,881         38,247       39,739       
Net Capital Assets 42,609$     43,712$     7,308$       7,424$       49,917$     51,136$     

City of Lemon Grove
Capital Assets at Year-End
Net of Depreciation (In Thousands)

Governmental Activities Business Activities Citywide Total
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Required Supplementary Information: The required supplementary information is comprised of 
budgetary comparisons for the General Fund, Housing Fund, and TransNet Fund. 

The City adopts an annual budget for its General Fund and all other funds. A comparison between budget 
and actual is incorporated in the financial report to demonstrate compliance with the budget. The original 
budget was adopted in June 2020. A revised mid-year budget was adopted in March 2021. 

The General Fund Budgetary Comparison Schedule shows that, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, 
General Fund revenues and transfers exceeded projections by $3.2 million, while the expenditures came 
in $592 thousand under budget. The actual revenues and expenditures resulted in a net surplus of $3.7 
million.  

The main reasons for the variance between budget and actual are higher than anticipated sales tax ($1.1 
million), settlement of a permitting issue ($1 million) and savings in public works expenditures ($573 
thousand) due to a delay in projects. 

REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION  

The Annual Comprehensive Financial Report is designed to provide a general view of the City’s finances 
for all those with an interest in the government's finances. Questions concerning any of the information 
provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the 
Administrative Services Director at the City of Lemon Grove, 3232 Main Street, Lemon Grove, CA 91945, 
(619) 825-3803, or rgreek@lemongrove.ca.gov. 

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Capital Leases -$             85$               -$             -$             -$             85$               
Compensated Absences 593               592               77                 87                 670               679               
Claims Payable 140               749               35                 187               175               936               
OPEB Liability 3,100           3,184           775               796               3,875           3,980           
Pension Liability 6,633           6,008           2,498           2,294           9,131           8,302           
Total Liabilities 10,466$      10,618$      3,385$         3,364$         13,851$      13,982$      

City of Lemon Grove
Outstanding Liabilities at Year-End

(In Thousands)

Governmental Activities Business Activities Citywide Total
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Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Totals

ASSETS

Cash and Investments 14,293,830$      24,546,990$      38,840,820$      

Receivables:

Accounts 2,039,117          259,129             2,298,246          

Interest 3,357,787          -                         3,357,787          

Notes and Loans Receivable 10,351,234        -                         10,351,234        

Prepaid Items 15,851               10,016               25,867               

Cash and Investments with Fiscal Agent 1,300,097          1,956,146          3,256,243          

Capital Assets, Not Being Depreciated 8,007,045          455,460             8,462,505          

Capital Assets, Net of Accumulated Depreciation 34,602,413        6,852,802          41,455,215        

Total Assets 73,967,374        34,080,543        108,047,917      

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

OPEB Related Amounts 535,012             133,753             668,765             

Pension Related Amounts 1,883,477          528,913             2,412,390          

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 2,418,489          662,666             3,081,155          

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 2,554,663          132,871             2,687,534          

Accrued Liabilities 118,441             23,162               141,603             

Deposits Payable 785,428             -                         785,428             

Noncurrent Liabilities:

Due Within One Year 108,950             35,677               144,627             

Due in More Than One Year 10,357,021        3,349,692          13,706,713        

Total Liabilities 13,924,503        3,541,402          17,465,905        

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

OPEB Related Amounts 693,617             173,405             867,022             

Pension Related Amounts 318,719             190,124             508,843             

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 1,012,336          363,529             1,375,865          

NET POSITION

Net Investment in Capital Assets 42,609,458        7,308,262          49,917,720        

Restricted for:

Pensions 1,287,512          1,956,146          3,243,658          

Transportation 1,273,183          -                         1,273,183          

Community Development -                         -                         -                         

Public Safety 667,920             -                         667,920             

Housing 14,193,966        -                         14,193,966        

Public-access Television 344,410             -                         344,410             

Unrestricted 1,072,575          21,573,870        22,646,445        

Total Net Position 61,449,024$      30,838,278$      92,287,302$      

City of Lemon Grove
Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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Charges Operating Capital

for Grants and Grants and

Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions

Governmental Activities:

General Government 1,442,207$        216,043$           6,836$               52,062$             

Public Safety 11,540,363        757,768             190,126             -                         

Public Works 4,087,625          499,470             1,083,479          1,103,172          

Community Development 1,892,944          1,977,238          1,192,519          -                         

Total Governmental Activities 18,963,139        3,450,519          2,472,960          1,155,234          

Business-type Activities:

Sanitation 4,513,177          6,966,652          -                         -                         

Total Business-type Activities 4,513,177          6,966,652          -                         -                         

Total Primary Government 23,476,316$      10,417,171$      2,472,960$        1,155,234$        

General Revenues:

Taxes:

Property Taxes

Sales Taxes

Transient Occupancy Taxes

Franchise Taxes

Motor Vehicle in Lieu Taxes (Unrestricted)

Investment Earnings

Miscellaneous

Transfers

Total General Revenues and Transfers

Change in Net Position

Net Position, Beginning of Year (Restated)

Net Position, End of Year

City of Lemon Grove
Statement of Activities

Year Ended June 30, 2021

Program Revenues

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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Governmental Business-type

Activites Activities Totals

(1,167,266)$       -$                       (1,167,266)$       

(10,592,469)       -                         (10,592,469)       

(1,401,504)         -                         (1,401,504)         

1,276,813          -                         1,276,813          

(11,884,426)       -                         (11,884,426)       

-                         2,453,475          2,453,475          

-                         2,453,475          2,453,475          

(11,884,426)       2,453,475          (9,430,951)         

3,236,228          -                         3,236,228          

6,995,948          -                         6,995,948          

65,549               -                         65,549               

1,046,054          -                         1,046,054          

2,918,349          -                         2,918,349          

136,489             242,052             378,541             

487,454             -                         487,454             

100,000             (100,000)            -                         

14,986,071        142,052             15,128,123        

3,101,645          2,595,527          5,697,172          

58,347,379        28,242,751        86,590,130        

61,449,024$      30,838,278$      92,287,302$      

Changes in Net Position

Net (Expense) Revenue and

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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Total

Non-major

General Housing Transnet Governmental

Fund Fund Fund Funds Totals

ASSETS

Cash and Investments 9,964,600$    942,887$       390,840$       2,187,560$    13,485,887$  

Accounts Receivable 1,534,496      -                    45,899           455,524         2,035,919      

Interest Receivable -                    3,357,787      -                    -                    3,357,787      

Notes and Loans 457,942         9,893,292      -                    -                    10,351,234    

Due from Other Funds 265,467         -                    -                    -                    265,467         

Prepaid Items 11,189           -                    -                    4,263             15,452           

Cash and Investments with Fiscal Agents 1,287,512      -                    2,585             -                    1,290,097      

Total Assets 13,521,206$  14,193,966$  439,324$       2,647,347$    30,801,843$  

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 2,203,855$    -$                  71,198$         263,347$       2,538,400$    

Accrued Liabilities 105,532         -                    1,310             11,599           118,441         

Due to Other Funds -                    -                    -                    265,467         265,467         

Deposits Payable 657,684         -                    -                    127,744         785,428         

Total Liabilities 2,967,071      -                    72,508           668,157         3,707,736      

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Unavailable Revenue 3,595             3,357,787      45,814           345,680         3,752,876      

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 3,595             3,357,787      45,814           345,680         3,752,876      

FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS)

Nonspendable 11,189           -                    -                    -                    11,189           

Restricted 1,287,512      10,836,179    321,002         2,022,515      14,467,208    

Committed -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

Assigned -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

Unassigned 9,251,839      -                    -                    (389,005)        8,862,834      

Total Fund Balances (Deficits) 10,550,540    10,836,179    321,002         1,633,510      23,341,231    

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of
Resources and Fund Balances 13,521,206$  14,193,966$  439,324$       2,647,347$    30,801,843$  

City of Lemon Grove
Balance Sheet 

Governmental Funds
June 30, 2021

Special Revenue

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 23,341,231$    

Amounts reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement of Net Position are different because:

Capital assets used in Governmental Activities are not financial
resources and, therefore, are not reported in the funds.

Capital Assets 87,117,948$    
Accumulated Depreciation (44,508,490)    42,609,458      

In governmental funds, other long-term assets are not available to
pay for current period expenditures and, therefore, are reported 
as unavailable revenue in the funds. 3,752,876        

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the cost
of risk management to individual funds.  The assets and liabilities of
the internal service funds are included in governmental activities
in the statement of net position. 665,068          

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current
period and therefore are not reported in the funds.

Compensated Absences (593,143)         
Total OPEB Liability (3,099,504)      
Net Pension Liability (6,633,115)      

Amounts for deferred inflows and deferred outflows related to the City's
Net Pension Liability and Total OPEB Liability are not reported in the funds.

Deferred Outflows - OPEB Related Amounts 535,012          
Deferred Outflows - Pension Related Amounts 1,883,477        
Deferred Inflows - OPEB Related Amounts (693,617)         
Deferred Inflows - Pension Related Amounts (318,719)         

Net Position of Governmental Activities 61,449,024$    

City of Lemon Grove
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds

to the Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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Total

Non-major

General Housing Transnet Governmental

Fund Fund Fund Funds Totals

REVENUES

Taxes and Special Assessments 14,242,673$  -$                  -$                  416,464$       14,659,137$  

Licenses, Fees, and Permits 1,117,737      -                    -                    -                    1,117,737

Fines, Forfeitures and Penalties 1,195,435      -                    -                    -                    1,195,435

Intergovernmental Revenues 827,873         -                    776,767         1,377,947      2,982,587

Charges for Services 717,804         -                    -                    174,996         892,800

Use of Money and Property 307,207         122,013         18                 1,085             430,323

Other Revenues 487,457         -                    -                    5,460             492,917

Total Revenues 18,896,186 122,013 776,785 1,975,952 21,770,936

EXPENDITURES

Current:

General Government 1,246,180      -                    -                    34,927           1,281,107      

Public Safety 11,201,995    -                    -                    204,823         11,406,818    

Public Works 1,276,572      -                    99,610           1,058,509      2,434,691      

Community Development 1,575,339      -                    -                    188,816         1,764,155      

Capital Outlay -                    -                    383,799         471,075         854,874         

Debt Service:

Principal 84,558           -                    -                    -                    84,558           

Interest 2,131             -                    -                    -                    2,131             

Total Expenditures 15,386,775 -                    483,409 1,958,150 17,828,334

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over

Expenditures 3,509,411 122,013 293,376 17,802 3,942,602

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers In -                    -                    -                    194,129         194,129         

Transfers Out (94,129)         -                    -                    -                    (94,129)         

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (94,129)         -                    -                    194,129         100,000         

Net Change in Fund Balances 3,415,282 122,013 293,376 211,931 4,042,602

Fund Balances, Beginning of Year (Restated) 7,135,258 10,714,166 27,626 1,421,579 19,298,629

Fund Balances, End of Year 10,550,540$  10,836,179$  321,002$       1,633,510$    23,341,231$  

City of Lemon Grove
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

Governmental Funds
Year Ended June 30, 2021

Special Revenue

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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Net Change in Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds 4,042,602$      

Amounts reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement of Activities are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlay as expenditures.  However, in the statement
of activities, the cost of these assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives
and reported as depreciation expense.  This is the amount by which capital outlay
exceeded depreciation expense in the current year.

Capital outlay 609,393$         
Depreciation expense (1,712,288)       (1,102,895)       

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources
are not reported as revenues in the funds. 193,848           

The amounts below included in the statement of activities do not provide or require
the use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as revenues
or expenditures in governmental funds (net change):

Capital Lease 84,558             
Compensated Absences (1,513)              
Total OPEB Liability 84,385             
Net Pension Liability (625,180)          

Amounts for deferred inflows and deferred outflows related to the City's Net Pension
Liability and Total OPEB Liability are not reported in the funds. This is the net change in
deferred outflows/inflows related to the Net Pension and OPEB liability.

Deferred Outflows - OPEB Related Amounts 72,875             
Deferred Outflows - Pension Related Amounts (10,655)            
Deferred Inflows - OPEB Related Amounts (147,699)          
Deferred Inflows - Pension Related Amounts 49,690             

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the cost of certain
activities, such as risk management, to individual funds.  The net revenue
(expense) of the internal service funds is recorded with governmental activities. 461,629           

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities 3,101,645$      

City of Lemon Grove
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
Year Ended June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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Business-type Governmental
Activities Activities
Sanitation Internal

Fund Service Fund
ASSETS
Current Assets:

Cash and Investments 24,546,990$      807,943$           
Accounts Receivable 259,129             3,198                
Due from Other Funds -                        -                        
Prepaids 10,016              399                   

Total Current Assets 24,816,135        811,540             

Noncurrent Assets:
Restricted Cash and Investments 1,956,146          10,000              
Capital Assets, Not being depreciated 455,460             -                        
Capital Assets, Net of Accumulated Depreciation 6,852,802          -                        

Total Noncurrent Assets 9,264,408          10,000              
Total Assets 34,080,543        821,540             

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
OPEB Related Amounts 133,753             -                        
Pension Related Amounts 528,913             -                        

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 662,666             -                        

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities:

Accounts Payable 132,871             16,263              
Accrued Liabilities 23,162              -                        
Due to Other Funds -                        -                        
Compensated Absences 13,977              -                        
Claims Payable 21,700              86,900              

Total Current Liabilities 191,710             103,163             

Noncurrent Liabilities:
Compensated Absences, Noncurrent 62,883              -                        
Claims Payable, Noncurrent 13,352              53,309              
Total OPEB Liability 774,877             -                        
Net Pension Liability 2,498,580          -                        

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 3,349,692          53,309              
Total Liabilities 3,541,402          156,472             

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
OPEB Related Amounts 173,405             -                        
Pension Related Amounts 190,124             -                        

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 363,529             -                        

NET POSITION
Net Investment in Capital Assets 7,308,262          -                        
Restricted for Pensions 1,956,146          -                        
Unrestricted 21,573,870        665,068             

Total Net Position 30,838,278$      665,068$           

City of Lemon Grove
Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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Business-type Governmental
Activities Activities
Sanitation Internal

Fund Service Fund
OPERATING REVENUES

Charges for Sales and Services 6,966,652$        -$                       
Other Revenues -                         2,712                 

Total Operating Revenue 6,966,652          2,712                 

OPERATING EXPENSES
Personnel Costs 1,215,258          -                         
Contractual Services 177,176             66,325               
Materials and Supplies 95,112               -                         
Repairs and Maintenance 109,472             -                         
Capacity and Treatment 2,745,888          -                         
Utilities 8,402                 -                         
Insurance and Claims (84,263)              (523,718)            
Depreciation 246,132             -                         

Total Operating Expenses 4,513,177          (457,393)            

Operating Income (Loss) 2,453,475          460,105             

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Interest Income 242,052             1,524                 

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 242,052             1,524                 

Income (Loss) Before Transfers and
Capital Contributions 2,695,527          461,629             

Transfers In -                         -                         
Transfers Out (100,000)            -                         

Total Transfers (100,000)            -                         

Change in Net Position 2,595,527          461,629             

Net Position - Beginning of Year 28,242,751        203,439             

Net Position - End of Year 30,838,278$      665,068$           

City of Lemon Grove
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Proprietary Funds
Year Ended June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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Business-type Governmental
Activities Activities
Sanitation Internal

Fund Service Fund

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from Customers and Users 7,623,181$        318,894$           
Payments to Suppliers for Goods and Services (3,130,364)         (144,729)            
Payments to Employees for Services (1,072,375)         -                         

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 3,420,442          174,165             

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cash Paid to/Received from Other Funds (100,000)            -                         

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Noncapital Financing Activities (100,000)            -                         

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Acquisition and Construction of Capital Assets (130,478)            -                         

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Capital and Related Financing Activities (130,478)            -                         

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment Income Received 242,052             1,524                 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Investing Activities 242,052             1,524                 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 3,432,016          175,689             

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of the Year 23,071,120        642,254             
Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of the Year 26,503,136$     817,943$           

RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and Investments 24,546,990$      807,943$           
Restricted Cash and Investments 1,956,146          10,000               

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 26,503,136$      817,943$           

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to 
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities:

Operating Income (Loss) 2,453,475$        460,105$           

Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income to
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:

Depreciation 246,132             -                         
(Increase) Decrease in Accounts Receivable 656,529             316,182             
(Increase) Decrease in Prepaids (2,893)                (399)                   
(Increase) Decrease in Deferred Outflows (50,820)              -                         
Increase (Decrease) in Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 76,664               7,668                 
Increase (Decrease) in Compensated Absences Payable (10,300)              -                         
Increase (Decrease) in Claims Payable (78,728)              (609,391)            
Increase (Decrease) in Total OPEB Liability (21,095)              -                         
Increase (Decrease) in Net Pension Liability 204,747             -                         
Increase (Decrease) in Deferred Inflows 20,351               -                         

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 3,494,062$        174,165$           

City of Lemon Grove
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds
Year Ended June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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Successor
Agency

Private-purpose
Trust Fund

ASSETS
Cash and Investments 879,477$           
Cash and Investments with Fiscal Agent 964,415             
Property Held for Resale 6,535,362          

Total Assets 8,379,254          

LIABILITIES
Interest Payable 303,221             
Accounts Payable -                        
Due to the City of Lemon Grove 2,879,380          
Bonds Payable, Short-term Portion 810,255             
Bonds Payable, Long-term Portion 19,287,552        

Total Liabilities 23,280,408        

NET POSITION
Net Position Held in Trust for Successor Agency (14,901,154)$     

City of Lemon Grove
Statement of Net Position

Fiduciary Funds
June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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Successor
Agency

Private-purpose
Trust Fund

ADDITIONS
Property Taxes 1,917,419$        
Interest Revenue 37,720               

Total Additions 1,955,139          

DEDUCTIONS
Administration 55,000               
Cost of Issuance -                        
Interest Expense 777,707             

Total Deductions 832,707             

Change in Net Position 1,122,432          

Net Position - Beginning of Year (Restated) (16,023,586)       

Net Position - End of Year (14,901,154)$     

City of Lemon Grove
Statement of Changes in Net Position

Fiduciary Funds
Year Ended June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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City of Lemon Grove 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

Year Ended June 30, 2021 

 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The basic financial statements of the City of Lemon Grove, California (City) have been prepared in conformity with 
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental agencies. The Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard setting body for establishing governmental 
accounting and financial reporting principles. The more significant of the City’s accounting policies are described 
below. 

 
A. Financial Reporting Entity 

 
The City of Lemon Grove was incorporated in 1977, under the laws of the State of California. 

 
The accompanying basic financial statements present the financial activities of the City and its component units, 
entities for which the City is considered to be financially accountable. Blended component units, although legally 
separate entities are, in substance, part of the City’s operations and data from these units are combined with data 
of the City. The City had no discretely presented component units. The blended component units have a June 
30 year end. The following entities are reported as blended component units: 

 
The Lemon Grove Sanitation District (Sanitation District): established on June 10, 1982 as part of an 
annexation/detachment change of organization. The Sanitation District provides sewer services within the City. The 
City Council acts as the Sanitation District’s governing board and exerts significant influence over its operations.  
The Sanitation District activities are reported in an enterprise fund. 

 
Lemon Grove Landscape and Lighting District (Landscape and Lighting District):  established on May 1, 1978 to 
provide for establishing various street lighting improvements and maintenance for property within the City. The City 
Council acts as the Landscape and Lighting District’s governing board and exerts significant influence over its 
operations. 
 
Lemon Grove Housing Authority (Housing Authority):  established in 2012, subsequent to the dissolution of the 
former Community Development Agency, to address the City’s needs for affordable dwelling accommodations 
available to persons of low income.  The City Council acts as the Housing Authority’s Board, and management of 
the City performs administrative functions of the Authority, and activities are reported in a special revenue fund. 

 
Separate financial statements for these component units are not prepared. 

 
B. Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus 

The accounts of the City are organized on the basis of funds, each of which is considered a separate accounting 
entity with its own self-balancing set of accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues, and 
expenditures or expenses.  These funds are established for the purpose of carrying out specific activities or certain 
objectives in accordance with specific regulations, restrictions or limitations.  Governmental resources are allocated 
to and accounted for in individual funds based upon the purposes for which they are to be spent and the means by 
which spending activities are controlled. 

 
Government-wide Financial Statements 

 
The City’s Government-wide Financial Statements include a Statement of Net Position and a Statement of Activities. 
These statements present summaries of Governmental and Business-type Activities for the City accompanied by a 
total column.  These financial statements are presented on an economic resources measurement focus and 
the accrual basis of accounting. Accordingly, all of the City’s assets and liabilities, including capital assets, as well 
as infrastructure assets, and long-term liabilities, are included in the accompanying Statement of Net Position. The 
Statement of Activities presents changes in net position.  Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are 
recognized in the period in which they are earned while expenses are recognized in the period in which the liabilities 
are incurred. 

 
Certain types of transactions reported as program revenues include these three categories:  Charges for services, 
Operating grants and contributions, and Capital grants and contributions. 
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City of Lemon Grove 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

Year Ended June 30, 2021 

 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 
Certain eliminations have been made regarding interfund activities, payables, and receivables. All internal 
balances in the Statement of Net Position have been eliminated except those representing balances between 
the governmental activities and the business-type activities, which are presented as internal balances and 
eliminated in the total primary government column. In the Statement of Activities, internal fund transactions have 
been eliminated; however, those transactions between governmental and business-type activities have not been 
eliminated. 
 
Governmental Fund Financial Statements 
 
Governmental fund financial statements include a Balance Sheet and a Statement of Revenues, Expenditures 
and Changes in Fund Balances for all major governmental funds and non-major funds aggregated. An 
accompanying schedule is presented to reconcile and explain the differences in net position as presented in 
these statements to the net position presented in the government-wide financial statements. The City has presented 
all major funds that meet specific qualifications. 

 
All governmental funds are accounted for on a spending or current financial resources measurement focus and 
the modified accrual basis of accounting. Accordingly, only current assets and current liabilities are included 
on the balance sheet. The Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances presents 
increases (revenues and other financing sources) and decreases (expenditures and other financing uses) in 
net current assets. Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in the accounting 
period in which they become both measurable and available to finance expenditures of the current period.  
Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter 
to pay liabilities of the current period.  For this purpose, the City considers revenues to be available if they are collected 
within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period.  Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, 
as under accrual accounting.  However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated 
absences and claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due. 
 
The primary revenue sources that have been treated as susceptible to accrual by the City are property taxes, 
taxpayer-assessed tax revenues (sales taxes, transient occupancy taxes, franchise taxes, etc.), grant revenues 
and earnings on investments. Expenditures are recorded in the accounting period in which the related fund liability 
is incurred. 
 
The City reports the following funds as major governmental funds of the City. 

 
General Fund accounts for resources traditionally associated with governmental activities that are not required 
legally or by sound financial management to be accounted for in another fund. 

 
Housing Fund accounts for the housing assets transferred from the former Redevelopment Agency, and the 
revenues and expenditures for the project area related to low- and moderate-income housing. 
 
Transnet Fund accounts for Transnet allocation and street related projects eligible for Transnet funding. This fund 
is specifically used to finance significant right-of-way improvements (streets and sidewalks), storm drain, and traffic 
related projects. 

 
Proprietary Fund Financial Statements 

 
Proprietary fund financial statements include a Statement of Net Position, a Statement of Revenues, Expenses 
and Change in Net Position, and a Statement of Cash Flows for all proprietary funds.  A column representing internal 
service funds is also presented in these statements. However, internal service balances and activities have been 
combined with the governmental activities in the Government-wide Financial Statements. 

 
Proprietary funds are accounted for using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of 
accounting. Accordingly, all assets and liabilities are included on the Statement of Net Position. The Statement 
of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position presents increases (revenues) and decreases (expenses) 
in net position. Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in the period in which they are 
earned while expenses are recognized in the period in which a liability is incurred. 
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City of Lemon Grove 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

Year Ended June 30, 2021 

 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 

Operating revenues in the proprietary funds are those revenues that are generated from the primary operations 
of the fund. All other revenues are reported as non-operating revenues. Operating expenses are those expenses 
that are essential to the primary operations of the fund. All other expenses are reported as non-operating 
expenses. 

 
The City reports the following proprietary funds: 

 
Sanitation Enterprise Fund accounts for the operation and maintenance of the wastewater system within the 
City’s boundaries. 

 
Internal service fund balances and activities have been combined with governmental activities in the 
Government-wide Financial Statements, and are comprised of the following: 

 
Self-insurance Internal Service Fund accounts for all financial transactions related to the City’s self-insurance 
program. The service is provided to other City funds or agencies of the City on a cost reimbursement basis. 

 
Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements 

 
Fiduciary fund financial statements consist of a Statement of Net Position and a Statement of Changes in Net 
Position. The City has two types of fiduciary funds – custodial funds (as applicable) and a private-purpose trust 
fund. Custodial funds are used to account for the assets held for distribution by the City as an agent for another 
entity for which the City has custodial responsibility and accounts for the flow of assets. Private-purpose trust 
funds account for resources of all other trust arrangements in which principal and income benefit individuals, 
private organizations, or other governments (i.e. unclaimed property/escheat property). Fiduciary funds are 
accounted for using the accrual basis of accounting. 

 
The City reports the following fiduciary fund: 

 
Successor Agency to the Lemon Grove Community Development Agency Private-purpose Trust Fund accounts 
for the balances and activities relating to the dissolution of the former Community Development Agency (Agency), 
except those accounted for in the Housing Special Revenue Fund of the City. 

 
C.  Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments 

 

The City pools cash resources from all funds in order to facilitate the management of cash. The balance in the 
pooled cash account is available to meet current operating requirements. Cash in excess of current 
requirements is invested in various interest-bearing accounts and other investments with varying terms. 
 
In accordance with GASB Statement No. 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and for 
External Investment Pools, highly liquid market investments with maturities of one year or less at time of purchase 
are stated at amortized cost. All other investments are stated at fair value. Market value is used as fair value for 
those securities for which market quotations are readily available. 

 
The City participates in an investment pool managed by the State of California entitled Local Agency Investment 
Fund (LAIF) which has invested a portion of the pooled funds in Structured Notes and Asset-Backed Securities. 
LAIF’s investments are subject to credit risk with the full faith and credit of the State of California collateralizing 
these investments. In addition, these Structured Notes and Asset-Backed Securities are subject to market risk as 
to the change in interest rates. 

 
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash equivalents are defined as demand deposits and investments 
with original maturities of 90 days or less, which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash. The 
City considers all pooled cash and investments (consisting of cash and investments and restricted cash and 
investments) held by the City as cash and cash equivalents because the pool is used essentially as a demand 
deposit account from the standpoint of the funds. The City also considers all non-pooled cash and investments 
(consisting of cash with fiscal agent and restricted cash and investments held by fiscal agent) as cash and cash 
equivalents because investments meet the criteria for cash equivalents defined above. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 
D.  Restricted Cash and Investments 

 
Certain restricted cash and investments are held by fiscal agents for the redemption of bonded debt, pensions, and 
for the acquisition and construction of capital projects. 

 
E.  Compensated Absences 

 
Vacation pay is payable to employees at the time a vacation is taken or upon termination of employment. 
Normally, an employee cannot accrue more than two times their regular annual entitlement. 

 
Sick leave is payable when an employee is unable to work because of illness. Unused sick leave at termination 
is lost, unless eligible for conversion to retirement credit as provided by the City contract with CalPERS. For 
safety employees, upon retirement or termination of employment, suppression employees shall be paid for all 
accrued unfrozen sick leave at the rate of one-half the accumulated time. Pay shall be based upon vested amounts 
at the employee’s pay rate at the time the hours were earned. Upon retirement, employees have the option to 
apply sick leave toward retirement credit on an hour-for-hour basis. The General Fund is primarily responsible for 
the repayment of the governmental portion of compensated absences. 

 
F.  Property Taxes 

 
Property taxes in the State of California are administered for all local agencies at the county level, and consist of 
secured, unsecured, and utility tax rolls, as follows: 

 
Property Valuations are established by the Assessor of the County of San Diego for the secured and unsecured 
property tax rolls; the utility property tax rolls are valued by the State Board of Equalization. Under the provisions 
of Article XIIIA of the State Constitution (Proposition 13 adopted by the voters on June 6, 1978), properties are 
assessed at 100% of full value. From this base assessment, subsequent annual increases in valuation are limited 
to a maximum of 2%. However, increases to full value are allowed for property improvements or upon 
change in ownership. Personal property is excluded from these limitations, and is subject to annual reappraisal. 

 
Tax L e v i e s  are limited to 1% of full value which results in a tax rate of $1.00 per $100 assessed valuation, 
under the provisions of Proposition 13. Tax rates for voter-approved indebtedness are excluded from this 
limitation. The City’s share of the $1.00 varies depending on the tax rate area and it ranges from $0.0730 to $0.125. 
Tax Levy Dates are attached annually on January 1 preceding the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied. The 
fiscal year begins July 1 and ends June 30 of the following year. Taxes are levied on both real and unsecured 
personal property as it exists at that time. Liens against real estate, as well as the tax on personal property, are 
not relieved by subsequent renewal or change in ownership. 

 
Tax Levy Apportionments:  Due to the nature of the City-wide maximum levy, it is not possible to identify general 
purpose tax rates for specific entities. Under State legislation adopted subsequent to the passage of Proposition 
13, apportionments to local agencies are made by the county auditor-controller based primarily on the ratio that 
each agency represented of the total City-wide levy for the three years prior to fiscal year 1979. 

 
Property Tax Administration Fees:  The State of California FY 1990-91 Budget Act authorized counties to collect 
an administration fee for collection and distribution of property taxes. Property taxes are recorded net of 
administration fees withheld during the fiscal year. 

 
The following are significant dates relating to the City’s property taxes: 

 
 

Lien date March 1

Levy date June 30

Due date November 1 and February 1

Collection dates December 10 and April 10
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 

G.  Capital Assets 
 

Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, bridges, sidewalks, 
traffic lights and signals, street lights, and similar items), are reported in the applicable government-wide financial 
statements. Capital assets are defined by the City as assets with an initial, individual cost of $5,000 ($100,000 
for infrastructure) or more and an estimated useful life in excess of one year. Such capital assets are recorded 
at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed.  Donated capital assets are recorded 
at acquisition value as of the date received. The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value 
of the capital asset or materially extend capital asset lives are not capitalized.  Major outlays for capital assets and 
improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed. 

 
Capital assets of the City are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives: 
 
 

 
 

H. Interest Payable 
 

In the Government-wide and Proprietary Funds Financial Statements, interest payable on long-term debt is 
recognized as the liability is incurred. 

 
I. Unavailable and unearned revenue 

 
Unearned revenue is reported for transactions for which revenue has not yet been earned.  In the governmental 
fund financial statements, unavailable revenue is recorded when transactions have not met the revenue 
recognition criteria based on the modified accrual basis of accounting. The City records unavailable and 
unearned revenues for transactions for which revenues have not been earned, or for which funds are not 
available to meet current financial obligations. Typical transactions for which unearned and unavailable revenues 
are recorded are grants received but not yet earned or available. 

 
J.  Claims and Judgments 

 
The short-term and long-term workers’ compensation and general liability claims payable are reported in the Internal 
Service Fund. The short-term liability which will be liquidated with current financial resources is the amount of 
settlement reached, but unpaid, related to claims and judgments entered. 

 
K.  Use of Estimates 

 
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America, as prescribed by the GASB and American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA), 
requires management to make assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses/expenditures during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates. 

  

Assets Years

Structures and Improvements 40
Public Domain Infrastructure 50
System Infrastructure 30
Vehicles 3 to 15
Other Equipment and Furnishings 3 to 20
Computer Equipment 3 to 10
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 

L. Long-term Obligations 
 

In the Government-wide Financial Statements and Proprietary Fund Financial Statements, long-term debt and 
other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-type 
activities, or proprietary funds statement of net position. Initial-issue bond premiums and discounts are deferred and 
amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight-line method. Bond issuance costs are expensed when 
bonds are issued. 

 
In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums, discounts, and issuance 
costs during the period issued. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources. Premiums 
received are reported as other financing sources, while discounts are reported as other financing uses. 

 
M.  Net Position 

 
In the Government-wide Financial Statements, net position is classified in the following categories: 

 
Net Investment in Capital Assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by 
outstanding debt that is attributed to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of the assets. 

 
Restricted Net Position includes amounts restricted by external creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or 
regulations of governments. 

 
Unrestricted Net Position represents all other amounts that do not meet the definition of net investment in capital 
assets or restricted net position as defined above. 
 

N.  Fund Balances 
 

Non-spendable Fund Balances 
 

These include amounts that cannot be spent because they are either (a) not in spendable form or (b) legally 
or contractually required to be maintained intact; e.g., the principal of an endowment fund.  Examples of “not 
in spendable form” include inventory, prepaid amounts, property held for resale and other items not expected to 
be converted to cash. However, if the proceeds from the eventual sale or liquidation of the items would be 
considered restricted, committed or assigned (as defined further on) then these amounts would be classified as 
restricted, committed or assigned rather than non-spendable. A debt service reserve fund held by a trustee is an 
example of fund balance in non-spendable form that is classified as restricted instead of non-spendable since the 
reserve is eventually liquidated to make the final debt service principal payment. 

 
Restricted Fund Balances 

 
Restricted fund balances have externally enforceable limitations on use. The limitations on use can be imposed 
by creditors, grantors, or contributors as well as by constitutional provisions, enabling legislation, laws and 
government regulations. 

 
Committed Fund Balances 

 
Amounts that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to constraints imposed by formal action (Ordinance) 
of the City Council are classified as committed fund balances. 

 
Assigned Fund Balances 

 
Fund balance amounts for which the City Council has expressed intent for use but not taken formal action to 
commit are reported as assigned under GASB 54. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 
Unassigned Fund Balance 

 
The residual classification for the General Fund is unassigned fund balance. The General Fund is the only fund 
that may report a positive unassigned fund balance. Negative fund balance reported in Special Revenue Funds 
is classified as unassigned fund balance. 

 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City’s policy to use restricted 
resources first, then followed by unrestricted resources in the following order: committed, assigned, and 
unassigned, as necessary. 
 

O.  Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
 

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred 
outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element represents a consumption of net position that 
applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until 
then. The City reports an unamortized deferred charge on refunding resulting from the difference in carrying value 
of refunded debt and its reacquisition price, and deferred employer pension contributions as deferred outflows of 
resources. 

 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred 
inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element represents an acquisition of net position that 
applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. 

 
The City reports two items in this category: unavailable revenues and amounts related to changes in the City’s net 
pension liability that are deferred and amortized over a stated number of years. Unavailable revenues arise only 
under the modified accrual basis of accounting and, accordingly, are reported only in the governmental funds.  The 
governmental funds report unavailable revenue from grants, sales tax revenues, and other applicable revenues. 

 
These amounts are deferred and will be recognized as inflows of resources in the period that the amounts become 
available.  The City also reports deferred inflows as a result of the City’s implementation of GASB Statement No. 68, 
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions. 

 
P.  Pensions 

 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability and deferred outflows/inflows of resources related to pensions, 
and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the City of Lemon Grove’s California Public 
Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) plan (Plan) and additions to/deductions from the Plan’s fiduciary net 
position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by CalPERS.  For this purpose, benefit 
payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with 
the benefit terms.  Investments are reported at fair value. 
 

Q.  New Accounting Pronouncements 
 
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board has issued the following Statements, which may affect the City’s 
financial reporting requirements in the future: 

 
GASB 87 – Leases:  This Statement requires recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that 
previously were classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of resources based 
on the payment provisions of the contract. The requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting periods 
beginning after December 15, 2020. 
 
GASB 89 – Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a Construction Period:  This Statement establishes 
accounting requirements for interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period.  The requirements of this 
Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2020. 
 
 

36



City of Lemon Grove 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

Year Ended June 30, 2021 

 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 

GASB 91 – Conduit Debt Obligations:  The primary objectives of this Statement are to provide a single method of 
reporting conduit debt obligations by issuers and eliminate diversity in practice. The requirements of this Statement 
are effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2021. 
 

2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 

A. Summary of Cash and Investments 
 
Cash and investments within the basic financial statements are reported as follows: 
 

 
 

Cash and investments as of June 30, 2021 consist of the following: 

 

 
 

B. Deposits 
 
The carrying amount of the City’s deposits was $5,192,780 at June 30, 2021. Bank balances before reconciling 
items amounted to $5,205,809 at June 30, 2021. The City has not waived the collateral requirements for cash 
deposits, which are fully insured up to $250,000 by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. Amounts are 
collateralized with securities held by the pledging financial institution in the City’s name. 
 
The California Government Code (Code) requires California banks and savings and loan associations to secure 
the City’s deposits by pledging securities as collateral. The Code states that collateral pledged in this manner 
shall have the effect of perfecting a security interest in such collateral superior to those of a general creditor. Thus, 
collateral for deposits is considered to be held in the City's name.  The market value of pledged securities must 
equal at least 110% of the City’s deposits. California law also allows institutions to secure City deposits by pledging 
first trust deed mortgage notes having a value of 150% of the City’s total deposits. 
 
 
 
 

Governmental Business-Type Fiduciary
Activities Activities Funds Total

Cash and Investments 14,293,830$    24,546,990$    879,477$         39,720,297$    
Restricted Cash and Investments 1,300,097        1,956,146        964,415           4,220,658        

Total Cash and Investments 15,593,927$    26,503,136$    1,843,892$      43,940,955$    

Government-wide
Statement of Net Position

Cash on Hand 1,900$             
Deposits with Financial Institutions 5,166,021        
Deposits with Fiscal Agent 24,859             
Total Cash on Hand and Deposits 5,192,780        

Local Agency Investment Fund 28,530,487      
Certificates of Deposit 5,118,377        
US Agency Securities 865,119           
Total Investments 34,513,983      

Investments with Fiscal Agent:
Mutual Funds 3,269,778        
Money Market Mutual Funds 964,414           

Total Fiscal Agent Investments 4,234,192        

Total Cash and Investments 43,940,955$    
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2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS – Continued 
 
The City follows the practice of pooling cash and investments of all funds, except for funds required to be held by 
fiscal agents under the provisions of bond indentures. Interest income earned on pooled cash and investments 
is allocated to the various funds based on the period-end cash and investment balances. Interest income from 
cash and investments with fiscal agents is credited directly to the related fund. 

 
C. Investments Authorized by the California Government Code and the City’s Investment Policy 

 
The table below identifies the investment types that are authorized for the City of Lemon Grove by the California 
Government Code (or the City’s investment policy, where more restrictive). The table also identifies certain 
provisions of the California Government Code (or the City’s investment policy, where more restrictive) that address 
interest rate risk, credit risk, and concentration of credit risk. This table does not address investments of debt 
proceeds held by bond trustee that are governed by the provisions of debt agreements of the City, rather than the 
general provisions of the California Government Code or the City’s investment policy. 
 

 
 

D. Disclosures Relating to Interest Rate Risk 
 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment. 
Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its fair value to changes in 
market interest rates. One of the ways that the City manages its exposure to interest rate risk is by purchasing a 
combination of shorter-term and longer-term investments and by timing cash flows from maturities so that a 
portion of the portfolio is maturing or coming close to maturity evenly over time, as necessary, to provide the cash 
flows and liquidity needed for operations. 
 
Information about the sensitivity of the fair values of the City’s investments (including investments held by bond 
trustees) to market interest rate fluctuations is provided by the following table that shows the distribution of the 
City’s investments by maturity: 

 

 
  

Maximum Maximum 
Authorized Maximum Percentage/Amount Investment 

Investment Type Maturity of Portfolio in One Issuer
Local Agency Investment Fund (State Pool) N/A $75 million None
Certificates of Deposit 5 years 30% None
Mutual Funds N/A None None
US Government Securities 5 years None None
US Agency Securities 5 years 75% None
Local Agency Bonds 5 years 15% None
State of California Obligations 5 years 15% None
CalTrust 5 years 60% None

12 Months 13 to 24 25 to 60
Investment Type Total Or Less Months Months

Local Agency Investment Fund 28,530,487$    28,530,487$    -$                    -$                    
Certificate of Deposits 5,118,377        839,100           2,458,023        1,821,254        
US Agency Securities 865,119           -                      -                      865,119           
Held by Fiscal Agents:

Mutual Funds 3,269,778        3,269,778        -                      -                      
Money Market Mutual Funds 964,414           964,414           -                      -                      

Total 38,748,175$    33,603,779$    2,458,023$      2,686,373$      

Remaining Maturity (in Months)
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2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS – Continued 
 

E. Investments with Fair Values Highly Sensitive to Interest Rate Fluctuations 
 

The City’s investments (including investments held by bond trustees) do not include any investments that are 
highly sensitive to interest rate fluctuations. 
 

F. Disclosures Relating to Credit Risk 
 

Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder of the 
investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical rating 
organization. Presented below is the minimum rating required by (where applicable) the California Government 
Code, the City’s investment policy, or debt agreements, and the actual rating as of fiscal year end for each 
investment type. 
 

 
 

G. Concentration of Credit Risk 
 

The investment policy of the City contains no limitations on the amount that can be invested in any one issuer. 
The City has no investments in any one issuer (other than U.S. Treasury securities, mutual funds, and external 
investment pools) that represent 5% or more of total City investments by reporting unit (primary government, 
governmental activities, business type activities, fiduciary funds, major funds, non-major funds in the aggregate). 

 
H. Custodial Credit Risk 

 
Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the City will not be able to 
recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. 
None of the City’s investments were subject to custodial credit risk. 

 
I. External Investment Pools 

 
The City is a voluntary participant in the Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) that is regulated by California 
Government Code Section 16429 under the oversight of the Treasurer of the State of California.  The fair value of the 
City’s investment in this pool is reported in the accompanying financial statements at amounts based upon the City’s 
pro-rata share of the fair value provided by LAIF for the entire LAIF portfolio (in relation to the amortized cost of that 
portfolio). 
 
The balance available for withdrawal is based on the accounting records maintained by LAIF, which are recorded on 
an amortized cost basis. 

 
J. Investment Valuation 
 

Investments (except for money market accounts, time deposits, and commercial paper) are measured at fair value 
on a recurring basis. Recurring fair value measurements are those that Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB) Statements require or permit in the statement of net position at the end of each reporting period. 

  

Minimum
Investment Type Amount Legal Rating AAA Unrated

Local Agency Investment Fund 28,530,487$    N/A -$                    28,530,487$    
Certificate of Deposits 5,118,377        N/A -                      5,118,377        
US Agency Securities 865,119           N/A 865,119           
Held by Fiscal Agents:

Mutual Funds 3,269,778        N/A -                      3,269,778        
Money Market Mutual Funds 964,414           AAA 964,414           -                      

Total 38,748,175$    1,829,533$      36,918,642$    
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2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS – Continued 
 
Fair value measurements are categorized based on the valuation inputs used to measure an asset’s fair 
value: Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant 
other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. 

 
Restricted cash and investments included money market accounts and guaranteed investment contracts which are 
not subject to fair value measurement.  The City has the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 
2021: 

 
• Mutual Funds of $3,269,778 are valued using quoted market prices (Level 1 inputs). 
• Certificates of Deposit of $5,118,377 are valued using a matrix pricing model (Level 2 inputs). 

 

The City’s fair value for its investment in the State of California Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) is based on 
the fair market value factors provided by LAIF that are calculated based on the total fair market value of the 
pool.  LAIF includes investments categorized as Level 1 such as United States Treasury securities, Federal 
Agency securities, and supranational debentures that are valued based on prices quoted in active markets, 
and investments categorized as Level 2, such as negotiable certificates of deposit and bank notes that are based 
on market corroborated pricing utilizing inputs such as yield curves and indices derived principally from, or 
corroborated by, observable market data by correlation to other means. 

 

3. NOTES RECEIVABLE 
 

As of June 30, 2021, Notes Receivable of $9,893,292 consisted of the following: 
 
Hitzke Development Corporation 
 
During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009, the City entered into Owner Participation Agreements with Hitzke 
Development Corporation (Developer) for the development of several projects within the City's project area. In 
addition, the City executed promissory notes with the Developer with amounts not-to-exceed (excluding accrued 
interest) $2,763,292 for Citronica One, $2,500,000 for Citronica Two, and $1,500,000 for Citronica Three, all at 
3.0% interest and secured by a deed of trust for each note creating a valid lien upon the Developer's interest in the 
development parcels. The funds are being used to construct a 54-unit mixed-use affordable housing project.  The 
notes call for funds to be advanced to the borrower for the purchase of several parcels to be used for the projects. 
In addition, the funds can be used for certain pre-development costs. 
 
During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, the City executed another promissory note with the Developer in an 
amount not-to-exceed (excluding interest) $1,323,031 for Citronica One. The notes are due and payable two (2) 
years from the date of the execution of the notes or rolled over as additional assistance into the development and 
disposition agreement.  As of June 30, 2021, the City had advanced $6,763,292 to the borrower. In addition, 
$2,215,667 of cumulative interest is accrued as of June 30, 2021. 
 
Community Collective 
 
The City issued a Note to Community Collective in an amount not-to-exceed $3,130,000 at 3.0% interest secured 
by a deed of trust, assignment of rents, a security agreement and fixture filing. Community Collective is using the 
funds to construct a mixed-use, multi-family residential housing project for extremely low, very low, and low-income 
persons. The Note calls for funds to be advanced to the borrower for costs related to the project as the costs are 
incurred by the borrower. The note is due and payable in full in fifty-five (55) years from the date of the note or upon 
sale or refinancing of the project. In the event there is surplus cash (as defined in the note), Community Collective 
shall pay the City one-half of the available surplus cash.   
 
As of June 30, 2021, the City had advanced $3,130,000 to the borrower. In addition, $1,142,120 of cumulative 
interest is accrued as of June 30, 2021. 
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4. DUE FROM SUCCESSOR AGENCY 
 

The General Fund previously advanced the former Lemon Grove Community Development Agency amounts to 
fund various redevelopment projects. The advances payable had no stated interest rate. During fiscal year 
2012, following the dissolution of California redevelopment agencies, the payable was transferred from the 
former Agency to the Successor Agency Private-purpose Trust Fund.  The repayment of the original advances is 
currently uncertain and is subject to approval by the State Department of Finance under applicable 
redevelopment agency dissolution law.  As of June 30, 2021, the amount due from the Successor Agency was 
$3,219,687 and is offset by an allowance for doubtful accounts, except for $457,942, which was approved for 
repayment in 2020-21. 

 

5. CAPITAL ASSETS 
 

The following represents the capital asset activity for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021: 
 

Beginning Ending
Governmental Activities Balance Additions Deletions Balance

Capital Assets, Not Being Depreciated:
Land and Improvements 7,520,853$   -$                 -$                 7,520,853$   
Construction in Progress -                   486,192        -                   486,192        

Total Capital Assets, Not Being Depreciated 7,520,853     486,192        -                   8,007,045     
Capital Assets, Being Depreciated:

Buildings and Improvements 9,869,981     68,181          -                   9,938,162     
Vehicles and Equipment 2,759,234     50,996          (68,583)         2,741,647     
Infrastructure 66,427,070   4,024            -                   66,431,094   

Total Capital Assets, Being Depreciated 79,056,285   123,201        (68,583)         79,110,903   
Less Accumulated Depreciation:

Buildings and Improvements (7,233,589)    (223,119)       -                   (7,456,708)    
Vehicles and Equipment (2,061,928)    (174,450)       68,583          (2,167,795)    
Infrastructure (33,569,268)  (1,314,719)    -                   (34,883,987)  

Total Accumulated Depreciation (42,864,785)  (1,712,288)    68,583          (44,508,490)  
Capital Assets Being Depreciated, Net 36,191,500   (1,589,087)    -                   34,602,413   

Total Capital Assets - Governmental Activities 43,712,353$  (1,102,895)$  -$                 42,609,458$  

Business-type Activities

Capital Assets, Not Being Depreciated:
Land and Improvements 3,724$          -$                 -$                 3,724$          
Construction in Progress 321,258        130,478        -                   451,736        

Total Capital Assets, Not Being Depreciated 324,982        130,478        -                   455,460        
Capital Assets, Being Depreciated:

Machinery and Equipment 1,371,762     25,061          (29,607)         1,367,216     
Infrastructure 14,670,661   -                   -                   14,670,661   

Total Capital Assets, Being Depreciated 16,042,423   25,061          (29,607)         16,037,877   
Less Accumulated Depreciation:

Machinery and Equipment (1,153,850)    (90,250)         29,607          (1,214,493)    
Infrastructure (7,789,639)    (180,943)       -                   (7,970,582)    

Total Accumulated Depreciation (8,943,489)    (271,193)       29,607          (9,185,075)    
Capital Assets Being Depreciated, Net 7,098,934     (246,132)       -                   6,852,802     

Total Capital Assets - Business-type Activities 7,423,916$   (115,654)$     -$                 7,308,262$   
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5. CAPITAL ASSETS – Continued 

 

Depreciation expense was allocated to the various governmental activities functions as follows: 

 

 
 

6. LONG TERM DEBT 
 

The following is a summary of changes in the City’s long-term liabilities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021: 
 

 
 

For governmental activities, compensated absences, the OPEB liability and the net pension liability are generally 
liquidated by the General Fund. 

 
Fiduciary Fund Long-term Debt 
 
A summary of the Successor Agency Fiduciary Fund long-term debt for the 2020-2021 fiscal year is as follows: 

 
 

 
 

2014 Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds:  In August 2014, the Successor Agency issued $5,740,000 of Tax Allocation 
Bonds with interest rates varying from 2.00% to 5.00% and payable semi-annually on February 1 and August 1 of 
each year. The bonds mature annually at various amounts through August 1, 2037. The Bond proceeds were used 
to refund previously outstanding Tax Allocation Bonds.  Future debt service requirements are as follows: 

 

General Government 44,632$           
Public Safety 131,414           
Public Works 1,407,453        
Community Development 128,789           

Total Governmental Depreciation 1,712,288$      

Beginning Ending Due Within
Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year

Governmental Activities:
Direct Borrowing:

Capital Lease Payable 84,558$             -$                       (84,558)$            -$                       -$                       
Compensated Absences 591,630             19,797               (18,284)              593,143             22,050               
Total OPEB Liability 3,183,889          -                         (84,385)              3,099,504          -                         
Net Pension Liability 6,007,935          625,180             -                         6,633,115          -                         
Claims Payable 749,600             -                         (609,391)            140,209             86,900               

Total 10,617,612$      644,977$           (796,618)$          10,465,971$      108,950$           

Business-type Activities:
Compensated Absences 87,160$             22,744$             (33,044)$            76,860$             13,977$             
Total OPEB Liability 795,972             -                         (21,095)              774,877             -                         
Net Pension Liability 2,293,833          204,747             -                         2,498,580          -                         
Claims Payable 187,400             -                         (152,348)            35,052               21,700               

Total 3,364,365$        227,491$           (206,487)$          3,385,369$        35,677$             

Beginning Ending Due Within
Tax Allocation Bonds: Balance Additions Deletions Balance One Year

Series 2014, Refunding 5,165,000$     -$                   (130,000)$       5,035,000$     135,000$        
Series 2019, Refunding 15,500,000     -                    (825,000)         14,675,000     640,000          
Premium 423,062          -                    (35,255)          387,807          35,255            

Total 21,088,062$   -$                   (990,255)$       20,097,807$   810,255$        
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6. LONG TERM DEBT – Continued 

 

 
 

2019 Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds:  In December 2019, the Successor Agency issued $15,500,000 of Tax 
Allocation Refunding Bonds (2019 Bonds) with interest rates varying from 2.2% to 4.00%, payable semi-annually 
on February 1 and August 1 of each year. The bonds mature annually at various amounts through August 1, 2037. 
The 2019 Bond proceeds were placed in escrow to fully refund previously outstanding 2007 and 2010 Tax Allocation 
Bonds.  As a result, the 2007 and 2010 Tax Allocation Bonds have been removed from the Successor Agency 
financial statements. 

 

Future debt service requirements for the 2019 Bonds are as follows: 

 

 
 

 

 

Fiscal Year Ending
June 30, Principal Interest Total

2022 135,000$         196,993$         331,993$         
2023 135,000           192,605           327,605           
2024 145,000           186,786           331,786           
2025 140,000           179,661           319,661           
2026 150,000           172,411           322,411           
2027 165,000           165,877           330,877           
2028 165,000           160,205           325,205           
2029 170,000           154,215           324,215           
2030 835,000           135,456           970,456           
2031 875,000           102,300           977,300           
2032 910,000           66,600             976,600           
2033 505,000           38,300             543,300           
2034 345,000           21,300             366,300           
2035 360,000           7,200               367,200           

Totals 5,035,000$     1,779,909$     6,814,909$     

Fiscal Year Ending
June 30, Principal Interest Total

2022 640,000$         522,121$         1,162,121$     
2023 665,000           500,626           1,165,626        
2024 675,000           478,195           1,153,195        
2025 725,000           454,433           1,179,433        
2026 745,000           429,040           1,174,040        
2027 765,000           402,434           1,167,434        
2028 795,000           374,556           1,169,556        
2029 815,000           345,411           1,160,411        
2030 350,000           324,912           674,912           
2031 350,000           312,903           662,903           
2032 370,000           299,832           669,832           
2033 845,000           277,774           1,122,774        
2034 1,055,000        243,279           1,298,279        
2035 1,095,000        204,246           1,299,246        
2036 1,535,000        154,794           1,689,794        
2037 1,590,000        94,591             1,684,591        
2038 1,660,000        31,980             1,691,980        

Totals 14,675,000$   5,451,127$     20,126,127$   
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7. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN 
 
General Information about the Defined Benefit Pension Plan 
 
Plan Descriptions – All qualified permanent and probationary employees are eligible to participate in the Public 
Agency Cost-Sharing Multiple-Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plan (Plan) administered by the California Public 
Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS.) The Plan consists of individual rate plans (benefit tiers) within a safety 
risk pool and a miscellaneous risk pool.  Plan assets may be used to pay benefits for any employer rate plan of the 
safety and miscellaneous pools.  Accordingly, rate plans within the safety or miscellaneous pools are not separate 
plans under GASB Statement No. 68. 
 
Individual employers may sponsor more than one rate plan in the miscellaneous or safety risk pools.  The City 
sponsors five rate plans (three miscellaneous and two safety).  Benefit provisions under the Plan are established 
by State statute and City resolution. CalPERS issues publicly available reports that include a full description of the 
pension plan regarding benefit provisions, assumptions and membership information that can be found on the 
CalPERS website. 
 
Benefits Provided – The Plan is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by 
the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS). A full description of the pension plan benefit 
provisions, assumptions for funding purposes but not accounting purposes, and membership information is listed 
in the June 30, 2019 Annual Actuarial Valuation Report. Details of the benefits provided can be obtained in Appendix 
B of the June 30, 2019 actuarial valuation report. This report is a publicly available valuation report that can be 
obtained at the CalPERS’ website under Forms and Publications. 
 
The rate plan provisions and benefits in effect at June 30, 2021, are summarized as follows: 
 

 
 

Contributions – Section 20814(c) of the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law requires that the employer 
contribution rates for all public employers be determined on an annual basis by the actuary and shall be effective 
on the July 1 following notice of a change in the rate.  Funding contributions for the Plan are determined annually 
on an actuarial basis as of June 30 by CalPERS. 

Miscellaneous Miscellaneous
Miscellaneous Tier II PEPRA

Prior to Prior to On or after
Hire date November 12, 2005 January 1, 2013 January 1, 2013

Benefit formula 2.5% @ 55 2% @ 60 2% @ 62
single highest year 36 month average 36 month average

Benefit vesting schedule 5 years service 5 years service 5 years service
Benefit payments monthly for life monthly for life monthly for life
Retirement age 50 50 52
Monthly benefits, as a % of eligible compensation 2% to 2.5% 1.092% to 2.418% 1% to 2.5%
Required employee contribution rates 8% 7% 6.25%
Required employer contribution rates 12.361% + $421,810 8.794% + $1,305 7.732% + $1,658

Safety
Safety PEPRA

Prior to On or after
Hire date January 1, 2013 January 1, 2013

Benefit formula 3% @ 55 2.7% @ 57
single highest year 36 month average

Benefit vesting schedule 5 years service 5 years service
Benefit payments monthly for life monthly for life
Retirement age 50 50
Monthly benefits, as a % of eligible compensation 2.4% to 3% 2% to 2.7%
Required employee contribution rates 9% 12%
Required employer contribution rates 21,746% + $165,890 13.044% + $2,387
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7. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN – Continued 
 
The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned by 
employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability.  The City is required 
to contribute the difference between the actuarially determined rate and the contribution rate of employees. 
 
Beginning in fiscal year 2016, CalPERS collects employer contributions for the Plan as a percentage of payroll for 
the normal cost portion as noted in the rates above and as a dollar amount for contributions toward the unfunded 
liability. The dollar amounts are billed on a monthly basis. The City’s required contribution for the unfunded liability 
was $573,324 in fiscal year 2021. 
 
The City’s contributions to the Plan for the year ended June 30, 2021 were $1,154,805. 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 

 
As of June 30, 2020, the City reported a liability of $9,131,695 for its proportionate share of the net pension liability. 
The City’s net pension liability for the Plan is measured as of June 30, 2020, and the total pension liability for the 
Plan used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2019 rolled 
forward to June 30, 2020 using standard update procedures.  The City’s proportion of the net pension liability was 
based on a projection of the City’s long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the projected 
contributions of all participating employers, actuarially determined. 
 
The City’s proportionate share of the Plan’s net pension liability as of June 30, 2019 and 2020 was as follows: 
 

 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2021, the City recognized pension expense of $1,896,524.  At June 30, 2021, the City 
reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following 
sources: 

 
 
The $1,154,805 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to contributions subsequent to the measurement 
date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2022. Other amounts 
reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized 
as pension expense as follows: 

 

Proportion - June 30, 2019 0.08102%
Proportion - June 30, 2020 0.08393%
Change - Increase (Decrease) 0.00291%

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources

Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date 1,154,805$            -$                           
Differences between actual and expected experience 537,082                 -                             
Changes in assumptions -                             55,413                   
Change in employer's proportion 387,819                 -                             
Differences between the employer's contributions and

the employer's proportionate share of contributions 81,794                   453,430                 
Net differences between projected and actual
  earnings on plan investments 250,890                 -                             

Total 2,412,390$            508,843$               

Year Ending
June 30,

2022 158,693$               
2023 265,890                 
2024 202,634                 
2025 121,525                 
2026 -                             

Thereafter -                             
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7. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN – Continued 
 
Actuarial Assumptions – The total pension liabilities in the June 30, 2019 actuarial valuations were determined 
using the following actuarial assumptions: 
 

 
 
The mortality table used was developed based on CalPERS-specific data. The table includes 15 years of mortality 
improvements using Society of Actuaries Scale 90% of scale MP 2016. For more details on this table, please refer 
to the December 2017 experience study report (based on CalPERS demographic data from 1997 to 2015) that can 
be found on the CalPERS website. 
 
Long-term Expected Rate of Return - The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was 
determined using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return 
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.  
In determining the long-term expected rate of return, CalPERS took into account both short-term and long-term 
market return expectations as well as the expected pension fund cash flows. Using historical returns of all the funds’ 
asset classes, expected compound returns were calculated over the short-term (first 10 years) and the long-term 
(11-60 years) using a building-block approach. Using the expected nominal returns for both short-term and long-
term, the present value of benefits was calculated for each fund. 

 
The expected rate of return was set by calculating the rounded single equivalent expected return that arrived at the 
same present value of benefits for cash flows as the one calculated using both short-term and long-term returns. 
The expected rate of return was then set equal to the single equivalent rate calculated above and adjusted to 
account for assumed administrative expenses.  The expected real rates of return by asset class are as follows: 
 

 
 

Discount Rate – The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability for PERF C was 7.15%. The projection 
of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be made at 
the current member contribution rates and that contributions from employers will be made at statutorily required 
rates, actuarially determined. Based on those assumptions, the Plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be 
available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected 
rate of return on plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total 
pension liability. 

Valuation date June 30, 2019
Measurement date June 30, 2020
Actuarial cost method entry-age normal
Actuarial assumptions:
  Discount rate 7.15%
  Inflation 2.50%
  Projected salary increase (1)
  Investment rate of return 7.15%
  Mortality (2)

(1) Depending on age, service and type of employment
(2) Derived using CalPERS’ Membership Data for all Funds. 

New Strategic Real Return Real Return

Asset Class Allocation Years 1 - 10 (1) Years 11+ (2)

Global Equity 50% 4.80% 5.98%

Global Fixed Income 28% 1.00% 2.62%

Inflation Assets -                      0.77% 1.81%

Private Equity 8% 6.30% 7.23%

Real Assets 13% 3.75% 4.93%

Liquidity 1% -                      -0.92%

(1) An expected inflation of 2.0% used for this period.

(2) An expected inflation of 2.92% used for this period.
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7. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN – Continued 
 
Sensitivity of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate – The 
following presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability for the Plan, calculated using the 
discount rate for the Plan, as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it 
were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower or 1-percentage point higher than the current 
rate: 
 

 
 
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position – Detailed information about the Plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the 
separately issued CalPERS financial reports. 

 
Payable to the Pension Plan 
 
At June 30, 2021, the City reported no payables to the pension plan, for outstanding contributions required for the year 
ended June 30, 2021. 
 

8. OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 
 
General Information About the OPEB Plan 
 
Plan Description - The City provides medical coverage for retirees and their spouses. This coverage is 
available for employees who satisfy the requirements for retirement under the California Public Employees 
Retirement System (PERS).  The plan is a single-employer defined benefit post-employment healthcare benefits 
plan.  The City’s health plan does not issue a publicly available financial report, and no assets are accumulated in 
a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 75. 
 
Benefits Provided - Employees are eligible for retiree health benefits if they retire from the City on or after age 50 
and 5 years of service (age 52 for Miscellaneous PEPRA employees), and continue health insurance through a City-
sponsored health insurance plan.  The City will contribute set amounts (as required by CalPERS) towards the health 
insurance premiums (currently $255 for Miscellaneous employees and $350 for Safety employees).   

 
Employees Covered by Benefit Terms – As of the June 30, 2021 actuarial valuation, the following current and 
former employees were covered by the benefit terms under the Plan: 
 

 
 
Contributions – The Plan and its contribution requirements are established by Memoranda of Understanding with 
the applicable employee bargaining units and may be amended by agreements between the City and the bargaining 
units.  The annual contributions to the Plan are based on the costs to provide the benefits as described above on a 
pay as you go basis.  For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, the City’s pay-as-you-go costs were $206,291.   
 
Total OPEB Liability - The City’s Total OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2021 and was determined by 
an actuarial valuation dated June 30, 2021, based on the following actuarial methods and assumptions: 

1% Decrease 6.15%

Net Pension Liability 14,242,133$       

Current Discount Rate 7.15%

Net Pension Liability 9,131,695$         

1% Increase 8.15%

Net Pension Liability 4,918,526$         

Retirees or spouses of retirees
   currently receiving benefits 39
Active employees 53

92
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8. OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS – Continued 
 

 
 
Discount Rate – The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 1.92 percent and is based on the 
Fidelity General Obligations AA – 20 Years index. 
 
Changes in the Total OPEB Liability 
 

 
 
Changes of assumptions reflect a change in the discount rate from 3.60 percent at July 1, 2017 to 3.90 percent at 
June 30, 2018, 3.50 percent at June 30, 2019, 2.20 percent at June 30, 2020, and 1.92 percent at June 30, 2021. 
 
Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to changes in the Discount Rate -  The following presents the Total 
OPEB liability of the City if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-
point higher than the current discount rate: 
 

 
 
 
Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rates -  The following presents 
the Total OPEB liability, as well as what the City’s Total OPEB would be if it were calculated using a healthcare 
cost trend rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current healthcare cost trend 
rate: 
 
 
 
 

Valuation Date June 30, 2021
Actuarial Cost Method Entry-age, Level Percent of Pay
Mortality 2017 CalPERS Experience Study

Age at Retirement 50
Health Care Trend Rate 4% for 2021-2023, 5.2% for 2024-2069, 4% thereafter

Inflation Rate 2.75%
Salary Changes 3.00%
Discount Rate:

As of 6/30/17 3.60%, net of investment expense, including inflation
As of 6/30/18 3.90%, net of investment expense, including inflation
As of 6/30/19 3.50%, net of investment expense, including inflation
As of 6/30/20 2.60%, net of investment expense, including inflation
As of 6/30/21 1.92%, net of investment expense, including inflation

Medical CPI 3.50%

Total OPEB
Liability

Balance at June 30, 2020 3,979,861$            

Changes in the year:

Service cost 165,231                 

Interest on the total OPEB liability 88,935                   

Differences between expected and actual experience (453,019)                

Changes in assumptions 299,664                 

Benefit payments, including implicit subsidy (206,291)                

Net changes (105,480)                

Balance at June 30, 2021 3,874,381$            

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(.92%) (1.92%) (2.92%)

Total OPEB liability 4,455,422$             3,874,381$             3,404,730$             
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8. OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS – Continued 
 

 
 
OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB - For the year ended June 30, 
2021, the City recognized OPEB expense of $194,341.  As of June 30, 2021, the City reported deferred inflows of 
resources related to OPEB from the following sources: 
 

 
 
Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be 
recognized in OPEB expense as follows: 
 

 
 

9. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors 
and omissions; and natural disasters for which the City currently carries insurance.   
 
Risk Pool Membership 
 
The City is a member of the California Joint Powers Insurance Authority (Authority). The Authority is composed of 
123 California public entities and is organized under a joint powers agreement pursuant to California Government 
Code §6500 et seq. The Authority arranges and administers programs for the pooling of self-insured losses, 
purchases excess insurance and reinsurance, and arranges for group purchased insurance for property and other 
lines of coverage. The California JPIA began covering claims of its members in 1978. Each member government 
has an elected official as its representative on the Authority’s Board of Directors. The Board operates through a 
nine-member Executive Committee. 
 
Primary Liability program 
 
Claims are pooled separately between police and general government exposures. (1) The payroll of each member 
is evaluated relative to the payroll of other members. A variable credibility factor is determined for each member, 
which establishes the weight applied to payroll and the weight applied to losses within the formula. (2) The first 
layer of losses includes incurred costs up to $100,000 for each occurrence and is evaluated as a percentage of the 
pool’s total incurred costs within the first layer. (3) The second layer of losses includes incurred costs from $100,000 
to $500,000 for each occurrence and is evaluated as a percentage of the pool’s total incurred costs within the 
second layer. (4) Incurred costs from $500,000 to $50 million, are distributed based on the outcome of cost 
allocation within the first and second loss layers. The overall coverage limit for each member, including all layers of 
coverage, is $50 million per occurrence. Subsidence losses have a sub-limit of $50 million per occurrence. The 
coverage structure includes retained risk that is pooled among members, reinsurance, and excess insurance.  

1% Decrease Current Rates 1% Increase

Total OPEB liability 3,559,040$             3,874,381$             4,369,192$             

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources

Differences between actual and expected experience -$                           839,047$               

Changes in assumptions 668,765                 27,975                   

Total 668,765$               867,022$               

Year Ending
June 30,

2022 (59,823)$                

2023 (30,472)                  

2024 (66,139)                  

2025 (27,883)                  

2026 (13,940)                  

Thereafter -                             
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9. RISK MANAGEMENT – Continued 
 

Workers Compensation program  
 
Claims are pooled separately between public safety (police and fire) and general government exposures. (1) The 
payroll of each member is evaluated relative to the payroll of other members. A variable credibility factor is determined 
for each member, which establishes the weight applied to payroll and the weight applied to losses within the formula. 
(2) The first layer of losses includes incurred costs up to $75,000 for each occurrence and is evaluated as a 
percentage of the pool’s total incurred costs within the first layer. (3) The second layer of losses includes incurred 
costs from $75,000 to $200,000 for each occurrence and is evaluated as a percentage of the pool’s total incurred 
costs within the second layer. (4) Incurred costs from $200,000 to statutory limits are distributed based on the outcome 
of cost allocation within the first and second loss layers. 
 
Excess Workers’ Compensation Program 
 
The City has a retained limit of $150,000 per occurrence for workers’ compensation claims. The Authority’s pooled 
retention is $1 million per occurrence with reinsurance to statutory limits under California Workers’ Compensation 
Law. Employer’s Liability losses are pooled among members to $1 million. Coverage from $1 million to $5 million is 
purchased through reinsurance policies, and Employer’s Liability losses from $5 million to $10 million are pooled 
among members. 

 
Pollution Legal Liability Insurance Program.  
 
The policy covers sudden and gradual pollution of scheduled property, streets, and storm drains owned by the City. 
Coverage is on a claims-made basis. There is a $250,000 deductible. The policy limit is $5,000,000 per member. 
 
Crime Insurance Program.  
 
Formerly called Blanket Fidelity Bond, this policy covers faithful performance, depositor’s forgery, theft of money 
and securities, and computer fraud related to the transfer of money. The deductible is $5,000. 
 
Property Insurance 
 
Property insurance is provided through Public Risk Innovation, Solutions, and Management (formerly CSAC Excess 
Insurance Authority). Insurance protection is underwritten by several insurance companies. There is a $5,000 
deductible per occurrence. 
 
Claims Liability 

 
Claims liabilities of the City are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of the loss 
can be reasonably estimated. Liabilities include an amount for claims that have been incurred but not reported 
(IBNR). 
 
The result of the process to estimate the claims liability is not an exact amount as it depends on many complex 
factors, such as inflation, changes in legal doctrines, and damage awards. Accordingly, claims are reevaluated 
periodically to consider the effects of inflation, recent claim settlement trends (including frequency and pay-out 
amounts), and other economic and social factors.  Settlements have not exceeded coverage for each of the past 
three fiscal years.  The City’s claims activity is reported in internal service funds.  The following is a summary of 
changes in claims liabilities for the past three years: 
 

 

2021 2020 2019

Beginning of Year 937,000$    698,350$    554,327$    
Incurred Claims 58,885        397,163      599,526      
Claim Payments and 

changes in estimates (820,624)    (158,513)    (455,503)    

End of Year 175,261$    937,000$    698,350$    

Fiscal Year Ending June 30,
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10. FUND BALANCES 
 
The details of fund balances as of June 30, 2021 are as follows: 
 

 
 

11. JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY  
 
The City is a member of the Heartland Communications Facility Authority (HCFA). HCFA was created to equip, 
maintain, operate and staff a facility which provides emergency call receiving and dispatching services to 
participating agencies. No determination has been made as to each participant’s proportionate share of fund 
equity as of June 30, 2021.  Complete financial statements may be obtained at the City of El Cajon, Finance City, 
200 E. Main Street, El Cajon, CA 92020. 
 
The City is a member of Heartland Fire Training Authority (HFTA). The purpose of HFTA is to provide a fire-fighting 
training facility and training courses for personnel of the member agencies. HFTA was created on October 1, 1999, 
as amended, by a Joint Powers Agreement (JPA) between a number of cities and fire protection districts in San 
Diego County. For the current fiscal year, the JPA members consist of the Cities of El Cajon, La Mesa, Lemon 
Grove, and Santee, the Fire Protection Districts of Alpine, Bonita-Sunnyside, Lakeside, and San Miguel, the Viejas 
Band of Kumeyaay Indians, and the Barona Band of Mission Indians. One elected official from each member agency 
is appointed to the HFTA Commission. The Commission approves an annual budget based on the costs of operating 
the facility and providing training to member agency personnel. Lemon Grove’s membership cost was $17,449 for 
the fiscal year ending June 30, 2021.  

 
Annual financial statements may be obtained from HFTA, c/o City of El Cajon, Finance Department, 200 Civic 
Center Way, El Cajon, CA 92020. 
 
The Lemon Grove Sanitation District is a participant in the Metropolitan Wastewater Joint Powers Authority (JPA), 
a coalition of municipalities and special districts that share the use of the City of San Diego’s Metropolitan Sewerage 
System. The Sanitation District pays a quarterly amount based on estimates of the District’s cost to use the 
wastewater facilities in advance of each fiscal year. The estimated payments are subject to adjustment once the 
actual usage figures are known and may result in a refund or an additional payment due to the City of San Diego.  
Complete financial statements may be obtained at 276 Fourth Avenue, Chula Vista, CA 91910. 
 

12. SUCCESSOR AGENCY FOR THE FORMER REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
 

A. Background 
 
On December 29, 2011, the California Supreme Court upheld Assembly Bill X126 (the Bill) that provides 
for the dissolution of all redevelopment agencies in the State of California. This action impacted the reporting 
entity of the City since the City had previously reported its redevelopment agency as a blended component unit 
in the City’s financial statements. 

Nonmajor
General Housing Transnet Governmental

Fund Fund Fund Funds Total
Nonspendable:

Prepaid Items 11,189$        -$                 -$                 -$                 11,189$        

Restricted for:
Pensions 1,287,512     -                  -                  -                  1,287,512     
Housing -                  10,836,179   -                  -                  10,836,179   
Public Safety -                  -                  -                  667,920        667,920        
Streets and Transportation -                  -                  321,002        956,660        1,277,662     
Community Development -                  -                  -                  344,410        344,410        
Parks and Recreation -                  -                  -                  53,525          53,525          

Unassigned 9,251,839     -                  -                  (389,005)       8,862,834     

Total Fund Balances 10,550,540$ 10,836,179$ 321,002$      1,633,510$   23,341,231$ 
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12. SUCCESSOR AGENCY FOR THE FORMER REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY – Continued  
 

The Bill provides that upon dissolution of the redevelopment agency, either the City or another unit of local 
government will agree to serve as the “Successor Agency” to hold the assets of the dissolved redevelopment 
agency until they are distributed to other units of state and local government. On January 17, 2012, the 
City Council adopted Resolution No. 3071, electing to become the Successor Agency for the former 
redevelopment agency in accordance with the Bill. 
 
After enactment of the law, which occurred on June 28, 2011, redevelopment agencies in the State of California 
were prohibited from entering into new projects, obligations or commitments. Subject to the control of a newly 
established oversight board, remaining assets can only be used to pay enforceable obligations in existence at 
the date of dissolution, including the completion of any unfinished projects that were subject to legally enforceable 
contractual commitments. 
 
In subsequent years, Successor Agencies are only allocated revenue in the amount that is necessary to pay the 
estimated annual payments on enforceable obligations of the former redevelopment agency until all enforceable 
obligations of the prior redevelopment agency have been paid in full and all assets have been liquidated. 
 
The California Department of Finance has approved the Lemon Grove Successor Agency’s Long-range 
Management Plan and has also issued a Finding of Completion. The State continues to monitor the Recognized 
Obligation Payment Schedule (ROPS) that is filed annually by the Successor Agency. 
 

13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 

A. Grants 
 
Amounts received or receivable from grant agencies are subject to audit and adjustment by grantor agencies. 
Any disallowed claims, including amounts already collected, may constitute a liability of the applicable funds. The 
amount, if any, of expenditures that maybe disallowed by the grantor cannot be determined at this time, although 
the City expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial. 
 

B. Successor Agency 
 
Amounts paid and accrued for the year ended June 30, 2021 (and subsequent years in which the Successor 
Agency is in operation) are subject to review by various State agencies and the County in which the Successor 
Agency resides. If any expenses incurred by the Successor Agency are disallowed by the State agencies or 
County, the City, acting as the fiduciary for the Successor Agency could be liable for the repayment of the 
disallowed costs from either its own funds or by the State withholding remittances normally paid to the City.  

 
The amount, if any, of expenses that may be disallowed by the State agencies or County cannot be determined at 
this time, although the Successor Agency expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial. 
 

C. Other Commitments and Contingencies 
 
The City is a defendant in various pending lawsuits of a nature common to many similar jurisdictions.  City 
management and legal counsel estimates that the potential claims against the City not covered by insurance 
resulting from such litigation would not materially affect the City’s financial statements. 
 

14. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES, AND TRANSFERS 
 
The $265,467 reported in the General Fund as due from other funds represents amounts due from nonmajor 
governmental funds.  These represent temporary, interfund borrowings resulting from routine cash flows and are 
expected to be repaid within the next fiscal year. 
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14. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES, AND TRANSFERS – Continued  
 
The following is a summary of interfund transfers for the 2020-21 fiscal year: 

 

 
 

Transfers of $94,129 and $100,000 were made from the General Fund and Sanitation Fund, respectively, to 
nonmajor governmental funds to fund various project costs. 
 

15. DEFICIT FUND BALANCES 
 

 Deficit fund balances in the nonmajor governmental funds will be eliminated through future collection and 
recognition of applicable revenues. 
 

16. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS 
 

Beginning Net Position for Governmental Activities was increased, and beginning net position for the Successor 
Agency Private-purpose Trust Fund was decreased, by $4,172,984, as a result of transferring housing loans and 
related accrued interest to the City’s Housing Special Revenue Fund.  Beginning Fund Balance in the Housing Fund 
was increased by $3,200,230 as a result of this same transaction. 

 
 

 

Transfers In Transfers Out Amount

Other Governmental Funds General Fund 94,129$             
Sanitation Fund 100,000             

194,129$            
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Variance with
Final Budget

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Taxes and Special Assessments 12,006,454$ 13,126,178$ 14,242,673$  1,116,495$   
Licenses, Fees, and Permits 474,000       800,500       1,117,737     317,237       
Fines, Forfeitures and Penalties 97,250         64,250         1,195,435     1,131,185    
Intergovernmental Revenues 37,000 845,294 827,873 (17,421)
Charges for Services 574,438 651,938       717,804 65,866         
Use of Money and Property 310,000 213,000 307,207 94,207
Other Revenues 10,000         16,500         487,457        470,957       

Total Revenues 13,509,142 15,717,660 18,896,186 3,178,526

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General Government 1,207,661    1,317,474    1,246,180     71,294         
Public Safety 11,204,526 11,347,868 11,201,995 145,873
Public Works 1,332,828 1,849,170 1,276,572 572,598
Community Development 637,085         1,377,085      1,575,339      (198,254)        

Capital Outlay -                    -                    -                    -                    
Debt Service 86,690           86,690           86,689           1                   

Total Expenditures 14,468,790 15,978,287 15,386,775 591,512

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures (959,648) (260,627) 3,509,411 3,770,038

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                    -                    -                    -                    
Transfers Out (94,129)         (94,129)         (94,129)         -                    

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (94,129)         (94,129)         (94,129)         -                    

Net Change in Fund Balances (1,053,777)     (354,756)        3,415,282 3,770,038

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 7,135,258 7,135,258 7,135,258 -                    

Fund Balance, End of Year 6,081,481$   6,780,502$   10,550,540$  3,770,038$   

City of Lemon Grove
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - General Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021

Budgeted Amounts

56



Variance with
Final Budget

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Intergovernmental Revenues -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  
Use of Money and Property -                    -                    122,013         122,013         
Other Revenues -                    -                    -                    -                    

Total Revenues -                    -                    122,013         122,013         

EXPENDITURES
Capital Outlay -                    -                    -                    -                    

Total Expenditures -                    -                    -                    -                    

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures -                    -                    122,013         122,013         

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                    -                    -                    -                    
Transfers Out -                    -                    -                    -                    

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                    -                    -                    -                    

Net Change in Fund Balances -                    -                    122,013         122,013         

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 10,714,166    10,714,166    10,714,166    -                    

Fund Balance, End of Year 10,714,166$ 10,714,166$ 10,836,179$ 122,013$      

City of Lemon Grove
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - Housing Special Revenue Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021

Budgeted Amounts
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Variance with
Final Budget

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Intergovernmental Revenues 688,000$       688,000$       776,767$       88,767$         
Use of Money and Property 2,500,000      2,500,000      18                 (2,499,982)     

Total Revenues 3,188,000      3,188,000      776,785         (2,411,215)     

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Public Works 97,318           97,318           99,610           (2,292)           
Capital Outlay 3,135,677      3,135,677      383,799         2,751,878      

Total Expenditures 3,232,995      3,232,995      483,409         2,749,586      

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures (44,995)         (44,995)         293,376         338,371         

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                    -                    -                    -                    
Transfers Out -                    -                    -                    -                    

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                    -                    -                    -                    

Net Change in Fund Balances (44,995)         (44,995)         293,376         338,371         

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 27,626           27,626           27,626           -                    

Fund Balance, End of Year (17,369)$       (17,369)$       321,002$       338,371$      

City of Lemon Grove
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - Transnet Special Revenue Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021

Budgeted Amounts
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*Fiscal year 2015 was the first year of implementation; therefore, 10 years of information are not yet available. 
 
 

Notes to the Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability 
 

Benefit Changes: None 
 

Changes in Assumptions: In 2017, the accounting discount rate changed from 7.65% to 7.15% 
 
  

Proportionate Plan Fiduciary
Proportion of Proportionate Share of the Net Net Position as

the Net Pension Share of Net Covered Pension Liability a % of the Total
Measurement Date Liability Pension Liability Payroll as a % of Payroll Pension Liability

2020 0.083928% 9,131,695$           3,993,095$           228.69% 76.06%

2019 0.081020% 8,301,768             3,915,557             212.02% 77.21%

2018 0.077492% 7,557,212             4,285,339             176.35% 77.89%

2017 0.077492% 7,685,061             4,129,783             186.09% 76.39%

2016 0.077112% 6,672,556             3,966,818             168.21% 74.06%

2015 0.102377% 7,027,037             4,140,577             169.71% 78.40%

2014 0.101819% 6,335,672             3,916,214             161.78% 79.82%

Schedule of the City's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability
Last 10 Years*
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*Fiscal year 2015 was the first year of implementation; therefore, 10 years of information are not yet available. 
 
 
Notes to the Schedule of Plan Contributions 

 
Valuation Date: 6/30/13, 6/30/14, 6/30/15, 6/30/16, 6/30/17,6/30/18, and 6/30/19 
 

 
  

Contributions in
Relation to the Contributions

Contractually Actuarially Contribution as a % of
Required Determined Deficiency/ Covered Covered

Fiscal Year Contributions Contributions (Excess) Payroll Payroll

2021 1,154,805$           (1,154,805)$         -$                         3,981,855$           29.00%

2020 1,049,105             (1,049,105)           -                           3,993,095             26.27%

2019 962,913                (962,913)              -                           3,915,557             24.59%

2018 894,949                (894,949)              -                           4,285,339             20.88%

2017 813,911                (813,911)              -                           4,129,783             19.71%

2016 909,279                (2,737,595)           (1,828,316)           3,966,818             69.01%

2015 929,245                (1,194,245)           (265,000)              3,854,444             30.98%

Schedule of Pension Plan Contributions
Last 10 Years*
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Schedule of Changes in the City’s 
Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios 

Last Ten Years (or years for which information is available) 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Notes to the schedule: 
 

No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in GASBS No. 75, paragraph 4, to pay related benefits. 
 
Changes of assumptions - Changes of assumptions reflect a change in the discount rate from 3.60 percent at 
July 1, 2017 to 3.90 percent at June 30, 2018, 3.50 percent at June 30, 2019, 2.20 percent at June 30, 2020, and 
1.92 percent at June 30, 2021.  

2021 2020 2019 2018

Total OPEB Liability

Service cost 165,231$         116,516$         114,804$         111,460$         

Interest on total OPEB liability 88,935             144,633           152,187           144,569           

Differences between expected and actual experience (453,019)          (768,359)          (14,999)            (6,897)              

Changes of assumptions 299,664           577,083           193,343           (139,883)          

Benefit payments (206,291)          (217,799)          (224,968)          (219,256)          

Net change in total OPEB liability (105,480)          (147,926)          220,367           (110,007)          

Total OPEB liability - beginning 3,979,861        4,127,787        3,907,420        4,017,427        

Total OPEB liability - ending (a) 3,874,381$      3,979,861$      4,127,787$      3,907,420$      

Covered-employee payroll 3,981,855$      3,995,000$      4,347,161$      4,220,545$      

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of
covered-employee payroll 97.30% 99.62% 94.95% 92.58%

Measurement Period
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1. BUDGETS AND BUDGETARY ACCOUNTING 
 

A. Budgetary Control and Budgetary Accounting 
 

The City Council approves each fiscal year’s budget submitted by the City Manager prior to the beginning 
of the new fiscal year. Public hearings are conducted prior to its adoption by the council. Supplemental 
appropriations, where required during the period, are also approved by the Council. Budget transfers that affect 
the total appropriations for any fund require City Council approval. Budget transfers within a budget code with no 
change in appropriation within the budget code are approved by the City Manager only and do not require approval 
by the City Council. A budget code could be a program, or a division of a City, or a City. In most cases, 
expenditures may not legally exceed appropriations at the budget code level for the General Fund, and fund 
level for Special Revenue, Capital Projects, and Debt Service Funds. 

 
At fiscal year-end, all operating budget appropriations lapse with the exception of encumbered and continuing 
appropriations. 

 
Budgets are adopted for all funds.  During 2020-21, the City made adjustments to the original budget, increasing 
the budgeted expenditures in the General Fund by approximately $1.5 million, mostly due to the receipt of CARES 
Act funding. 

 
B. Encumbrances 

 
Encumbrances are estimations of costs related to unperformed contracts for goods and services. These 
commitments are recorded for budgetary control purposes in the General, Special Revenue, and Capital Projects 
funds. They represent the estimated amount of the expenditure ultimately to result if unperformed contracts in-
process at fiscal year-end are completed. They do not constitute expenditures or estimated liabilities. 

 
C. Continuing Appropriations 

 
The unexpected and unencumbered appropriations that are available and recommended for continuation are 
approved by the City Council for carryover to the following fiscal year. 

 
D. Budget Basis of Accounting 

 
Budgets for governmental funds are adopted on a basis consistent with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America (US GAAP). 
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
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City of Lemon Grove 
Non-major Governmental Funds 

Year Ended June 30, 2021 
 

 
Special Revenue Funds 
 

Gas Tax Fund is supported by revenue from the State gas tax fund. Fund proceeds may be used to research, 
plan, construct, improve, maintain and operate local streets. 

 
Parkland Dedication Fund accounts for fees in-lieu of dedicating park land that are to be used for the purchase 
of park land, the development of new parks, or the major rehabilitation of existing parks. 

Supplemental Law Enforcement Service Fund accounts for State grant proceeds to be used to augment the 
staffing level of Sheriff deputies. 

 
Sundry Grants Fund accounts for grants currently being administered by the City. 

 
CDBG Fund accounts for grant proceeds from the Community Development Block Grant program. Funds are 
expended and then reimbursed by the County of San Diego. 

 
TDA Fund accounts for transit proceeds allocated from MTS for maintenance of landscaping along the trolley 
corridor and maintenance of trolley stations and bus shelters throughout the City. 

Lighting District Fund accounts for activities relating to the Roadway Lighting District which provides for street 
light benefits and enhanced lighting benefits. 

Storm Water Fund accounts for designated storm water program fees and support the City's storm water 
program - a State and Federal mandated program. 

Household Hazardous Waste Fund accounts for the City's household hazardous waste disposal program. 
This program is supported by AB 939 funds which are collected for this and recycling related programs. The 
City relies on this fund for contractual services to provide household hazardous waste events and to promote a 
higher level of recycling within the City. 

 
Wild Flower Assessment Fund accounts for the Wildflower Landscaping Maintenance Assessment District. 
 

PEG (Public/Education/Government) Fund accounts for designated monies from cable franchisees that 
operate within the City. The use of these monies is restricted to capital items that enhance or facilitate public 
access to government information. 

Serious Traffic Offender Fund accounts for impound fees to pay for Sheriff traffic division overtime and other 
traffic related expenses. 

 
Capital Project Funds 

 
Sidewalk Reserve Fund accounts for amounts restricted for larger sidewalk projects. 
 
Main Street Promenade CFD Fund accounts for voter-approved assessments for capital improvements. 

 
Safety Capital Purchases Fund accounts for one-time "SAFE" program monies restricted for public safety capital 
expenditures. 

Transportation Mitigation Fund accounts for fees related to the passage of the Transnet extension. These fees 
represent per housing unit fees for new residential development. Expenditures from this fund are to be used to 
initiate street improvement projects on a major arterial within the City. 
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Supplemental
Law

Gas Parkland Enforcement Sundry
Tax Dedication Service Grants

ASSETS
Cash and Investments 804,763$       97,168$         50,136$         -$                   
Accounts Receivable 90,040           58                  -                     235,912         
Prepaids 517                -                     -                     -                     

Total Assets 895,320$      97,226$        50,136$         235,912$      

LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable 20,747$         43,701$         -$                   112,840$       
Accrued Liabilities 8,411             -                     -                     -                     
Deposits -                     -                     -                     -                     
Due to Other Funds -                     -                     -                     121,119         
Unearned Revenue -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total Liabilities 29,158           43,701           -                     233,959         

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unavailable Revenues - Grants Receivable -                     -                     -                     235,912         

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources -                     -                     -                     235,912         

FUND BALANCE (DEFICITS)
Restricted 866,162         53,525           50,136           -                     
Committed -                     -                     -                     -                     
Unassigned -                     -                     -                     (233,959)        

Total Fund Balances 866,162         53,525           50,136           (233,959)        

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of
Resources and Fund Balances 895,320$      97,226$        50,136$         235,912$      

Non-major Governmental Funds
June 30, 2021

Combining Balance Sheet 
City of Lemon Grove

Special Revenue
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Household Wild
Lighting Storm Hazardous Flower

CDBG TDA District Water Waste Assessment

-$                   -$                   374,418$       48,424$         316,019$       -$                   
-                     109,768         3,329             -                     2,111             -                     
-                     -                     -                     3,746             -                     -                     

-$                   109,768$       377,747$      52,170$        318,130$      -$                  

5,201$           4,661$           23,121$         28,929$         1,922$           305$              
7                    451                1,313             775                516                73                  
-                     -                     -                     -                     127,744         -                     

32,076           109,135         -                     -                     -                     3,137             
-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

37,284           114,247         24,434           29,704           130,182         3,515             

-                     109,768         -                     -                     -                     -                     

-                     109,768         -                     -                     -                     -                     

-                     -                     353,313         22,466           187,948         -                     
-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

(37,284)          (114,247)        -                     -                     -                     (3,515)            

(37,284)          (114,247)        353,313         22,466           187,948         (3,515)            

-$                   109,768$       377,747$      52,170$        318,130$      -$                  

Continued

Special Revenue
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PEG Serious Main
(Public/ Traffic Street

Education/ Offender Sidewalk Promenade
Government) Program Reserve CFD

ASSETS
Cash and Investments 334,770$       39,138$         -$                   33,344$         
Accounts Receivable 12,563           1,678             -                     19                  
Prepaids -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total Assets 347,333$      40,816$        -$                   33,363$        

LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable 2,923$           -$                   -$                   18,997$         
Accrued Liabilities -                     53                  -                     -                     
Deposits -                     -                     -                     -                     
Due to Other Funds -                     -                     -                     -                     
Unearned Revenue -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total Liabilities 2,923             53                  -                     18,997           

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unavailable Revenues - Grants Receivable -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources -                     -                     -                     -                     

FUND BALANCE (DEFICITS)
Restricted 344,410         40,763           -                     14,366           
Committed -                     -                     -                     -                     
Unassigned -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total Fund Balances 344,410         40,763           -                     14,366           

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of
Resources and Fund Balances 347,333$      40,816$        -$                   33,363$        

Capital ProjectsSpecial Revenue

City of Lemon Grove
Combining Balance Sheet 

Non-major Governmental Funds - Continued
June 30, 2021
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Total
Safety Non-major
Capital Transportation Governmental

Purchases Mitigation Funds

13,294$         76,086$         2,187,560$    
-                     46                  455,524         
-                     -                     4,263             

13,294$         76,132$        2,647,347$   

-$                   -$                   263,347$       
-                     -                     11,599           
-                     -                     127,744         
-                     -                     265,467         
-                     -                     -                     

-                     -                     668,157         

-                     -                     345,680         

-                     -                     345,680         

13,294           76,132           2,022,515      
-                     -                     -                     
-                     -                     (389,005)        

13,294           76,132           1,633,510      

13,294$         76,132$        2,647,347$   

Capital Projects
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Supplemental
Law

Gas Parkland Enforcement Sundry
Tax Dedication Service Grants

REVENUES
Taxes -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   
Intergovernmental Revenues 1,082,688      -                     156,726         38,335           
Charges for Services -                     17,100           -                     -                     
Use of Money and Property (230)               88                  -                     (16)                 
Other -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total Revenues 1,082,458 17,188 156,726 38,319

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General Government -                     -                     -                     -                     
Public Safety -                     -                     160,000         42,671           
Public Works 545,835         -                     -                     -                     
Community Development -                     -                     -                     70,891           

Capital Outlay 49,793           68,181           -                     235,912         

Total Expenditures 595,628 68,181           160,000         349,474

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
Over Expenditures 486,830 (50,993) (3,274) (311,155)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In 100,000         -                     -                     -                     
Transfers Out -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 100,000         -                     -                     -                     

Net Change in Fund Balances 586,830 (50,993) (3,274) (311,155)

Fund Balances, Beginning of Year 279,332 104,518 53,410 77,196

Fund Balances, End of Year 866,162$      53,525$        50,136$         (233,959)$     

Special Revenue

City of Lemon Grove
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Non-major Governmental Funds 
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Household Wild
Lighting Storm Hazardous Flower

CDBG TDA District Water Waste Assessment

-$                   -$                   362,091$       -$                   26,437$         10,547$         
60,340           39,858           -                     -                     -                     -                     

-                     -                     -                     70,935           -                     -                     
-                     -                     474                15                  356                11                  
-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

60,340           39,858 362,565 70,950 26,793 10,558

-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
-                     32,020           305,887         142,613         -                     8,963             

81,256           -                     -                     -                     36,669           -                     
501                82,227           -                     -                     -                     -                     

81,757 114,247 305,887 142,613 36,669 8,963

(21,417) (74,389) 56,678 (71,663) (9,876) 1,595

-                     -                     -                     94,129           -                     -                     
-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

-                     -                     -                     94,129           -                     -                     

(21,417) (74,389) 56,678 22,466 (9,876) 1,595

(15,867) (39,858) 296,635 -                     197,824 (5,110)

(37,284)$        (114,247)$      353,313$      22,466$        187,948$      (3,515)$          

Continued

Special Revenue
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PEG Serious Main
(Public/ Traffic Street

Education/ Offender Sidewalk Promenade
Government) Program Reserve CFD

REVENUES
Taxes -$                   -$                   -$                   17,389$         
Intergovernmental Revenues -                     -                     -                     -                     
Charges for Services 51,732           -                     -                     -                     
Use of Money and Property 330                37                  (86)                 28                  
Other -                     5,460             -                     -                     

Total Revenues 52,062 5,497 (86) 17,417

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General Government 34,927           -                     -                     -                     
Public Safety -                     2,152             -                     -                     
Public Works -                     -                     -                     22,105           
Community Development -                     -                     -                     -                     

Capital Outlay -                     -                     5,832             -                     

Total Expenditures 34,927 2,152 5,832 22,105

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
Over Expenditures 17,135 3,345 (5,918) (4,688)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                     -                     -                     -                     
Transfers Out -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                     -                     -                     -                     

Net Change in Fund Balances 17,135 3,345 (5,918) (4,688)

Fund Balances, Beginning of Year 327,275 37,418 5,918 19,054

Fund Balances, End of Year 344,410$      40,763$        -$                   14,366$        

City of Lemon Grove
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Non-major Governmental Funds 
Year Ended June 30, 2021

Special Revenue Capital Projects
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Total
Safety Non-major
Capital Transportation Governmental

Purchases Mitigation Funds

-$                   -$                   416,464$       
-                     -                     1,377,947      
-                     35,229           174,996         
-                     78                  1,085             
-                     -                     5,460             

-                     35,307 1,975,952

-                     -                     34,927           
-                     -                     204,823         

1,086             -                     1,058,509      
-                     -                     188,816         

28,629           -                     471,075         

29,715 -                     1,958,150

(29,715) 35,307 17,802

-                     -                     194,129         
-                     -                     -                     

-                     -                     194,129         

(29,715) 35,307 211,931

43,009 40,825 1,421,579

13,294$         76,132$        1,633,510$   

Capital Projects
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Intergovernmental Revenue 1,084,890$    1,082,688$    (2,202)$         
Use of Money and Property 2,000             (230)              (2,230)           

Total Revenues 1,086,890      1,082,458      (4,432)           

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Public Works 727,720         545,835         181,885         
Capital Outlay 630,000         49,793           580,207         

Total Expenditures 1,357,720      595,628         762,092         

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures (270,830)        486,830         757,660         

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In 100,000         100,000         -                    
Transfers Out -                    -                    -                    

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 100,000         100,000         -                    

Net Change in Fund Balances (170,830)        586,830         757,660         

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 279,332         279,332         -                    

Fund Balance, End of Year 108,502$      866,162$      757,660$       

City of Lemon Grove
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - Gas Tax Special Revenue Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Charges for Services 4,500$           17,100$         12,600$         
Use of Money and Property 700               88                 (612)              

Total Revenues 5,200             17,188 11,988           

EXPENDITURES
Capital Outlay 100,000         68,181           31,819           

Total Expenditures 100,000         68,181           31,819           

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over Expenditures (94,800)         (50,993)         43,807           

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                    -                    -                    
Transfers Out -                    -                    -                    

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                    -                    -                    

Net Change in Fund Balances (94,800)         (50,993)         43,807           

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 104,518         104,518         -                    

Fund Balance, End of Year 9,718$          53,525$        43,807$         

City of Lemon Grove
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - Parkland Dedication Special Revenue Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Intergovernmental Revenues 156,727$         156,726$         (1)$                  

Total Revenues 156,727           156,726           (1)                    

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Public Safety 160,000           160,000           -                      

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures (3,273)             (3,274)             (1)                    

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                      -                      -                      
Transfers Out -                      -                      

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                      -                      -                      

Net Change in Fund Balances (3,273)             (3,274)             (1)                    

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 53,410             53,410             -                      

Fund Balance, End of Year 50,137$          50,136$          (1)$                 

City of Lemon Grove
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Year Ended June 30, 2021
Budget and Actual - Supplemental Law Enforcement Special Revenue Fund
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Intergovernmental Revenues 1,710,283$    38,335$         (1,671,948)$   
Use of Money and Property 750               (16)                (766)              

Total Revenues 1,711,033      38,319           (1,672,714)     

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Public Safety 65,347           42,671           22,676           
Community Development 179,446         70,891           108,555         

Capital Outlay 1,420,755      235,912         1,184,843      

Total Expenditures 1,665,548      349,474         1,316,074      

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures 45,485           (311,155)        (356,640)        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                    -                    -                    
Transfers Out -                    -                    -                    

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                    -                    -                    

Net Change in Fund Balances 45,485           (311,155)        (356,640)        

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 77,196           77,196           -                    

Fund Balance, End of Year 122,681$      (233,959)$     (356,640)$      

City of Lemon Grove
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - Sundry Grants Special Revenue Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Intergovernmental Revenue 427,855$       60,340$         (367,515)$      

Total Revenues 427,855         60,340           (367,515)        

EXPENDITURES
Community Development 427,484         81,757           345,727         

Total Expenditures 427,484         81,757           345,727         

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures 371               (21,417)         (21,788)         

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                    -                    -                    
Transfers Out -                    -                    -                    

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                    -                    -                    

Net Change in Fund Balances 371               (21,417)         (21,788)         

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year (15,867)         (15,867)         -                    

Fund Balance, End of Year (15,496)$       (37,284)$       (21,788)$        

City of Lemon Grove
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - CDBG Special Revenue Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Intergovernmental Revenue 39,165$         39,858$         693$              
Use of Money and Property 200               -                    (200)              

Total Revenues 39,365           39,858           493               

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Public Works 33,631           32,020           1,611             
Capital Outlay 87,740           82,227           5,513             

Total Expenditures 121,371         114,247         7,124             

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures (82,006)         (74,389)         7,617             

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                    -                    -                    
Transfers Out -                    -                    -                    

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                    -                    -                    

Net Change in Fund Balances (82,006)         (74,389)         7,617             

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year (39,858)         (39,858)         -                    

Fund Balance, End of Year (121,864)$     (114,247)$     7,617$           

City of Lemon Grove
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - TDA Special Revenue Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Taxes 348,019$       362,091$       14,072$         
Use of Money and Property 7,075             474               (6,601)           

Total Revenues 355,094         362,565         7,471             

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Public Works 343,822         305,887         37,935           

Total Expenditures 343,822         305,887         37,935           

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures 11,272           56,678           45,406           

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                    -                    -                    
Transfers Out -                    -                    -                    

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                    -                    -                    

Net Change in Fund Balances 11,272           56,678           45,406           

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 296,635         296,635         -                    

Fund Balance, End of Year 307,907$      353,313$      45,406$         

City of Lemon Grove
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - Lighting District Special Revenue Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021

79



Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Charges for Services 61,000$         70,935$         9,935$           
Use of Money and Property -                    15                 15                 

Total Revenues 61,000           70,950           9,950             

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Public Works 155,129         142,613         12,516           

Total Expenditures 155,129         142,613         12,516           

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures (94,129)         (71,663)         22,466           

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In 94,129           94,129           -                    
Transfers Out -                    -                    -                    

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 94,129           94,129           -                    

Net Change in Fund Balances -                    22,466           22,466           

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year -                    -                    -                    

Fund Balance, End of Year -$                 22,466$        22,466$         

City of Lemon Grove
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - Storm Water Special Revenue Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Taxes 23,000$         26,437$         3,437$           
Use of Money and Property 1,000             356               (644)              
Other -                    -                    -                    

Total Revenues 24,000           26,793           2,793             

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General Government -                    -                    -                    
Community Development 87,774           36,669           51,105           

Total Expenditures 87,774           36,669           51,105           

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures (63,774)         (9,876)           53,898           

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                    -                    -                    
Transfers Out -                    -                    -                    

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                    -                    -                    

Net Change in Fund Balances (63,774)         (9,876)           53,898           

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 197,824         197,824         -                    

Fund Balance, End of Year 134,050$      187,948$      53,898$         

City of Lemon Grove
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - Household Hazardous Waste Special Revenue Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Taxes 10,670$         10,547$         (123)$            
Use of Money and Property 20                 11                 (9)                  

Total Revenues 10,690           10,558           (132)              

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Public Works 9,471             8,963             508               
Community Development -                    -                    -                    

Total Expenditures 9,471             8,963             508               

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures 1,219             1,595             376               

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                    -                    -                    
Transfers Out -                    -                    -                    

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                    -                    -                    

Net Change in Fund Balances 1,219             1,595             376               

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year (5,110)           (5,110)           -                    

Fund Balance, End of Year (3,891)$        (3,515)$        376$             

City of Lemon Grove
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Budget and Actual - Wildflower Assessment Special Revenue Fund

Year Ended June 30, 2021

82



Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Charges for Services 56,000$         51,732$         (4,268)$         
Use of Money and Property 5,500             330               (5,170)           

Total Revenues 61,500           52,062           (9,438)           

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General Government 40,000           34,927           5,073             
Capital Outlay 5,500             -                    5,500             

Total Expenditures 45,500           34,927           10,573           

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
Over Expenditures 16,000           17,135           1,135             

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                    -                    -                    
Transfers Out -                    -                    -                    

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                    -                    -                    

Net Change in Fund Balances 16,000           17,135           1,135             

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 327,275         327,275         -                    

Fund Balance, End of Year 343,275$      344,410$      1,135$           

City of Lemon Grove
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - PEG Special Revenue Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Use of Money and Property 500$              37$               (463)$            
Other 4,290             5,460             1,170             

Total Revenues 4,790             5,497             707               

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Public Safety 7,792             2,152             5,640             

Total Expenditures 7,792             2,152             5,640             

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
Over Expenditures (3,002)           3,345             6,347             

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                    -                    -                    
Transfers Out -                    -                    -                    

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                    -                    -                    

Net Change in Fund Balances (3,002)           3,345             6,347             

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 37,418           37,418           -                    

Fund Balance, End of Year 34,416$        40,763$        6,347$           

City of Lemon Grove
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Budget and Actual - Serious Traffic Offender Special Revenue Fund

Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Use of Money and Property -$                  (86)$              (86)$              

Total Revenues -                    (86)                (86)                

EXPENDITURES
Capital Outlay 5,500             5,832             (332)              

Total Expenditures 5,500             5,832             (332)              

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures (5,500)           (5,918)           (418)              

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                    -                    -                    
Transfers Out -                    -                    -                    

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                    -                    -                    

Net Change in Fund Balances (5,500)           (5,918)           (418)              

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 5,918             5,918             -                    

Fund Balance, End of Year 418$             -$                  (418)$            

City of Lemon Grove
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - Sidewalk Reserve Capital Projects Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Taxes 17,350$         17,389$         39$               
Use of Money and Property 100               28                 (72)                

Total Revenues 17,450           17,417           (33)                

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Public Works 23,500           22,105           1,395             

Total Expenditures 23,500           22,105           1,395             

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures (6,050)           (4,688)           1,362             

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                    -                    -                    
Transfers Out -                    -                    -                    

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                    -                    -                    

Net Change in Fund Balances (6,050)           (4,688)           1,362             

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 19,054           19,054           -                    

Fund Balance, End of Year 13,004$        14,366$        1,362$           

City of Lemon Grove
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - Main Street Promenade Community Facilities District
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Intergovernmental Revenues -$                  -$                  -$                  

Total Revenues -                    -                    -                    

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Public Works 2,100             1,086             1,014             
Capital Outlay 41,242           28,629           12,613           

Total Expenditures 43,342           29,715           13,627           

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures (43,342)         (29,715)         13,627           

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                    -                    -                    
Transfers Out -                    -                    -                    

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                    -                    -                    

Net Change in Fund Balances (43,342)         (29,715)         13,627           

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 43,009           43,009           -                    

Fund Balance, End of Year (333)$           13,294$        13,627$         

City of Lemon Grove
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Budget and Actual - Safety Capital Purchases Capital Projects Fund

Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Charges for Services 5,000$           35,229$         30,229$         
Use of Money and Property 40                 78                 38                 

Total Revenues 5,040             35,307           30,267           

EXPENDITURES
Capital Outlay -                    -                    -                    

Total Expenditures -                    -                    -                    

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
Over Expenditures 5,040             35,307           30,267           

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                    -                    -                    
Transfers Out -                    -                    -                    

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                    -                    -                    

Net Change in Fund Balances 5,040             35,307           30,267           

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 40,825           40,825           -                    

Fund Balance, End of Year 45,865$        76,132$        30,267$         

City of Lemon Grove
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Budget and Actual - Transportation Mitigation Capital Project Fund

Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Statistical Section (Unaudited) 
The Statistical Section presents information as required by GASB Statement No. 44. In addition to 
utilizing the basic financial statements, notes to the basic financial statements, and required 
supplementary information, the statistical data presented in this section helps users assess the City’s 
economic condition. Ten-year trend information has been provided when available. The statistical tables 
are footnoted to indicate sources and when accounting data or other information is unavailable. 

The requirement is to provide ten years of data when available for the trend tables in the statistical 
section. The City of Lemon Grove only has reliable available data going back to FY2013 for some of the 
trend tables, therefore these impacted tables are provided presenting 8 prior years plus the current year 
information.  Other statistical tables present data only for years with available information. 

Contents 

Financial Trends: these schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the 
City’s financial performance and well-being have changed over time. 

 Net Position by Category 
 Changes in Net Position 
 Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 
 Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 
 Tax Revenue by Source  

Revenue Capacity: these schedules contain information to help the reader assess the factors affecting 
the City’s ability to generate its property taxes. 

 Assessed Value of Taxable Property 
 Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates 
 Principal Property Tax Payers 
 Property Tax Levies and Collections  
 Taxable Sales by Category 
 Top 25 Sales Tax Producers  

Debt Capacity: these schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the 
City’s current levels of outstanding debt and the City’s ability to issue additional debt in the future. 

 Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type 
 Overlapping Tax and Assessment Debt 
 Legal Debt Margin Information – City 
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Demographic and Economic Information: these schedules offer demographic and economic indicators 
to help the reader understand the environment within which the City’s financial activities take place and 
to help make comparisons over time and with other governments. 

 Demographic and Economic Statistics 
 Principal Employers by Employee Size 

Operating Information: these schedules contain information about the City’s operations and resources 
to help the reader understand how the City’s financial information relates to the services the City 
provides. 

 Full-Time Equivalent Employees by Function 
 Operating Indicators by Function 
 Capital Assets Statistics by Function 

Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the annual financial 
report for the relevant year. 
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City of Lemon Grove

Net Position by Category (Unaudited)
Last Nine Fiscal Years
(accrual basis of accounting)

2013 2014 2015 2016
Governmental Activities

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 42,884,125     $42,652,240 41,846,096$  41,548,007$  
Restricted 9,048,663       8,040,322 13,303,682     10,320,943     
Unrestricted 5,782,409       6,357,413 (292,780)         5,342,344       

Total governmental activities net position 57,715,197     57,049,975 54,856,998     57,211,294     

Business-type Activities
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 5,287,794       5,850,826 5,650,270       5,708,030       
Restricted -                   -                   -                   
Unrestricted 13,849,119     15,314,047 14,949,807     15,409,379     

Total business-type activities net position 19,136,913     21,164,873 20,600,077     21,117,409     

Primary Government
Net investment in capital assets 48,171,919     48,503,066 47,496,366     47,256,037     
Restricted 9,048,663       8,040,322 13,303,682     10,320,943     
Unrestricted 19,631,528     21,671,460     14,657,027     20,751,723     

Total primary government net position 76,852,110$  $78,214,848 75,457,075$  78,328,703$  

Fiscal Year
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City of Lemon Grove

Net Position by Category (Unaudited) (continued)
Last Nine Fiscal Years
(accrual basis of accounting)

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

43,454,713$  44,357,536$  45,064,416$  43,627,795$  42,609,458$  
10,630,122     11,151,485     11,012,460     12,081,617     17,766,991     

2,132,098       (1,700,781)      (760,899)         (1,535,017)      1,072,575       

56,216,933     53,808,240     55,315,977     54,174,395     61,449,024     

6,589,829       7,056,706       7,174,106       7,423,916       7,308,262       
-                   -                   553,967          1,140,548       1,956,146       

15,351,794     15,314,047     16,569,600     19,678,287     21,573,870     

21,941,623     22,370,753     24,297,673     28,242,751     30,838,278     

50,044,542     51,414,242     52,238,522     51,051,711     49,917,720     
10,630,122     11,151,485     11,566,427     13,222,165     19,723,137     
17,483,892     13,613,266     15,808,701     18,143,270     22,646,445     

78,158,556$  76,178,993$  79,613,650$  82,417,146$  92,287,302$  

Fiscal Year
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City of Lemon Grove

Changes in Net Position (Unaudited)
Last Nine Fiscal Years
(accrual basis of accounting)

2013 2014 2015 2016
Expenses
Governmental activities:

General Government 922,962          1,990,375       1,995,938       913,892          
Public Safety 8,681,889       8,802,464       9,146,101       8,858,907       
Public Works 1,821,778       3,386,086       1,613,433       3,975,465       
Community Development 495,097          974,490          2,226,068       1,299,116       
Interest on long-term debt 3,133               2,766               789                  -                   
Total governmental activities expenses 11,924,859     15,156,181     14,982,329     15,047,380     

Business-type activities:
Sanitation 4,364,996       4,657,485       3,948,291       5,194,291       
Total business-type activities expenses 4,364,996       4,657,485       3,948,291       5,194,291       

Total primary government expenses 16,289,855     19,813,666$   18,930,620$   20,241,671$   

Program Revenues
Governmental activities:

Charges for Services
General Government 87,334             415,728          359,414          468,405          
Public Safety 406,164          395,513          943,754          518,866          
Public Works 334,038          353,144          708,119          637,507          
Community Development 339,475          306,285          250,573          216,744          

Operating Grants and Contributions 535,785          1,609,715       2,329,068       1,424,488       
Capital Grants and Contributions 1,805,280       4,578,565       1,540,883       2,043,592       

Total governmental activities program revenues 3,508,076       7,658,950       6,131,811       5,309,602       
Business-type activities:

Charges for Services 5,571,705       5,872,436       6,573,926       6,312,436       
Total business-type activities program revenues 5,571,705       5,872,436       6,573,926       6,312,436       
Total primary government program revenues 9,079,781       13,531,386$   12,705,737$   11,622,038$   

Net (Expense)/Revenue
Governmental activities (8,416,783)      (7,497,231)      (8,850,518)      (9,737,778)      
Business-type activities 1,206,709       1,214,951       2,625,635       1,118,145       
Total primary government net (expense)/revenue (7,210,074)      (6,282,280)      (6,224,883)      (8,619,633)      

Fiscal Year
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City of Lemon Grove

Changes in Net Position (Unaudited) (continued)
Last Nine Fiscal Years
(accrual basis of accounting)

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

1,543,159       2,788,081       935,586          2,094,451       1,442,207       
9,884,392       10,703,373     11,255,122     11,348,111     11,540,363     
4,990,867       3,129,413       4,410,543       5,378,126       4,087,625       

882,340          767,367          751,601          904,438          1,892,944       
-                   -                   -                   -                   

17,300,758     17,388,234     17,352,852     19,725,126     18,963,139     

4,690,722       4,642,513       5,489,606       3,421,848       4,513,177       
4,690,722       4,642,513       5,489,606       3,421,848       4,513,177       

21,991,480$   22,030,747$   22,842,458$   23,146,974$   23,476,316$   

419,353          329,566          768,795          761,102          216,043          
744,377          1,080,647       752,784          535,471          757,768          
109,556          114,917          501,379          438,199          499,470          
583,702          778,438          767,271          1,396,593       1,977,238       
712,587          1,190,544       1,705,356       1,618,626       2,472,960       

4,991,543       1,851,065       1,041,111       964,895          1,155,234       
7,561,118       5,345,177       5,536,696       5,714,886       7,078,713       

6,121,851       6,470,933       6,846,373       6,821,770       6,966,652       
6,121,851       6,470,933       6,846,373       6,821,770       6,966,652       

13,682,969$   11,816,110$   12,383,069$   12,536,656$   14,045,365$   

(9,739,640)      (12,043,057)    (11,816,156)    (14,010,240)    (11,884,426)    
1,431,129       1,828,420       1,356,767       3,399,922       2,453,475       

(8,308,511)      (10,214,637)    (10,459,389)    (10,610,318)    (9,430,951)      

Fiscal Year
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City of Lemon Grove

Changes in Net Position (Unaudited) (continued)
Last Nine Fiscal Years
(accrual basis of accounting)

2013 2014 2015 2016
General Revenues and Other Changes in Net Position
Governmental Activities:

Taxes:
Property Taxes 4,082,435       4,013,905       3,786,926       2,650,773       
Sales Taxes 3,897,070       4,294,760       3,800,925       5,388,718       
Transient Occupancy Taxes 36,756             39,392             44,525             53,184             
Franchise Taxes 889,320          923,592          962,845          965,068          
Motor Vehicle in Lieu Taxes 13,395             11,086             2,027,437       2,135,491       

Investment Earnings 374,463          38,158             10,795             261,750          
Miscellaneous 144,389          27,986             -                   131,113          
Transfers -                   1,506,682       648,500          652,400          

Total governmental activities 9,437,828       10,855,561     11,281,953     12,238,497     

Business-type Activities:
Investment Earnings 33,710             33,680             36,677             131,711          
Transfers -                   -                   (648,500)         (652,400)         

Total business-type activities 33,710             33,680             (611,823)         (520,689)         
Total primary government 9,471,538       10,889,241     10,670,130     11,717,808     

Change in Net Position
Governmental activities 1,021,045       3,358,330       2,431,435       2,500,719       
Business-type activities 1,240,419       1,248,631       2,013,812       597,456          
Total primary government 2,261,464$     4,606,961$     4,445,247$     3,098,175$     

Fiscal Year
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City of Lemon Grove

Changes in Net Position (Unaudited) (continued)
Last Nine Fiscal Years
(accrual basis of accounting)

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

2,454,561       2,643,372       2,860,769       2,953,361       3,236,228       
5,176,561       5,430,108       5,991,547       5,490,759       6,995,948       

52,043             53,413             53,761             46,322             65,549             
938,714          994,365          1,021,549       999,889          1,046,054       

2,272,050       2,443,116       2,621,478       2,768,743       2,918,349       
28,321             51,876             150,581          196,550          136,489          

497,209          64,370             465,704          263,034          487,454          
652,400          589,294          (22,536)           150,000          100,000          

12,071,859     12,269,914     13,142,853     12,868,658     14,986,071     

103,386          154,186          547,617          695,156          242,052          
(652,400)         (589,294)         22,536             (150,000)         (100,000)         
(549,014)         (435,108)         570,153          545,156          142,052          

11,522,845     11,834,806     13,713,006     13,413,814     15,128,123     

2,332,219       226,857          1,326,697       (1,141,582)      3,101,645       
882,115          1,393,312       1,926,920       3,945,078       2,595,527       

3,214,334$     1,620,169$     3,253,617$     2,803,496$     5,697,172$     

Fiscal Year
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City of Lemon Grove

Fund Balances, Governmental Funds (Unaudited)
Last Nine Fiscal Years
(modified accrual basis of accounting)

2013 2014 2015 2016
General Fund

Nonspendable 3,191,052       3,210,420       3,272,823       3,820,517       
Restricted -                   -                   -                   
Committed -                   -                   -                   
Assigned -                   -                   -                   
Unassigned 2,894,023       3,411,395       4,234,784       4,641,085       

Total General Fund 6,085,075       6,621,815       7,507,607       8,461,602       

All Other Governmental Funds
Nonspendable -                   -                   -                   -                   
Restricted 1,228,606       1,028,146       8,613,964       8,665,398       
Committed -                   -                   -                   
Assigned -                   -                   -                   
Unassigned (1,379,913)     (1,202,533)     (128,680)         (933,889)         

Total all other governmental funds (151,307)         (174,387)         8,485,284       7,731,509       

Total Governmental Funds 5,933,768$    6,447,428$    15,992,891$  16,193,111$  

Fiscal Year

99



City of Lemon Grove

Fund Balances, Governmental Funds (Unaudited)(continued)
Last Nine Fiscal Years
(modified accrual basis of accounting)

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

8,578               20,828            110,275          7,479               11,189            
-                   -                   94,048            904,422          1,287,512       
-                   -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   -                   -                   

5,288,540       5,455,171       6,076,600       6,223,357       9,251,839       
5,297,118       5,475,999       6,280,923       7,135,258       10,550,540    

-                   -                   -                   -                   
9,111,912       9,250,604       8,705,792       9,023,976       13,179,696    

-                   -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   -                   -                   

(789,480)         (1,490,516)     (241,905)         (60,835)           (389,005)         
8,322,432       7,760,088       8,463,887       8,963,141       12,790,691    

13,619,550$  13,236,087$  14,744,810$  16,098,399$  23,341,231$  

Fiscal Year
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City of Lemon Grove

Changes in Fund Balances, Governmental Funds (Unaudited)
Last Nine Fiscal Years
(modified accrual basis of accounting)

2013 2014 2015 2016
Revenues:

Taxes and Special Assessments 8,977,850            9,579,850         10,622,661  11,193,234     
Licenses and Permits 405,363                415,580            743,558       673,798           
Fines, Forfeitures and Penalties 72,081                  83,373               112,387       125,713           
Intergovernmental Revenues 2,089,065            2,773,635         3,345,711    2,511,161       
Charges for Services 951,298                553,785            807,764       760,934           
Use of Money and Property 337,227                340,992            259,035       291,651           
Other 145,296                152,180            874,148       319,463           

Total Revenues 12,978,180          13,899,395       16,765,264  15,875,954     

Expenditures:
Current:

General Government 868,059                1,878,121         1,811,784    1,863,692       
Public Safety 8,608,385            8,800,837         9,146,101    9,281,387       
Public Works 1,890,995            2,043,575         1,613,433    2,611,575       
Community Development 2,084,534            879,634            1,248,142    1,173,838       

Capital Outlay 941,622                1,217,629         719,280       1,400,021       
Debt Service:

Principal 18,916                  19,391               22,622          22,621             
Interest 3,675                    3,231                 -                -                    

Total Expenditures 14,416,186          14,842,418       14,561,362  16,353,134     

Excess of Revenues over (under) Expenditures (1,438,006)           (943,023)           2,203,902    (477,180)         

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers In -                         1,506,682         828,500       890,035           
Transfers Out -                         (50,000)             (180,000)      (212,635)         

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                         1,456,682         648,500       677,400           

Net Change in Fund Balances (1,438,006)           513,659$          2,852,402$  200,220$        

Debt service as percentage of noncapital expenditures 0.1% 0.1% 0.2% 0.2%

Fiscal Year
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City of Lemon Grove

Changes in Fund Balances, Governmental Funds (Unaudited)(continued)
Last Nine Fiscal Years
(modified accrual basis of accounting)

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

11,202,092  11,882,362       12,884,470     12,594,392     14,659,137     
464,877        549,632            600,647          628,891          1,117,737       
229,624        277,486            260,211          1,056,195       1,195,435       

5,527,465     1,984,927         3,750,197       2,686,985       2,982,587       
628,332        1,013,845         936,030          706,169          892,800          
290,784        317,528            460,303          572,568          430,323          
504,153        89,166               508,735          295,809          492,917          

18,847,327  16,114,946       19,400,593     18,541,009     21,770,936     

1,172,468     1,541,965         925,148          1,001,126       1,281,107       
9,734,317     10,569,610       11,117,735     11,210,825     11,406,818     
2,914,942     2,530,657         2,975,335       2,720,567       2,434,691       

750,176        628,428            624,516          777,353          1,764,155       
4,152,944     1,730,355         2,181,072       1,440,861       854,874          

76,545          78,474               80,452             82,479             84,558             
10,143          8,214                 6,236               4,209               2,131               

18,811,535  17,087,703       17,910,494     17,237,420     17,828,334     

35,792          (972,757)           1,490,099       1,303,589       3,942,602       

1,011,863     869,589            107,340          176,161          194,129          
(359,463)       (280,295)           (88,716)           (126,161)         (94,129)           
652,400        589,294            18,624             50,000             100,000          

688,192$      (383,463)$         1,508,723$     1,353,589$     4,042,602$     

0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.5%

Fiscal Year
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City of Lemon Grove

Tax Revenues by Source, Governmental Activities (Unaudited)
Last Nine Fiscal Years
(accrual basis of accounting)

Fiscal 
Year Property Sales

Transient 
Occupancy Franchises

Motor Vehicle 
In Lieu Total

2013 2,035,659  3,897,070  36,756       889,320      1,886,844        8,745,649    
2014 2,064,568 4,294,760 39,392 923,592 1,940,667 9,262,979
2015 3,786,926  3,800,925  44,525       962,845      2,027,437        10,622,658  
2016 2,650,773  5,388,718  53,184       965,068      2,135,491        11,193,234  
2017 2,454,561  5,176,561  52,043       938,714      2,272,050        10,893,929  
2018 2,643,372  5,430,108  53,413       994,365      2,443,116        11,564,374  
2019 2,860,769  5,991,547  53,761       1,021,549  2,621,478        12,549,104  
2020 2,953,361  5,490,759  46,322       999,889      2,768,743        12,259,074  
2021 3,236,228  6,995,948  65,549       1,046,054  2,918,349        14,262,128  

Change
2013-2021 59% 80% 78% 18% 55% 63%
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City of Lemon Grove

Assessed Value Taxable Property (Unaudited)
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year Residential Commercial Industrial Dry Farm Institutional Recreational

2012 1,212,005,662  252,141,378  48,966,060  49,073    6,265,085     551,145        

2013 1,224,815,038  249,255,589  49,342,083  50,054    1,526,895     562,164        

2014 1,267,321,315  248,065,737  48,706,700  51,054    2,148,703     573,402        

2015 1,335,707,940  253,580,009  49,419,280  51,285    2,984,786     576,000        

2016 1,416,970,329  260,281,533  50,122,395  52,308    3,046,070     661,045        

2017 1,513,015,900  267,766,616  52,321,004  53,105    1,440,009     596,460        

2018 1,640,935,901  280,511,732  55,264,075  54,166    1,401,823     608,386        

2019 1,768,300,999  306,952,073  58,396,558  55,249    1,429,855     620,550        

2020 1,868,579,982  315,378,878  59,081,156  56,353    1,458,450     712,183        

2021 1,977,527,606  325,886,979  62,536,537  104,500  4,087,617     645,613        

Source: San Diego County Assessor 2010/11 - 2020/21 Combined Tax Rolls
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City of Lemon Grove

Assessed Value of Taxable Property (Unaudited)(continued)
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year Vacant
SBE 

Nonunitary Unsecured Total
Total Direct 

Rate

2012 20,513,105  185,698      53,101,284  1,593,778,490  0.3184%

2013 20,793,432  185,698      55,502,436  1,602,033,389  0.3179%

2014 26,370,679  185,698      54,255,944  1,647,679,232  0.1577%

2015 25,721,861  185,698      53,060,383  1,721,287,242  0.1529%

2016 29,711,514  185,698      52,105,351  1,813,136,243  0.1527%

2017 30,538,789  185,698      53,011,755  1,918,929,336  0.1521%

2018 28,155,314  185,698      55,245,950  2,062,363,045  0.1517%

2019 21,703,893  310,770      57,193,680  2,214,963,627  0.1517%

2020 24,732,809  310,770      62,404,902  2,332,713,463  0.1502%

2021 24,681,534  310,770      65,758,892  2,461,540,048  0.1516%
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
 (Unaudited)




          
          
          
          
          
          
          
          

          

          



 

          
















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City of Lemon Grove

Principal Property Tax Payers (Unaudited)
Current and Ten Years Ago

Principal Taxpayers
Taxable Assessed 

Value

% of Total 
Assessed 
Valuation

Taxable 
Assessed Value

% of Total 
Assessed 
Valuation

EDCO Disposal Corporation 15,753,715$         0.99% 25,296,332$      1.03%
Celsius Lemon Grove LLC 23,337,139        0.95%
Home Depot USA Inc 15,772,547 0.99% 21,999,422 0.89%
Starboard Lemon Grove Dst 20,375,191        0.83%
Miller Family Real Estate 19,818,600        0.81%
TC Hillside Terrace LLC 16,646,892        0.68%
ACI Real Estate Spe 142 LLC 14,637,797        0.59%
Terrace Gardens LLC 12,006,792 0.75% 14,065,642        0.57%
William O Kobusch Revocable Trust 13,021,566 0.82% 11,890,087        0.48%
3240 Olive Property LLC 10,650,000        0.43%
ASP Realty 13,085,000 0.82%
Retail Portfolio 30-1 LLC 14,210,215 0.89%
TRCMM LLC 13,354,125 0.84%
Lemon Grove Holdings LLC 9,453,569 0.59%
Food 4 Less of California Inc 8,203,927 0.51%
Rekab Properties 7,061,149 0.44%
Principal Taxpayer's Totals 121,922,605$      7.64% 178,717,102$    7.26%

Source: San Diego County Assessor Tax Rolls and HdL Coren & Cone

2012 2021
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City of Lemon Grove

Property Tax Levies and Collections (Unaudited)
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year Amount % of Levy Amount % of Levy

2012 1,897,594    1,849,484    97.5% 39,850          1,889,334     99.6%

2013 1,948,684    1,903,574    97.7% 40,561          1,944,135     99.8%

2014 2,039,893    1,986,818    97.4% 34,829          2,021,648     99.1%

2015 2,075,906    2,040,187    98.3% 28,944          2,069,131     99.7%

2016 2,199,719    2,163,332    98.3% 26,963          2,190,295     99.6%

2017 2,341,473    2,298,563    98.2% 26,163          2,324,726     99.3%

2018 2,490,166    2,449,526    98.4% 28,992          2,478,518     99.5%

2019 2,651,596    2,601,502    98.1% 24,641          2,626,144     99.0%

2020 3,002,906    2,933,825    97.7% 30,888          2,964,713     98.7%

2021 3,155,096    3,089,988    97.9% 44,705          3,134,693     99.4%

Source: County of San Diego Tax/Revenue Accountability Report

Collected within the Fiscal 
Year of the LevyTotal Tax 

Levy

Delinquent 
Tax 

Collections

Total Collections
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City of Lemon Grove

Taxable Sales by Category (Unaudited)
Last Ten Calendar Years
(In Thousands, Adjusted for Economic Data)

2011 2012 2013 2014

Auto Dealers and Supplies 88,075$          90,933$          118,538$        136,415$        
Building Materials 78,842            83,986            92,104            94,237            
Eating and Drinking Places 31,830            32,554            34,559            37,616            
Other Retail Stores 27,557            28,452            34,928            38,557            
Food Stores 16,688            22,472            24,998            32,684            
Service Stations 53,613            50,277            46,260            45,027            
General Merchandise 12,095            11,974            11,854            11,967            
Apparel Stores 6,724               6,811               6,217               7,450               
All Other Outlets 52,060            59,132            70,783            83,585            

Total Taxable Sales 367,484$        386,591$        440,241$        487,538$        

Sources: State Board of Equalization, California Department of Taxes and Fees
                   Administration, State Controller's Office, The HDL Companies

Note: Due to Confidentiality Issues, the names of the ten largest revenue payers
             are not available.  The categories presented are intended to provide alternative
             information regarding the sources of the City's revenue.

Fiscal Year
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City of Lemon Grove

Taxable Sales by Category (Unaudited)(Continued)
Last Ten Calendar Years
(In Thousands, Adjusted for Economic Data)

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

133,969$        131,294$        150,839$        150,410$        146,263$        158,022$        
105,437          110,581          118,172          124,696          122,655          133,194          

41,080            43,288            46,063            47,662            49,072            50,050            
40,031            39,627            44,904            40,414            34,663            39,821            
31,743            31,651            31,425            33,475            31,104            27,811            
39,217            37,937            39,398            44,735            41,640            26,645            
12,784            13,385            13,200            13,225            11,453            9,150               

7,743               7,820               7,837               6,647               4,648               3,656               
85,714            91,075            99,691            102,902          109,107          166,611          

497,718$        506,658$        551,529$        564,166$        550,605$        614,960$        

  
 

Fiscal Year
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City of Lemon Grove

Top 25 Sales Tax Producers (Unaudited)
Current and Ten Years Ago

Business Name Business Category Business Name Business Category
99 Cents Only Variety Stores Albertsons Grocery Stores
Albertsons Grocery Stores Arco AM PM Service Stations
Arco Service Stations Boulevard Cannabis Related
Arco AM PM Service Stations Chevron Service Stations
Bob Baker Toyota New Motor Vehicle Dealers Discount Tire Automotive Supply Stores
Chevron Service Stations EW Truck & Equipment Company New Motor Vehicle Dealers
Culligan Water Repair Shop/Equip Rentals Food 4 Less Grocery Stores
DCH Honda New Motor Vehicle Dealers Golden State Gasoline Service Stations
Discount Tire Automotive Supply Stores GTM Discount General Store Variety Stores
EW Truck & Equipment Company New Motor Vehicle Dealers Harbor Freight Tools Building Materials
Factory 2 U Family Apparel Home Depot Building Materials
Federal Arco Service Stations Honda Lease Trust Auto Lease
Food 4 Less Grocery Stores In N Out Burger Quick Service Restaurants
Golden State Gasoline Service Stations Jack in the Box Quick Service Restaurants
Grove Market Convenience Stores/Liquor Larry H Miller Toyota Lemon Grove New Motor Vehicle Dealers
GTM Discount General Store Variety Stores Lidos Italian Food Casual Dining
Home Depot Building Materials McDonalds Quick Service Restaurants
In N Out Burger Quick Service Restaurants Mossy Honda Lemon Grove New Motor Vehicle Dealers
Jack in the Box Quick Service Restaurants Petco Specialty Stores
McDonalds Quick Service Restaurants RCP Block & Brick Contractors
RCP Block & Brick Contractors Shell Service Stations
Rite Aid Drug Stores Sprouts Farmers Market Grocery Stores
Texaco Service Stations Texaco Service Stations
Thompson Building Materials Building Materials Thompson Building Materials Building Materials
USA Gas Service Stations Toyota Lease Trust Auto Lease

Notes: Businesses Listed Alphabetically
               Percent of Fiscal Year Total Sales Tax Paid By Top 25 Accounts = 75.38% in FY 2011-12; 75.72% in FY 2020-21

Sources: State Board of Equalization, California Department of Taxes and Fees
                   Administration, State Controller's Office, The HDL Companies

Fiscal Year 2011-12 Fiscal Year 2020-21
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City of Lemon Grove

Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type (Unaudited)
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year
Capital 
Lease

Redevelopment 
Bonds

Total Population
Debt Per 

Capita

Percent of 
Assessed 

Value1

2012 81,446     -                          81,446          25,603        3 0.01%

2013 62,500     -                          62,500          25,554        2 0.00%

2014 42,644     -                          42,644          25,928        2 0.00%

2015 21,833     -                          21,833          25,856        1 0.00%

2016 -            -                          -                 26,611        0 0.00%

2017 325,963   -                          325,963        26,795        12 0.02%

2018 247,489   -                          247,489        26,834        9 0.01%

2019 167,037   -                          167,037        27,208        6 0.01%
 

2020 84,557     -                          84,557          26,526        3 0.00%

2021 -            -                          -                 26,345        0 0.00%

1Assessed value has been used because the value or personal income is not readily available in California
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City of Lemon Grove 
 
 

Overlapping Tax and Assessment Debt (Unaudited) 
 
 
2020-21 Assessed Valuation:  $2,462,002,677 
 
 Total Debt  City’s Share of  
OVERLAPPING TAX AND ASSESSMENT DEBT: 6/30/21 % Applicable (1) Debt 6/30/21 
Metropolitan Water District  $26,830,000  7.50% $       20,123   
Grossmont-Cuyamaca Community College District  398,340,377  4.338 17,280,006  
Grossmont Union High School District  611,620,166  4.464 27,302,724  
Lemon Grove School District  25,555,955  73.782 18,855,695  
City of Lemon Grove 0  100. 0  
Grossmont Healthcare District  252,257,076  4.096 10,332,450  
  TOTAL DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING TAX AND ASSESSMENT DEBT   $73,790,998   
     
OVERLAPPING GENERAL FUND DEBT:     
San Diego County General Fund Obligations  $211,585,000   0.420% $   888,657   
San Diego County Pension Obligation Bonds  400,125,000  0.420 1,680,525  
San Diego County Superintendent of Schools Certificates of Participation  8,585,000  0.420 36,057  
Grossmont Union High School District General Fund Obligations  33,185,000  4.464 1,481,378  
  TOTAL OVERLAPPING GENERAL FUND DEBT   $4,086,617   
     
OVERLAPPING TAX INCREMENT DEBT (Successor Agency): $19,710,000  100.      % $19,710,000   
     
  COMBINED TOTAL DEBT   $97,587,615  (2) 
 
(1) The percentage of overlapping debt applicable to the city is estimated using taxable assessed property value.  Applicable percentages 

were estimated by determining the portion of the overlapping district's assessed value that is within the boundaries of the city divided 
by the district's total taxable assessed value. 

(2) Excludes tax and revenue anticipation notes, enterprise revenue, mortgage revenue and non-bonded capital lease obligations. 
 
Ratios to 2020-21 Assessed Valuation: 
  Direct Debt  ($0) .............................................................................. 0.00% 
  Total Direct Overlapping Tax and Assessment Debt ........................ 3.00% 
  Combined Total Debt ....................................................................... 3.96% 
 
Ratio to Successor Agency Redevelopment Incremental Valuation ($534,991,220): 
  Total Overlapping Tax Increment Debt ............................................ 3.68% 
 
KD:($500) 
 
Source: California Municipal Statistics 
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City of Lemon Grove

Legal Debt Margin (Unaudited)
June 30, 2021

Net assessed value of all taxable property 2,461,540,048$            

Conversion percentage 25.00%

Adjusted assessed valuation 615,385,012                 

Debt limit percentage 15.00%

Debt limit 92,307,752                   

Total net debt applicable to limit -                                  

Legal debt margin 92,307,752$                 

The City of Lemon Grove has had no indebtedness applicable to the limit during the past ten fiscal years

The Government Code of the State of California provides for a legal debt limit of 15% of gross assessed 
valuation. However, this provision was enacted when assessed valuation was based upon 25% of market 
value. Effective with 1981-82 fiscal year, each parcel is assessed at 100% of market value (as of the most 
recent change in ownership for that parcel). The computations shown above reflect a conversion of assessed 
valuation data from the current full valuation to the 25% level that was in effect at the time that the legal 
debt was enacted by the State of California for local governments located within the state.
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City of Lemon Grove

Demographic and Economic Statistics (Unaudited)
Last Ten Years

Calendar Year Population
Personal Income (in 

Thousands)
Per Capita Personal 

Income
Unemployment 

Rate
2011 25,603          $550,746 $21,511 12.4%
2012 25,554          $557,026 $21,798 8.7%
2013 25,928          $568,108 $21,911 7.6%
2014 25,856          $572,245 $22,132 8.4%
2015 26,611          $568,975 $21,381 6.8%
2016 26,795          $587,240 $21,916 6.2%
2017 26,834          $610,981 $22,768 4.7%
2018 27,208          $605,847 $22,267 3.8%
2019 26,526          $641,998 $24,202 3.7%
2020 26,345          $664,816 $25,235 11.7%

Sources: HdL Coren & Cone report prepared on 09/17/21
                  Population: California State Department of Finance. Unemployment Data: California 

Employment Development Department.
                  2000-2009 Income, Age, and Education Data: ESRI - Demographic Estimates are based on 

the last available Census. Projections are developed by incorporating all of the 
prior census data released to date. Demographic Data is totaled from Census Block 
Groups that overlap the City's boundaries.

                  2010 and later - Income, Age and Education Data - US Census Bureau, most recent 
American Community Survey.
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City of Lemon Grove

Principal Employers by Employee Size (Unaudited)
Last Four Calendar Years

Employer 2018 2019 2020 2021
EDCO Waste Services 1,000 - 4,999 1,000 - 4,999 1,000 - 4,999 1,000 - 4,999
Home Depot 250 - 499 250 - 499 250 - 499 250 - 499
Lemon Grove School District 250 - 499 250 - 499 250 - 499 250 - 499
Albertsons 100 - 249 100 - 249 100 - 249 100 - 249
Aztec Landscaping 100 - 249 100 - 249 100 - 249 100 - 249
Bella Vista Health Center 100 - 249 100 - 249 100 - 249 100 - 249
Lemon Grove Care & Rehab Center 100 - 249 100 - 249 100 - 249 100 - 249
Trident Maritime Systems 100 - 249 100 - 249 100 - 249 100 - 249
Larry H Miller Toyota 50 - 99 50 - 99 50 - 99 50 - 99
Mossy Honda Lemon Grove 50 - 99 50 - 99 50 - 99 50 - 99

Source: City of Lemon Grove and Reference Solutions
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City of Lemon Grove

Full-Time Equivalent City Government Employees by Function (Unaudited)
Last Four Fiscal Years

2018 2019 2020 2021
Function
General Government 12 12 12 9

Public Safety (Fire) 22.5 21.5 21.5 20

Community Development 6 6 6 5

Public Works 18.5 17.5 17.5 11

Community Services 7.5 7.5 7.5 7

Sanitation District 5 5 5 5

Total 71.5 69.5 69.5 57

Source: City Organizational Chart and Classification Summary published in the Annual Budget

Fiscal Year
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City of Lemon Grove

Operating Indicators by Function (Unaudited)
Last Three Fiscal Years

2019 2020 2021
Public Safety

Calls for Service 13,102       12,660     12,684     
Deputy Initiated Actions 7,508         6,886       5,522       
Misdemeanor Arrests 726             805          599          
Felony Arrests 639             623          1,053       
Traffic Citations Written 1,215         641          1,043       

Fire
Fire Calls 114             35             60             
EMS Calls 3,289         3,174       3,474       
Other Calls 321             556          751          

Total Emergency Calls 3,724         3,765       4,285       
Fire Inspections 433             736          404          

Community Development
Engineering Permits Issued 127 82 127
Planning Permits Issued 52 60 103
Building Permits Issued 756 653 885

Public Works
Street Resurfacing (lane miles) 10.86 27 0
Potholes Patched 249 236 1420
Graffiti Removal 443 219 765
Illegal Dumps Cleared 457 394 294

Wastewater
Average Daily Transportation & Treatment (million gallons) 2.285         2.000       1.965       

Source: City of Lemon Grove Operating Departments & Lemon Grove Sheriff Substation

Fiscal Year

120



City of Lemon Grove

Capital Asset Statistics by Function (Unaudited)
Last Three Fiscal Years

2019 2020 2021
Public Safety

Number of Law Enforcement Stations 1                  1                  1               
Number of Fire Stations 1                  1                  1               

Public Works
Miles of Streets 62                62                70            
Number of St Lights (city owned) 450             450             450          

Community Services
Number of Parks 6                  6                  6               
Acres of Parks 14.2            14.2            14.2         
Recreation & Senior Centers 2                  2                  2               

Utilities
Miles of Sanitary Sewer 67                67                67            
Miles of Storm Sewer System 25                25                25            

Source: City of Lemon Grove Operating Departments

Fiscal Year
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INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT ON AGREED-UPON PROCEDURES 
APPLIED TO APPROPRIATIONS LIMIT WORKSHEETS 

City Council 
City of Lemon Grove 
Lemon Grove, California 

We have performed procedures enumerated below to be the accompanying Appropriations Limit 
worksheet of the City of Lemon Grove, for the year ended June 30, 2021.  These procedures, which were 
agreed to by the City of Lemon Grove and the League of California Cities (as presented in the publication 
entitled Agreed-upon Procedures Applied to the Appropriations Limitation Prescribed by Article XIIIB of 
the California Constitution), were performed solely to assist the City in meeting the requirements of 
Section 1.5 of Article XIIIB of the California Constitution.  The City’s management is responsible for the 
Appropriations Limit worksheet.  This agreed-upon procedures engagement was conducted in 
accordance with attestation standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants.  The sufficiency of the procedures is solely the responsibility of those parties specified in 
this report.  Consequently, we make no representation regarding the sufficiency of the procedures 
described below either for the purpose for which this report has been requested or for any other purpose. 

The procedures performed and our findings were as follows: 

1. We obtained the completed worksheets and compared the limit and annual adjustment factors
included in those worksheets to the limit and annual adjustment factors that were adopted by
resolution of the City Council.  We also compared the population and inflation options included in the
aforementioned documents to those that were selected by a recorded vote of the City Council.

Finding: No exceptions were noted as a result of our procedures.

2. For the accompanying Appropriations Limit worksheet, we added last year’s limit to total adjustments
and agreed the resulting amount to this year’s limit.

Finding No exceptions were noted as a result of our procedures.
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3. We agreed the current year information presented in the accompanying Appropriations Limit 
worksheet to the other documents referenced in #1 above. 

 
Finding: No exceptions were noted as a result of our procedures. 
 

4. We agreed the prior year appropriations limit presented in the accompanying Appropriations Limit 
worksheet to the prior year appropriations limit adopted by the City Council during the prior year. 

 
Finding: No exceptions were noted as a result of our procedures. 
 

We were not engaged to, and did not, perform an examination, the objective of which would be the 
expression of an opinion on the accompanying Appropriations Limit worksheet.  Accordingly, we do not 
express such an opinion.  Had we performed additional procedures, other matters might have come to 
our attention that would have been reported to you.  No procedures have been performed with respect 
to the determination of the appropriations limit for the base year, as defined by the League publication 
entitled Article XIIIB of the California Constitution. 
 
This report is intended solely for the use of the City Council and management of the City of Lemon Grove 
and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.  However, 
this report is a matter of public record and its distribution is not limited. 
 

 
 
December 3, 2021 
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CITY OF LEMON GROVE 

APPROPRIATIONS LIMIT COMPUTATION 
2020 – 2021 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

2020 - 2021

Change in Per Capita Personal Income 3.73%

Population Change
City Population Growth 0.38%

Change in Per Capita Personal Income Converted to a Ratio 1.0373

Population Change Converted to a Ratio 1.0038

Calculation Growth Factor 1.0412

2019-2020 Appropriations Limit 52,100,138$  

2020-2021 Appropriations Limit
($52,100,138 X 1.0412) 54,246,664$  
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December 3, 2021 

City Council 
City of Lemon Grove 
Lemon Grove, CA 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, business-type activities, 
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Lemon Grove for 
the year ended June 30, 2021.  Professional standards require that we provide you with 
information about our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards, Government 
Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, as well as certain information related to the 
planned scope and timing of our audit.  We have communicated such information in our letter to 
you dated July 20, 2021.  Professional standards also require that we communicate to you the 
following information related to our audit. 

Significant Audit Findings 

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies.  The 
significant accounting policies used by the City are described in Note 1 to the financial statements.  
No new accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies was not changed 
during the fiscal year. We noted no transactions entered into by the City during the year for which 
there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus.  All significant transactions have been 
recognized in the financial statements in the proper period. 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management 
and are based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and 
assumptions about future events.  Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because 
of their significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events 
affecting them may differ significantly from those expected.  The most sensitive estimates 
affecting the financial statements were: 

Management’s estimate of the fair value of investments is based on information provided 
by financial institutions.  We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop 
the fair value of investments in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial 
statements as a whole. 
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Management’s estimate of capital assets depreciation is based on historical estimates of 
each capitalized item’s useful life.  We evaluated key factors and assumptions used to 
develop the estimated useful lives in determining that they are reasonable in relation to 
the financial statements as a whole. 
 
Management’s estimates for the net pension and net OPEB liabilities are based on 
actuarial information provided by the California Public Employee Retirement System’s 
(CalPERS) actuarial office, and other sources. We evaluated the key factors and 
assumptions to develop these liabilities in determining that the estimated liabilities are 
reasonable in relation to the financial statements as a whole. 
 

Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to 
financial statement users.  The most sensitive disclosure affecting the financial statements were: 
 

The disclosure of the fair value of investments in Note 2 to the financial statements 
represents amounts susceptible to market fluctuation. 
 
The disclosures in Note 4 regarding an allowance for doubtful accounts established for 
the amounts owed to the City by the Successor Agency, is based on management’s 
current estimates. 
 
The disclosure of accumulated depreciation in Note 5 to the financial statements is based 
on estimated useful lives which could differ from actual useful lives of each capitalized 
item. 
 
The disclosures for the net pension and net OPEB liabilities in Notes 6, 7 and 8 to the 
financial statements are based on assumptions for discount rates, etc., which could differ 
from actual experience. The notes disclose the differences in these liabilities if different 
assumptions are used in estimating these liabilities. 
 

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 
 
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and 
completing our audit. 
 
Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 
 
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified 
during the audit, other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level 
of management. The following material misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures 
were corrected by management: 
 

(1) Adjustments were made to revenue and receivables at year-end. 
(2) Adjustments were made to expenses and payroll liabilities at year-end. 
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Disagreements with Management 
 
For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, 
or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the 
financial statements or the auditor’s report.  We are pleased to report that no such disagreements 
arose during the course of our audit. 
 
Management Representations 
 
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the 
management representation letter dated December 3, 2021. 
 
Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 
 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and 
accounting matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations.  If a consultation 
involves application of an accounting principle to the City’s financial statements or a determination 
of the type of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our professional 
standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has 
all the relevant facts.  To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants. 
 
Other Audit Findings or Issues 
 
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and 
auditing standards, with management each year prior to retention as the City’s auditors.  However, 
these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our 
responses were not a condition to our retention. 
 
Other Matters 
 
With respect to the supplementary information accompanying the financial statements, we made 
certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the 
information to determine that the information complies with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the 
prior period, and the information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial 
statements.  We compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying 
accounting records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements 
themselves. 
 
New Accounting Pronouncements 
 
As described in the notes to the financial statements, GASB has issued various new accounting 
pronouncements which may significantly affect the City’s financial reporting in the future. 
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Restrictions on Use 
 
This information is intended solely for the use of the City Council and management of the City 
and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 
 
Very truly yours, 
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and  
on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements  

Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

City Council 
City of Lemon Grove 
Lemon Grove, California 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, business-type activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the 
City of Lemon Grove (City), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2021, and the related notes to the 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements, and have issued 
our report thereon dated December 3, 2021. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City’s internal control 
over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, we do 
not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a 
timely basis.   A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may 
exist that were not identified.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies 
in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. We did identify certain deficiencies in 
internal control, described in the accompanying schedule of findings and responses as items 2021-1 and 
2021-2 that we consider to be significant deficiencies. 
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Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City’s financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on 
the determination of financial statement amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with 
those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. 
The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
City of Lemon Grove’s Response to Findings 
 
The City’s response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the accompanying schedule of 
findings and responses.  The City’s response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal 
control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 

 
 
December 3, 2021 
 
 

2



CITY OF LEMON GROVE 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND RESPONSES 

Year Ended June 30, 2021 

 

 
2021-1 Segregation of Incompatible Duties 
 
Condition: 
 
Our audit procedures included a review and evaluation of the City’s business license function, including 
the billing and collection of business license fees.  Based on our procedures, we noted that the cash 
receipts clerk at City Hall is responsible for administering the business license program.  This includes 
the billing and collection functions, and maintaining the business license database. 
 
Additionally, due to turnover in the Finance Department, the City does not currently have an employee 
reconciling the cash receipts recorded in the general ledger against the business license database. 
 
Criteria: 
 
In a strong internal control environment, the billing and collection functions should be segregated.  The 
individual responsible for administering the business license function should not also be handling 
incoming payments.  If this is not practical, personnel independent of the business license function should 
periodically reconcile the information in the business license software with the revenue recorded in the 
general ledger and also the bank deposits. 
 
Cause of Condition: 
 
Incompatible duties performed by the same individual creates opportunity for business license revenues 
to be received but not recorded in the City’s general ledger. Additionally, due to turnover in the Finance 
Department, the City has not reassigned the responsibility of reconciling business licenses. 
 
Potential Effect of Condition: 
 
Lack of internal controls in the City’s business license function could result in payments being collected 
that are not ultimately recorded in the City’s general ledger and deposited into the City’s bank accounts. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
We recommend the City evaluate the business license function to determine if the collection function 
could be segregated from the administration/billing function.  At a minimum, City management should 
establish procedures for independent personnel to reconcile the business license activity to the revenue 
in the general ledger and bank deposits. 
 
Management’s Response: 
 
The City agrees that in a strong internal control environment, billing and collection functions should be 
segregated. The City’s Finance Department has limited staff and complete segregation of duties is not 
always achievable. The City has agreed to institute several mitigating controls (for example: tasked the 
Accounting Analyst to match the daily cash receipts report with the daily bank deposit report. In addition, 
business license reports are reviewed by the Finance Manager on a monthly basis and cross checked to 
the cash receipts reports) to reduce the risks of fraud and errors that can occur with weak internal 
controls.  
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CITY OF LEMON GROVE 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND RESPONSES 

Year Ended June 30, 2021 

 

 
2021-2 Reconciliation of Building/Planning/Engineering Permits 
 
Condition: 
 
Based on audit procedures performed for the 2020-2021 audit, we noted certain conditions indicating a 
lack of oversight and internal control in the Development Services Department. We confirmed with permit 
technicians at the City that permits can be issued and marked as “final” without a corresponding cash 
receipt; we were unable to identify controls within the City’s permit software that would require an 
applicant to pay their fees prior to the issuance of a permit. We found no indication of an employee 
performing a reconciliation between the permits issued and the cash receipts collected.  
 
Criteria: 
 
It is important for the City to maintain strong internal controls over the assessment and collection of fees 
in the Building and Planning Departments.   
 
Cause of Condition: 
 
The City operates with limited staff, resulting in challenges related to proper segregation of duties and 
oversight of timely reconciliations. Current management has been taking steps to address this issue. 
 
Potential Effect of Condition: 
 
A permit could potentially be issued without the City receiving payment of the applicable fees.  
 
Recommendation: 
 
We recommend that the City implement procedures that include the reconciliation of the permits issued 
to the revenue collected and recorded. 
 
Management’s Response: 
 
Strong internal controls over the collection of fees in the Development Services Department is essential 
for consistency and public trust. Currently, the Accounting Analyst prepares a weekly cash receipt report 
for building permit activity. The Building Permit Technician then reconciles the permits issued to the cash 
receipts report. The cash receipts report and the reconciliation are then reviewed by the Associate 
Planner. 
 
Although the recommended reconciliation is already taking place, the employee completing the 
reconciliation is the same person who issues and finalizes most permits. The Accounting Analyst now 
separately reconciles the permit activity to the cash receipt activity during their weekly review. In addition, 
the Finance Manager reviews the Permit report quarterly to identify accounts in deficit so timely billing is 
completed to bring the account back to a positive balance. 
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CITY OF LEMON GROVE 

CITY COUNCIL 
STAFF REPORT 

Item No.    

Meeting Date: 

Submitted to: 

Department: 

Staff Contact: 

Item Title: 

4. 

December 7, 2021 

Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 

City Attorney’s Office 

 Kristen Steinke, City Attorney; ksteinke@bwslaw.com  

Second Reading of State Mandated Organic Waste 

Disposal Ordinance  

Recommended Action: Introduce for its second reading Ordinance 459 “An 
Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Lemon Grove, California amending Chapter 
13.28 of the Lemon Grove Municipal Code to comply with State mandated organic waste 
disposal requirements.” 

Summary/Background: Senate Bill No. 1383 mandates the implementation of an 
enforceable ordinance to ensure waste generator compliance with local regulations.  The 
proposed amendments in the attached ordinance (Attachment A) include the required 
provisions of SB 1383, as outlined in CalRecycle’s model ordinance.   

This item was originally considered and adopted by a unanimous vote of the City Council 
on November 16, 2021.  This is the second reading of the proposed ordinance.  If adopted, 
the ordinance will become effective in 30 days.  

Discussion: Senate Bill No. 1383 (SB 1383) was signed into law on September 19, 2016, 
to reduce organic waste disposal by 75% and increase edible food recovery by 20%, by 
2025. SB 1383 is the most significant waste reduction mandate to be adopted in the State 
of California in the last 30 years and requires all jurisdictions to implement a mandatory 
organic recycling ordinance by January 1, 2022. This Legislation requires all businesses, 
residents, and multi-family apartments to have access to recycling programs that capture 
food scraps, landscaping waste, and other organic waste materials.  

As a result of SB 1383, the California Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery 
(CalRecycle), which is the state department tasked with administering California's waste 
and recycling programs, developed prescriptive regulations to achieve the State's outlined 
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organic waste disposal goals by 2025. In November 2020, CalRecycle released the final 
regulations for SB 1383.  
 
The action before the City Council is to introduce for its second reading Ordinance 459 
amending Chapter 13.28 of the Lemon Grove Municipal Code to comply with state 
mandated organic waste disposal requirements. 
 
SB 1383 requires the City to adopt an enforceable ordinance to compel businesses and 
residents to recycle their organic waste and to comply with other requirements of State 
Law. In order to meet this requirement, the municipal code must be updated. The 
attached ordinance (Attachment A) includes the required provisions. 
 
Environmental Review: 

 Not subject to review  Negative Declaration 
 

 Categorically Exempt 
 

 Mitigated Negative Declaration 

The adoption of the ordinance is not subject to CEQA pursuant to Section 15060(c)(2) 
and 15060(c)(3) of the State CEQA Guidelines, because it will not result in a direct or 
reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change in the environment and is not a “project,” 
as defined in Section 15378 of the CEQA Guidelines. 
 
Fiscal Impact: It is not anticipated that the proposed ordinance will result in any 
immediate fiscal impact. However, programmatic changes to comply with the legal 
requirements of the various State mandates may result in increased operational costs in 
the upcoming budget cycle.   
 
Staff Recommendation: Introduce for its second reading Ordinance 459 “An 
Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Lemon Grove, California amending Chapter 
13.28 of the Lemon Grove Municipal Code to comply with State mandated organic waste 
disposal requirements.” 
 
Attachments:   
Attachment A – Ordinance 459 “An Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Lemon 

Grove, California amending Chapter 13.28 of the Lemon Grove 
Municipal Code to comply with State mandated organic waste disposal 
requirements.” 
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ATTACHMENT A 

ORDINANCE NO. 459 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LEMON GROVE, 
CALIFORNIA AMENDING CHAPTER 13.28 OF THE LEMON GROVE MUNICIPAL 

CODE TO COMPLY WITH STATE MANDATED ORGANIC WASTE DISPOSAL 
REQUIREMENTS 

 
WHEREAS, the California Integrated Waste Management Act of 1989 (AB 939), 

requires the City of Lemon Grove (City) to reduce, reuse, and recycle solid waste to the 

maximum extent feasible before disposal of waste, to conserve water, energy, and other 

natural resources, and to protect the environment; and  

WHEREAS, Assembly Bill (AB) 341 requires the City to implement a mandatory 

commercial recycling program under which, beginning on July 1, 2012, any business or 

any multifamily residential dwelling of five or more units that generates four cubic yards 

or more of solid waste per week must arrange for recycling services; and 

WHEREAS, Assembly Bill (AB) 1826 requires the City to implement a mandatory 

commercial organics recycling program under which, beginning on January 1, 2019, a 

business or any multifamily residential dwelling of five or more units that generates four 

cubic yards or more of commercial solid waste per week must arrange for organic waste 

recycling services; and 

 WHEREAS, Senate Bill (SB) 1383, the Short-lived Climate Pollutant Reduction 

Act of 2016, requires the California Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery 

(CalRecycle) to develop regulations to reduce organics in landfills as a source of methane. 

As adopted by CalRecycle, these SB 1383 regulations (SB 1383 Regulations) place 

requirements on multiple entities including the City, residential households, commercial 

businesses and business owners, commercial edible food generators, haulers, self-

haulers, food recovery organizations, and food recovery services to support achievement 

of statewide organic waste disposal reduction targets; and 
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 WHEREAS, Senate Bill 1383 Regulations require the City to adopt and enforce 

an ordinance or other enforceable mechanism to implement relevant provisions of the SB 

1383 Regulations; and 

 WHEREAS, this Ordinance implements the requirements of AB 341, AB 1826, 

and the SB 1383 Regulations. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Lemon Grove, California, 

does ordain as follows: 

SECTION ONE.    All of the above statements are true and incorporated herein. 

SECTION TWO.  The City Council finds that this Ordinance is exempt from the 

provisions of the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”) pursuant to Section 

15060(c)(2) and 15060(c)(3) of the State CEQA Guidelines, because it will not result in a 

direct or reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change in the environment and is not a 

“project,” as defined in Section 15378 of the CEQA Guidelines. 

SECTION THREE.  That the Lemon Grove Municipal Code Chapter 13.28 is 

amended to read as follows:  SEE EXHIBIT “A” 

SECTION FOUR.  Severability.  If any section, subsection, subdivision, 

paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this Ordinance, or its application to any person 

or circumstance, is for any reason held to be invalid or unenforceable, such invalidity or 

unenforceability shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining sections, 

subsections, subdivisions, paragraphs, sentences, clauses or phrases of this Ordinance, or 

its application to any other person or circumstance.  The City Council declares that it 

would have adopted each section, subsection, subdivision, paragraph, sentence, clause or 

phrase hereof, irrespective of the fact that any one or more other sections, subsections, 

subdivisions, paragraphs, sentences, clauses or phrases hereof be declared invalid or 

unenforceable. 

SECTION FIVE.  Effective Date. This Ordinance shall be effective thirty (30) days 

after its adoption.  Within fifteen (15) days after its adoption, the City Clerk of the City of 

Lemon Grove shall cause this Ordinance to be published pursuant to the provisions of 

Government Code Section 36933. 
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 PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Lemon Grove, State 

of California, on December 7, 2021 by the following vote: 

 AYES: 

 NOES: 

 ABSENT: 

 ABSTAIN:    

      __________________________ 

      Racquel Vasquez, Mayor 

Attest: 

 

 

__________________________ 

Lydia Romero, City Manager 

 

Approved as to Form: 

 

 

_________________________ 
Kristen Steinke, City Attorney  

 
 



Chapter 13.28 MANDATORY RECYCLING 
 
13.28.005 Purpose and intent. 
13.28.010 Definitions. 
13.28.020 Designated recyclables. 
13.28.030 Segregation of recyclable materials. 
13.28.040 Separation of recyclable materials. 
13.28.050 Mandatory separation of recyclables, collection and disposal of solid waste and 
recyclables. 
 
13.28.005 Purpose and intent. 
 
The City finds and declares: 
 
A. State recycling law, Assembly Bill 939 of 1989, the California Integrated Waste Management Act of 
1989 (California Public Resources Code Section 40000, et seq., as amended, supplemented, superseded, 
and replaced from time to time), requires cities and counties to reduce, reuse, and recycle (including 
composting) Solid Waste generated in their Jurisdictions to the maximum extent feasible before any 
incineration or landfill disposal of waste, to conserve water, energy, and other natural resources, and to 
protect the environment. 
 
B. State recycling law, Assembly Bill 341 of 2011 (approved by the Governor of the State of California 
on October 5, 2011, which amended Sections 41730, 41731, 41734, 41735, 41736, 41800, 42926, 44004, 
and 50001 of, and added Sections 40004, 41734.5, and 41780.01 and Chapter 12.8 (commencing with 
Section 42649) to Part 3 of Division 30 of, and added and repealed Section 41780.02 of, the Public 
Resources Code, as amended, supplemented, superseded and replaced from time to time), places 
requirements on businesses and Multi-Family property owners that generate a specified threshold amount 
of Solid Waste to arrange for recycling services and requires Jurisdictions to implement a Mandatory 
Commercial Recycling program.  
 
C. State organics recycling law, Assembly Bill 1826 of 2014 (approved by the Governor of the State of 
California on September 28, 2014, which added Chapter 12.9 (commencing with Section 42649.8) to Part 
3 of Division 30 of the Public Resources Code, relating to Solid Waste, as amended, supplemented, 
superseded, and replaced from time to time), requires businesses and Multi-Family property owners that 
generate a specified threshold amount of Solid Waste, Recycling, and Organic Waste per week to arrange 
for recycling services for that waste, requires Jurisdictions to implement a recycling program to divert 
Organic Waste from businesses subject to the law, and requires Jurisdictions to implement a Mandatory 
Commercial Organics Recycling program.  
 
D. SB 1383, the Short-lived Climate Pollutant Reduction Act of 2016, requires CalRecycle to develop 
regulations to reduce organics in landfills as a source of methane.  The regulations place requirements on 
multiple entities including Jurisdictions, residential households, Commercial Businesses and business 
owners, Commercial Edible Food Generators, haulers, Self-Haulers, Food Recovery Organizations, and 
Food Recovery Services to support achievement of Statewide Organic Waste disposal reduction targets.  
 
E. SB 1383, the Short-lived Climate Pollutant Reduction Act of 2016, requires Jurisdictions to adopt and 
enforce an ordinance or enforceable mechanism to implement relevant provisions of SB 1383 
Regulations. This ordinance will also help reduce food insecurity by requiring Commercial Edible Food 
Generators to arrange to have the maximum amount of their Edible Food, that would otherwise be 
disposed, be recovered for human consumption.  
 



F. Requirements in this ordinance are consistent with other adopted goals and policies of the City. 
 
13.28.010 Definitions. 
     For the purposes of this chapter, certain words and phrases are defined as follows: 
     “Aluminum” means recoverable aluminum materials such as used beverage containers, siding and 
other manufactured items. 

“Blue Container” has the same meaning as in 14 CCR Section 18982.2(a)(5) and shall be used for the 
purpose of storage and collection of Source Separated Recyclable Materials or Source Separated Blue 
Container Organic Waste. 

“CalRecycle” means California's Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery, which is the 
Department designated with responsibility for developing, implementing, and enforcing SB 1383 
Regulations on Jurisdictions (and others). 

“California Code of Regulations” or “CCR” means the State of California Code of Regulations. CCR 
references in this ordinance are preceded with a number that refers to the relevant Title of the CCR (e.g., 
“14 CCR” refers to Title 14 of CCR). 

“City Enforcement Official” means the city manager or their authorized Designee(s) who is/are 
partially or whole responsible for enforcing this ordinance. See also “Regional or County Agency 
Enforcement Official”. 
     “Collection” means the act of collecting solid waste materials or recyclables at residential, 
commercial, industrial or governmental sites, and hauling it to a facility for processing, transfer, disposal 
or burning. 
     “Colored plastic bottles” mean plastic beverage bottles and other bottles marked PET or PETE(1) and 
HDPE(2) on the bottom which have a narrow neck and an opening smaller than the body of the container. 

“Commercial Business” or “Commercial” means a firm, partnership, proprietorship, joint-stock 
company, corporation, or association, whether for-profit or nonprofit, strip mall, industrial facility, or a 
multifamily residential dwelling, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(6). A Multi-Family 
Residential Dwelling that consists of fewer than five (5) units is not a Commercial Business for purposes 
of implementing this ordinance.   

“Commercial Edible Food Generator” includes a Tier One or a Tier Two Commercial Edible Food 
Generator as defined in this ordinance or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(73) and 
(a)(74). For the purposes of this definition, Food Recovery Organizations and Food Recovery Services are 
not Commercial Edible Food Generators pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(7). 

“Compliance Review” means a review of records by the City to determine compliance with this 
ordinance. 
     “Commercial recyclables” mean recyclables from the two commercial subcategories of office 
buildings (of more than twenty thousand square feet) which are office paper, corrugated cardboard, 
newspaper and aluminum; and hospitality (restaurants and taverns) which are corrugated cardboard, 
plastic beverage bottles, glass jars and bottles, white goods (appliances), aluminum, and tin and bi-metal 
cans. 

“Community Composting” means any activity that composts green material, agricultural material, food 
material, and vegetative food material, alone or in combination, and the total amount of feedstock and 
Compost on-site at any one time does not exceed 100 cubic yards and 750 square feet, as specified in 14 
CCR Section 17855(a)(4); or, as otherwise defined by 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(8). 



“Compost” has the same meaning as in 14 CCR Section 17896.2(a)(4), which stated, as of the 
effective date of this ordinance, that “Compost” means the product resulting from the controlled 
biological decomposition of organic Solid Wastes that are Source Separated from the municipal Solid 
Waste stream, or which are separated at a centralized facility. 

“Compostable Plastics” or “Compostable Plastic” means plastic materials that meet the ASTM D6400 
standard for compostability, or as otherwise described in 14 CCR Section 18984.1(a)(1)(A) or 
18984.2(a)(1)(C).   

“Container Contamination” or “Contaminated Container” means a container, regardless of color, that 
contains Prohibited Container Contaminants, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(55). 
     “Corrugated cardboard” means post-consumer waste paper grade corrugated cardboard (#11), kraft 
(brown) paper bags or solid fiber boxes which have served their packaging purpose and are discarded and 
can later be reclaimed for collection and recovery for recycling. 

“C&D” means construction and demolition debris. 
     “Designated recyclable materials” mean materials that are recyclable and/or reusable within the 
following categories of residential, commercial (office and hospitality) and industrial as defined more 
specifically within each category as listed within this chapter. 

“Designee” means an entity that the City contracts with or otherwise arranges to carry out any of the 
City’s responsibilities of this ordinance as authorized in 14 CCR Section 18981.2. A Designee may be a 
government entity, a hauler, a private entity, or a combination of those entities. 

“Edible Food” means food intended for human consumption, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR 
Section 18982(a)(18). For the purposes of this ordinance or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 
18982(a)(18), “Edible Food” is not Solid Waste if it is recovered and not discarded. Nothing in this 
ordinance or in 14 CCR, Division 7, Chapter 12 requires or authorizes the Recovery of Edible Food that 
does not meet the food safety requirements of the California Retail Food Code. 

“Enforcement Action" means an action of the City to address non-compliance with this ordinance 
including, but not limited to, issuing administrative citations, fines, penalties, or using other remedies. 

“Excluded Waste” means hazardous substance, hazardous waste, infectious waste, designated waste, 
volatile, corrosive, medical waste, infectious, regulated radioactive waste, and toxic substances or 
material that facility operator(s), which receive materials from the City and its generators, reasonably 
believe(s) would, as a result of or upon acceptance, transfer, processing, or disposal, be a violation of 
local, State, or Federal law, regulation, or ordinance, including: land use restrictions or conditions, waste 
that cannot be disposed of in Class III landfills or accepted at the facility by permit conditions, waste that 
in the City’s, or its Designee’s reasonable opinion would present a significant risk to human health or the 
environment, cause a nuisance or otherwise create or expose the City, or its Designee, to potential 
liability; but not including de minimis volumes or concentrations of waste of a type and amount normally 
found in Single-Family or Multi-Family Solid Waste after implementation of programs for the safe 
collection, processing, recycling, treatment, and disposal of batteries and paint in compliance with 
Sections 41500 and 41802 of the California Public Resources Code. Excluded Waste does not include 
used motor oil and filters, household batteries, universal wastes, and/or latex paint when such materials 
are defined as allowable materials for collection through the City’s collection programs and the generator 
or customer has properly placed the materials for collection pursuant to instructions provided by the City 
or its Designee for collection services. 



“Food Distributor” means a company that distributes food to entities including, but not limited to, 
Supermarkets and Grocery Stores, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(22). 

“Food Facility” has the same meaning as in Section 113789 of the Health and Safety Code. 
“Food Recovery” means actions to collect and distribute food for human consumption that otherwise 

would be disposed, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(24). 
“Food Recovery Organization” means an entity that engages in the collection or receipt of Edible Food 

from Commercial Edible Food Generators and distributes that Edible Food to the public for Food 
Recovery either directly or through other entities or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 
18982(a)(25), including, but not limited to: 

(1) A food bank as defined in Section 113783 of the Health and Safety Code; 
(2) A nonprofit charitable organization as defined in Section 113841 of the Health and Safety code; 

and, 
(3) A nonprofit charitable temporary food facility as defined in Section 113842 of the Health and 

Safety Code. 
A Food Recovery Organization is not a Commercial Edible Food Generator for the purposes of this 

ordinance and implementation of 14 CCR, Division 7, Chapter 12 pursuant to 14 CCR Section 
18982(a)(7).  

If the definition in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(25) for Food Recovery Organization differs from this 
definition, the definition in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(25) shall apply to this ordinance. 

“Food Recovery Service” means a person or entity that collects and transports Edible Food from a 
Commercial Edible Food Generator to a Food Recovery Organization or other entities for Food Recovery, 
or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(26). A Food Recovery Service is not a Commercial 
Edible Food Generator for the purposes of this ordinance and implementation of 14 CCR, Division 7, 
Chapter 12 pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(7). 

“Food Scraps” means all food such as, but not limited to, fruits, vegetables, meat, poultry, seafood, 
shellfish, bones, rice, beans, pasta, bread, cheese, and eggshells. Food Scraps excludes fats, oils, and 
grease when such materials are Source Separated from other Food Scraps. 

“Food Service Provider” means an entity primarily engaged in providing food services to institutional, 
governmental, Commercial, or industrial locations of others based on contractual arrangements with these 
types of organizations, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(27). 

“Food-Soiled Paper” is compostable paper material that has come in contact with food or liquid, such 
as, but not limited to, compostable paper plates, paper coffee cups, napkins, pizza boxes, and milk 
cartons. 

“Food Waste” means Food Scraps, Food-Soiled Paper, and Compostable Plastics. 
     “Glass bottles and jars” mean food and beverage glass containers including container glass covered by 
the deposit law, and excluding household and kitchen containers such as drinking glasses, cups and 
cooking and serving dishes. 

“Gray Container” has the same meaning as in 14 CCR Section 18982.2(a)(28) and shall be used for the 
purpose of storage and collection of Gray Container Waste. 

“Gray Container Waste” means Solid Waste that is collected in a Gray Container that is part of a three-
container Organic Waste collection service that prohibits the placement of Organic Waste in the Gray 



Container as specified in 14 CCR Sections 18984.1(a) and (b), or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 
17402(a)(6.5). 

“Green Container” has the same meaning as in 14 CCR Section 18982.2(a)(29) and shall be used for 
the purpose of storage and collection of Source Separated Green Container Organic Waste. 

“Grocery Store” means a store primarily engaged in the retail sale of canned food; dry goods; fresh 
fruits and vegetables; fresh meats, fish, and poultry; and any area that is not separately owned within the 
store where the food is prepared and served, including a bakery, deli, and meat and seafood departments, 
or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(30). 

“Hauler Route” means the designated itinerary or sequence of stops for each segment of the City’s 
collection service area, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(31.5). 

“High Diversion Organic Waste Processing Facility” means a facility that is in compliance with the 
reporting requirements of 14 CCR Section 18815.5(d) and meets or exceeds an annual average Mixed 
Waste organic content Recovery rate of 50 percent between January 1, 2022 and December 31, 2024, and 
75 percent after January 1, 2025, as calculated pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18815.5(e) for Organic Waste 
received from the “Mixed waste organic collection stream” as defined in 14 CCR Section 17402(a)(11.5); 
or, as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(33). 
     “Hospitality industry” means any establishment that offers dining services or food or beverage sales 
including taverns, bars, cafeterias and restaurants, as well as motels and hotels, hospitals, schools, 
colleges and other such establishments that have dining services or a restaurant or bar on their premises. 
     “Industrial recyclables” mean recyclables from industry/construction waste streams including dirt, 
asphalt, sand, land-clearing brush, concrete and rock. 

“Inspection” means a site visit where the City reviews records, containers, and an entity’s collection, 
handling, recycling, or landfill disposal of Organic Waste or Edible Food handling to determine if the 
entity is complying with requirements set forth in this ordinance, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR 
Section 18982(a)(35). 

“Large Event” means an event, including, but not limited to, a sporting event or a flea market, that 
charges an admission price, or is operated by a local agency, and serves an average of more than 2,000 
individuals per day of operation of the event, at a location that includes, but is not limited to, a public, 
nonprofit, or privately owned park, parking lot, golf course, street system, or other open space when being 
used for an event. If the definition in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(38) differs from this definition, the 
definition in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(38) shall apply to this ordinance. 

“Large Venue” means a permanent venue facility that annually seats or serves an average of more than 
2,000 individuals within the grounds of the facility per day of operation of the venue facility. For 
purposes of this ordinance and implementation of 14 CCR, Division 7, Chapter 12, a venue facility 
includes, but is not limited to, a public, nonprofit, or privately owned or operated stadium, amphitheater, 
arena, hall, amusement park, conference or civic center, zoo, aquarium, airport, racetrack, horse track, 
performing arts center, fairground, museum, theater, or other public attraction facility. For purposes of 
this ordinance and implementation of 14 CCR, Division 7, Chapter 12, a site under common ownership or 
control that includes more than one Large Venue that is contiguous with other Large Venues in the site, is 
a single Large Venue. If the definition in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(39) differs from this definition, the 
definition in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(39) shall apply to this ordinance. 



“Local Education Agency” means a school district, charter school, or county office of education that is 
not subject to the control of city or county regulations related to Solid Waste, or as otherwise defined in 
14 CCR Section 18982(a)(40). 

“Mixed Waste Organic Collection Stream” or “Mixed Waste” means Organic Waste collected in a 
container that is required by 14 CCR Sections 18984.1, 18984.2 or 18984.3 to be taken to a High 
Diversion Organic Waste Processing Facility or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 17402(a)(11.5). 
     “Mixed paper” means magazines, junk mail, phone books and cereal and other noncorrugated food 
boxes generated by residential households. 

“Multi-Family Residential Dwelling” or “Multi-Family” means of, from, or pertaining to residential 
premises with five (5) or more dwelling units. Multi-Family premises do not include hotels, motels, or 
other transient occupancy facilities, which are considered Commercial Businesses. 
     “Multifamily residential recyclables” mean those specific recyclable materials from the residential 
waste stream including, but not limited to, newspaper, plastic beverage bottles, other plastic bottles 
marked PET or PETE (1) and HDPE (2) on bottom of container, aluminum, tin and bi-metal cans, yard 
wastes, white goods (appliances) and glass bottles and jars. 

“MWELO” refers to the Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance (MWELO), 23 CCR, Division 
2, Chapter 2.7. 
     “Newspaper” means materials printed on newsprint. 

“Non-Compostable Paper” includes but is not limited to paper that is coated in a plastic material that 
will not breakdown in the composting process, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(41). 

“Non-Local Entity” means the following entities that are not subject to the Jurisdiction’s enforcement 
authority, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(42): 

(1) Special district(s) located within the boundaries of the City. 
(2)   Public universities (including community colleges) located within the boundaries of the City. 
(3)   State agencies located within the boundaries of the City. 
(4)   Facilities operated by the State park system located within the boundaries of the City. 
“Non-Organic Recyclables” means non-putrescible and non-hazardous recyclable wastes including but 

not limited to bottles, cans, metals, plastics and glass, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 
18982(a)(43). 

“Notice of Violation (NOV)” means a notice that a violation has occurred that includes a compliance 
date to avoid an action to seek penalties, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(45) or 
further explained in 14 CCR Section 18995.4. 

 “Organic Waste” means Solid Wastes containing material originated from living organisms and their 
metabolic waste products, including but not limited to food, green material, landscape and pruning waste, 
organic textiles and carpets, lumber, wood, Paper Products, Printing and Writing Paper, manure, 
biosolids, digestate, and sludges or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(46). Biosolids and 
digestate are as defined by 14 CCR Section 18982(a). 

“Organic Waste Generator” means a person or entity that is responsible for the initial creation of 
Organic Waste, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(48). 



“Paper Products” include, but are not limited to, paper janitorial supplies, cartons, wrapping, 
packaging, file folders, hanging files, corrugated boxes, tissue, and toweling, or as otherwise defined in 
14 CCR Section 18982(a)(51). 
     “Plastic beverage bottles” mean plastic containers with narrow necks, or mouth openings smaller than 
the diameter of the container bodies, used for containing milk, juice, soft drinks or water intended for 
human consumption; to be distinguished from non-food bottles such as those for containing motor oil, 
detergent or other household products. 

“Printing and Writing Papers” include, but are not limited to, copy, xerographic, watermark, cotton 
fiber, offset, forms, computer printout paper, white wove envelopes, manila envelopes, book paper, note 
pads, writing tablets, newsprint, and other uncoated writing papers, posters, index cards, calendars, 
brochures, reports, magazines, and publications, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(54). 

“Prohibited Container Contaminants” means the following: (i) discarded materials placed in the Blue 
Container that are not identified as acceptable Source Separated Recyclable Materials for the City’s Blue 
Container; (ii) discarded materials placed in the Green Container that are not identified as acceptable 
Source Separated Green Container Organic Waste for the City’s Green Container; (iii) discarded 
materials placed in the Gray Container that are acceptable Source Separated Recyclable Materials and/or 
Source Separated Green Container Organic Wastes to be placed in City’s Green Container and/or Blue 
Container; and, (iv) Excluded Waste placed in any container. 

 “Recovered Organic Waste Products” means products made from California, landfill-diverted 
recovered Organic Waste processed in a permitted or otherwise authorized facility, or as otherwise 
defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(60). 

“Recovery” means any activity or process described in 14 CCR Section 18983.1(b), or as otherwise 
defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(49).      

“Recyclable materials” mean materials which would otherwise become solid waste, and which can be 
collected, separated and processed and returned to use in the form of raw materials or products. 

“Recycled-Content Paper” means Paper Products and Printing and Writing Paper that consists of at 
least 30 percent, by fiber weight, postconsumer fiber, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 
18982(a)(61). 

“Regional Agency” means regional agency as defined in Public Resources Code Section 40181. 
“Regional or County Agency Enforcement Official” means a regional or county agency enforcement 

official, designated by the City with responsibility for enforcing the ordinance in conjunction or 
consultation with City Enforcement Official. 

“Remote Monitoring” means the use of the internet of things (IoT) and/or wireless electronic devices 
to visualize the contents of Blue Containers, Green Containers, and Gray Containers for purposes of 
identifying the quantity of materials in containers (level of fill) and/or presence of Prohibited Container 
Contaminants. 
     “Removal” means the act of taking solid waste materials or recyclables from the place of generation 
either by an approved collector, agent for the collector, or by a person in control of the premises. 

 “Renewable Gas” means gas derived from Organic Waste that has been diverted from a California 
landfill and processed at an in-vessel digestion facility that is permitted or otherwise authorized by 14 
CCR to recycle Organic Waste, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(62). 



“Restaurant” means an establishment primarily engaged in the retail sale of food and drinks for on-
premises or immediate consumption, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(64). 

“Route Review” means a visual Inspection of containers along a Hauler Route for the purpose of 
determining Container Contamination, and may include mechanical Inspection methods such as the use of 
cameras, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(65). 
     “Rubbish” means nonputrescible solid wastes such as ashes, glass, bedding, crockery, nonrecyclable 
plastics, rubber by-products or litter. 

“SB 1383” means Senate Bill 1383 of 2016 approved by the Governor on September 19, 2016, which 
added Sections 39730.5, 39730.6, 39730.7, and 39730.8 to the Health and Safety Code, and added 
Chapter 13.1 (commencing with Section 42652) to Part 3 of Division 30 of the Public Resources Code, 
establishing methane emissions reduction targets in a Statewide effort to reduce emissions of short-lived 
climate pollutants as amended, supplemented, superseded, and replaced from time to time.  

“SB 1383 Regulations” or “SB 1383 Regulatory” means or refers to, for the purposes of this 
ordinance, the Short-Lived Climate Pollutants: Organic Waste Reduction regulations developed by 
CalRecycle and adopted in 2020 that created 14 CCR, Division 7, Chapter 12 and amended portions of 
regulations of 14 CCR and 27 CCR. 
     “Segregation of recyclable materials” means any of the following: the placement of recyclables in 
separate containers; the binding of recyclable material separately from the other waste material; the 
physical separation of recyclables from other waste material. 

“Self-Hauler” means a person, who hauls Solid Waste, Organic Waste or recyclable material he or she 
has generated to another person. Self-hauler also includes a person who back-hauls waste, or as otherwise 
defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(66). Back-haul means generating and transporting Organic Waste to 
a destination owned and operated by the generator using the generator’s own employees and equipment, 
or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(66)(A). 

“Single-Family” means of, from, or pertaining to any residential premises with fewer than five (5) 
units. 
     “Single-family residential recyclables” mean those specific recyclable materials from the residential 
waste stream including, but not limited to, newspaper, mixed paper, plastic beverage bottles, other plastic 
bottles marked PET or PETE (1) and HDPE (2) on bottom of container, aluminum, tin and bi-metal cans, 
yard wastes, white goods (appliances) and glass bottles and jars. 

 “Solid Waste” has the same meaning as defined in State Public Resources Code Section 40191, which 
defines Solid Waste as all putrescible and nonputrescible solid, semisolid, and liquid wastes, including 
garbage, trash, refuse, paper, rubbish, ashes, industrial wastes, demolition and construction wastes, 
abandoned vehicles and parts thereof, discarded home and industrial appliances, dewatered, treated, or 
chemically fixed sewage sludge which is not hazardous waste, manure, vegetable or animal solid and 
semi-solid wastes, and other discarded solid and semisolid wastes, with the exception that Solid Waste 
does not include any of the following wastes: 

(1) Hazardous waste, as defined in the State Public Resources Code Section 40141. 
(2) Radioactive waste regulated pursuant to the State Radiation Control Law (Chapter 8 
(commencing with Section 114960) of Part 9 of Division 104 of the State Health and Safety Code). 
(3) Medical waste regulated pursuant to the State Medical Waste Management Act (Part 14 
(commencing with Section 117600) of Division 104 of the State Health and Safety Code). Untreated 



medical waste shall not be disposed of in a Solid Waste landfill, as defined in State Public Resources 
Code Section 40195.1. Medical waste that has been treated and deemed to be Solid Waste shall be 
regulated pursuant to Division 30 of the State Public Resources Code. 
“Source Separated” means materials, including commingled recyclable materials, that have been 

separated or kept separate from the Solid Waste stream, at the point of generation, for the purpose of 
additional sorting or processing those materials for recycling or reuse in order to return them to the 
economic mainstream in the form of raw material for new, reused, or reconstituted products, which meet 
the quality standards necessary to be used in the marketplace, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 
17402.5(b)(4). For the purposes of the ordinance, Source Separated shall include separation of materials 
by the generator, property owner, property owner’s employee, property manager, or property manager’s 
employee into different containers for the purpose of collection such that Source Separated materials are 
separated from Gray Container Waste/Mixed Waste or other Solid Waste for the purposes of collection 
and processing. 

“Source Separated Blue Container Organic Waste” means Source Separated Organic Wastes that can 
be placed in a Blue Container that is limited to the collection of those Organic Wastes and Non-Organic 
Recyclables as defined in Section 18982(a)(43), or as otherwise defined by Section 17402(a)(18.7). 

“Source Separated Green Container Organic Waste” means Source Separated Organic Waste that can 
be placed in a Green Container that is specifically intended for the separate collection of Organic Waste 
by the generator, excluding Source Separated Blue Container Organic Waste, carpets, Non-Compostable 
Paper, and textiles. 

“Source Separated Recyclable Materials” means Source Separated Non-Organic Recyclables and 
Source Separated Blue Container Organic Waste. 

“State” means the State of California.  
“Supermarket” means a full-line, self-service retail store with gross annual sales of two million dollars 

($2,000,000), or more, and which sells a line of dry grocery, canned goods, or nonfood items and some 
perishable items, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(71). 

“Tier One Commercial Edible Food Generator” means a Commercial Edible Food Generator that is 
one of the following: 

(1) Supermarket. 
(2) Grocery Store with a total facility size equal to or greater than 10,000 square feet. 
(3) Food Service Provider. 
(4) Food Distributor. 
(5) Wholesale Food Vendor. 
If the definition in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(73) of Tier One Commercial Edible Food Generator 

differs from this definition, the definition in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(73) shall apply to this ordinance. 
“Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator” means a Commercial Edible Food Generator that is 

one of the following: 
(1) Restaurant with 250 or more seats, or a total facility size equal to or greater than 5,000 square 
feet. 
(2) Hotel with an on-site Food Facility and 200 or more rooms. 
(3) Health facility with an on-site Food Facility and 100 or more beds. 



(4) Large Venue. 
(5) Large Event. 
(6) A State agency with a cafeteria with 250 or more seats or total cafeteria facility size equal to or 
greater than 5,000 square feet. 
(7) A Local Education Agency facility with an on-site Food Facility. 
If the definition in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(74) of Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generator 

differs from this definition, the definition in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(74) shall apply to this ordinance. 
     “Tin and bi-metal cans” means any steel food and beverage containers with a tin or aluminum plating. 

“Uncontainerized Green Waste and Yard Waste Collection Service” or “Uncontainerized Service” 
means a collection service that collects green waste and yard waste that is placed in a pile or bagged for 
collection on the street in front of a generator’s house or place of business for collection and transport to a 
facility that recovers Source Separated Organic Waste, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 
189852(a)(75).   
     “White goods” means kitchen or other large enameled appliances. 

“Wholesale Food Vendor” means a business or establishment engaged in the merchant wholesale 
distribution of food, where food (including fruits and vegetables) is received, shipped, stored, prepared for 
distribution to a retailer, warehouse, distributor, or other destination, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR 
Section 189852(a)(76). 
     “Yard wastes” mean leaves, grass, weeds and wood materials from trees and shrubs. (Ord. 206 § 1, 
1993) 
 
13.28.020 Designated recyclables. 
     The city council, by resolution, shall designate materials to be recycled in accordance with this 
chapter. (Ord. 206 § 1, 1993) 
  
13.28.030 Segregation of recyclable materials. 
     It shall be mandatory on the dates specified by council resolution designating materials to be recycled 
that such recyclable materials be segregated from rubbish or garbage for separate collection or removal. 
(Ord. 206 § 1, 1993) 
  
13.28.040 Separation of recyclable materials. 
     A.    Containers for designated recyclables shall be provided by trash hauler to each of their customers, 
for collection of designated recyclables. 
     B.     Containers provided to single-family and multifamily residences, commercial and industrial 
entities shall effectively segregate the designated recyclables for pickup according to this Chapter. 
     C.     All recyclable materials shall be separated from other garbage and combined refuse, and grouped 
together and placed for collection in the same manner as when their regular garbage collection occurs. 
(Ord. 206 § 1, 1993) 
  
 



13.28.050 Mandatory separation of recyclables, collection and disposal of solid waste and 
recyclables. 
 
A. Requirements for Single Family Generators. 

Single Family Organic Waste Generators except Single-Family generators that meet the Self-Hauler 
requirements in this ordinance shall: 

1. Subscribe to City’s Organic Waste collection services for all Organic Waste generated as described 
below in Section 13.28.050(A)(2). City shall have the right to review the number and size of a 
generator’s containers to evaluate adequacy of capacity provided for each type of collection service 
for proper separation of materials and containment of materials; and, Single-Family generators shall 
adjust its service level for its collection services as requested by the City. Generators may additionally 
manage their Organic Waste by preventing or reducing their Organic Waste, managing Organic 
Waste on site, and/or using a Community Composting site pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18984.9(c). 

2. Participate in the City’s Organic Waste collection service(s) by placing designated materials in 
designated containers, as described below, and shall not place Prohibited Container Contaminants in 
collection containers. 

a. A three- and three-plus-container collection service (Blue Container, Green Container, and 
Gray Container) 

i. Generator shall place Source Separated Green Container Organic Waste, including Food 
Waste, in the Green Container; Source Separated Recyclable Materials in the Blue Container; 
and Gray Container Waste in the Gray Container.  Generators shall not place materials 
designated for the Gray Container into the Green Container or Blue Container. 

B. Requirements for Commercial Businesses, including Multi-Family Residential Dwellings. 

Generators that are Commercial Businesses, including Multi-Family Residential Dwellings, shall: 

 1. Subscribe to the City’s three-, three-plus container collection services and comply with 
requirements of those services as described below in 13.28.050(B)(2), except Commercial Businesses that 
meet the Self-Hauler requirements in this ordinance.  The City shall have the right to review the number 
and size of a generator’s containers and frequency of collection to evaluate adequacy of capacity provided 
for each type of collection service for proper separation of materials and containment of materials; and, 
Commercial Businesses shall adjust their service level for their collection services as requested by the 
City. 

 2. Except Commercial Businesses that meet the Self-Hauler requirements in Section F of this 
ordinance, participate in the City’s Organic Waste collection service(s) by placing designated materials in 
designated containers as described below. 

  a. A three- and three-plus-container collection service (Blue Container, Green Container, and 
Gray Container) 

   i. Generator shall place Source Separated Green Container Organic Waste, including Food 
Waste, in the Green Container; Source Separated Recyclable Materials in the Blue Container; and Gray 
Container Waste in the Gray Container. Generator shall not place materials designated for the Gray 
Container into the Green Container or Blue Container. 



 3. Supply and allow access to adequate number, size and location of collection containers with 
sufficient labels or colors (conforming with Sections B(4)(a) and B(4)(b) below) for employees, 
contractors, tenants, and customers, consistent with the City’s Blue Container, Green Container, and Gray 
Container collection service or, if self-hauling, per the Commercial Businesses’ instructions to support its 
compliance with its self-haul program, in accordance with Section F. 

 4. Excluding Multi-Family Residential Dwellings, provide containers for the collection of Source 
Separated Green Container Organic Waste and Source Separated Recyclable Materials in all indoor and 
outdoor areas where disposal containers are provided for customers, for materials generated by that 
business. Such containers do not need to be provided in restrooms. If a Commercial Business does not 
generate any of the materials that would be collected in one type of container, then the business does not 
have to provide that particular container in all areas where disposal containers are provided for customers. 
Pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18984.9(b), the containers provided by the business shall have either: 

  a. A body or lid that conforms with the container colors provided through the collection service 
provided by the City, with either lids conforming to the color requirements or bodies conforming to the 
color requirements or both lids and bodies conforming to color requirements. A Commercial Business is 
not required to replace functional containers, including containers purchased prior to January 1, 2022, that 
do not comply with the requirements of the subsection prior to the end of the useful life of those 
containers, or prior to January 1, 2036, whichever comes first, or 

  b. Container labels that include language or graphic images, or both, indicating the primary 
material accepted and the primary materials prohibited in that container, or containers with imprinted text 
or graphic images that indicate the primary materials accepted and primary materials prohibited in the 
container. Pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18984.8, the container labeling requirements are required on new 
containers commencing January 1, 2022. 

 5. Multi-Family Residential Dwellings are not required to comply with container placement 
requirements or labeling requirement in Section B(4) pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18984.9(b).   

 6. To the extent practical through education, training, Inspection, and/or other measures, excluding 
Multi-Family Residential Dwellings, prohibit employees from placing materials in a container not 
designated for those materials per the City’s Blue Container, Green Container, and Gray Container 
collection service or, if self-hauling, per the Commercial Businesses’ instructions to support its 
compliance with its self-haul program, in accordance with Section F.   

 7. Excluding Multi-Family Residential Dwellings, periodically inspect Blue Containers, Green 
Containers, and Gray Containers for contamination and inform employees if containers are contaminated 
and of the requirements to keep contaminants out of those containers pursuant to 14 CCR Section 
18984.9(b)(3). 

 8. Annually provide information to employees, contractors, tenants, and customers about Organic 
Waste Recovery requirements and about proper sorting of Source Separated Green Container Organic 
Waste and Source Separated Recyclable Materials. 

 9. Provide education information before or within fourteen (14) days of occupation of the premises to 
new tenants that describes requirements to keep Source Separated Green Container Organic Waste and 
Source Separated Recyclable Materials separate from Gray Container Waste (when applicable) and the 
location of containers and the rules governing their use at each property. 

 10. Provide or arrange access for the City or its agent to their properties during all Inspections 
conducted in accordance with Section G of this ordinance to confirm compliance with the requirements of 
this ordinance. 



 11. Accommodate and cooperate with the City’s Remote Monitoring program for Inspection of the 
contents of containers for Prohibited Container Contaminants, which may be implemented at a later date, 
to evaluate generator’s compliance with Section B(2). The Remote Monitoring program may involve 
installation of Remote Monitoring equipment on or in the Blue Containers, Green Containers, and Gray 
Containers or Hauler’s vehicles. 

 12. At Commercial Business’s option and subject to any approval required from the City, implement 
a Remote Monitoring program for Inspection of the contents of its Blue Containers, Green Containers, 
and Gray Containers for the purpose of monitoring the contents of containers to determine appropriate 
levels of service and to identify Prohibited Container Contaminants. Generators may install Remote 
Monitoring devices on or in the Blue Containers, Green Containers, and Gray Containers subject to 
written notification to or approval by the City or its Designee. 

 13. If a Commercial Business wants to self-haul, meet the Self-Hauler requirements in Section F of 
this ordinance. 

 14. Nothing in this Section prohibits a generator from preventing or reducing waste generation, 
managing Organic Waste on site, or using a Community Composting site pursuant to 14 CCR Section 
18984.9(c). 

 15. Commercial Businesses that are Tier One or Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators shall 
comply with Food Recovery requirements, pursuant to Section D. 

C. Waivers for Generators. 

 1. De Minimis Waivers. The City may waive a Commercial Business’ obligation (including Multi-
Family Residential Dwellings) to comply with some or all of the Organic Waste requirements of this 
ordinance if the Commercial Business provides documentation that the business generates below a certain 
amount of Organic Waste material as described in Section C(1)(b) below. Commercial Businesses 
requesting a de minimis waiver shall: 

  a. Submit an application specifying the services that they are requesting a waiver from and 
provide documentation as noted in Section C(1)(b) below. 

  b. Provide documentation that either: 

   i. The Commercial Business’ total Solid Waste collection service is two cubic yards or more 
per week and Organic Waste subject to collection in a Blue Container or Green Container comprises less 
than 20 gallons per week per applicable container of the business’ total waste; or, 

   ii. The Commercial Business’ total Solid Waste collection service is less than two cubic yards 
per week and Organic Waste subject to collection in a Blue Container or Green Container comprises less 
than 10 gallons per week per applicable container of the business’ total waste. 

  c. Notify the City if circumstances change such that Commercial Business’s Organic Waste 
exceeds threshold required for waiver, in which case waiver will be rescinded. 

  d. Provide written verification of eligibility for de minimis waiver every 5 years, if the City has 
approved de minimis waiver. 

 2. Physical space waivers. The City may waive a Commercial Business’ or property owner’s 
obligations (including Multi-Family Residential Dwellings) to comply with some or all of the recyclable 
materials and/or Organic Waste collection service requirements if the City has evidence from its own 



staff, a hauler, licensed architect, or licensed engineer demonstrating that the premises lacks adequate 
space for the collection containers required for compliance with the Organic Waste collection 
requirements of Section B. A Commercial Business or property owner may request a physical space 
waiver through the following process: 

  a. Submit an application form specifying the type(s) of collection services for which they are 
requesting a compliance waiver. 

  b. Provide documentation that the premises lacks adequate space for Blue Containers and/or 
Green Containers including documentation from its hauler, licensed architect, or licensed engineer.  

  c. Provide written verification to the City that it is still eligible for physical space waiver every 
five years, if the City has approved application for a physical space waiver. 

 3. Review and Approval of Waivers by City.  The City Manager or the City Manager’s designee shall 
be responsible for review and determination of any waiver submitted to the City for approval. 

D. Requirements for Commercial Edible Food Generators. 

 1. Tier One Commercial Edible Food Generators must comply with the requirements of this Section 
commencing January 1, 2022, and Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators must comply 
commencing January 1, 2024, pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18991.3.  

 2. Large Venue or Large Event operators not providing food services, but allowing for food to be 
provided by others, shall require Food Facilities operating at the Large Venue or Large Event to comply 
with the requirements of this Section, commencing January 1, 2024. 

 3. Commercial Edible Food Generators shall comply with the following requirements: 

  a. Arrange to recover the maximum amount of Edible Food that would otherwise be disposed. 

  b. Contract with, or enter into a written agreement with Food Recovery Organizations or Food 
Recovery Services for: (i) the collection of Edible Food for Food Recovery; or, (ii) acceptance of the 
Edible Food that the Commercial Edible Food Generator self-hauls to the Food Recovery Organization 
for Food Recovery.  

  c. Shall not intentionally spoil Edible Food that is capable of being recovered by a Food Recovery 
Organization or a Food Recovery Service. 

  d. Allow the City’s designated enforcement entity or designated third party enforcement entity to 
access the premises and review records pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18991.4.  

  e. Keep records that include the following information, or as otherwise specified in 14 CCR 
Section 18991.4: 

   i. A list of each Food Recovery Service or organization that collects or receives its Edible 
Food pursuant to a contract or written agreement established under 14 CCR Section 18991.3(b). 

   ii. A copy of all contracts or written agreements established under 14 CCR Section 
18991.3(b). 

   iii. A record of the following information for each of those Food Recovery Services or Food 
Recovery Organizations: 



    1) The name, address and contact information of the Food Recovery Service or Food 
Recovery Organization. 

    2) The types of food that will be collected by or self-hauled to the Food Recovery Service 
or Food Recovery Organization. 

    3) The established frequency that food will be collected or self-hauled. 

    4) The quantity of food, measured in pounds recovered per month, collected or self-
hauled to a Food Recovery Service or Food Recovery Organization for Food Recovery. 

  f. No later than July 1, 2022 of each year for Tier One Commercial Edible Food Generators and 
July 1, 2024 for Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators, provide an annual Food Recovery report 
to the City that includes the following information: 

   i. All records required in e(i); 

   ii. Amount and type of Edible Food that was not accepted by Food Recovery Organizations 
or services for donation. 

 4. Nothing in this ordinance shall be construed to limit or conflict with the protections provided by 
the California Good Samaritan Food Donation Act of 2017, the Federal Good Samaritan Act, or share 
table and school food donation guidance pursuant to Senate Bill 557 of 2017 (approved by the Governor 
of the State of California on September 25, 2017, which added Article 13 [commencing with Section 
49580] to Chapter 9 of Part 27 of Division 4 of Title 2 of the Education Code, and to amend Section 
114079 of the Health and Safety Code, relating to food safety, as amended, supplemented, superseded and 
replaced from time to time). 

 5. Requirements for Food Recovery Organizations and Services. 

  a. Food Recovery Services collecting or receiving Edible Food directly from Commercial Edible 
Food Generators, via a contract or written agreement established under 14 CCR Section 18991.3(b), shall 
maintain the following records, or as otherwise specified by 14 CCR Section 18991.5(a)(1): 

   i. The name, address, and contact information for each Commercial Edible Food Generator 
from which the service collects Edible Food. 

   ii. The quantity in pounds of Edible Food collected from each Commercial Edible Food 
Generator per month. 

   iii. The quantity in pounds of Edible Food transported to each Food Recovery Organization 
per month. 

   iv. The name, address, and contact information for each Food Recovery Organization that the 
Food Recovery Service transports Edible Food to for Food Recovery. 

  b. Food Recovery Organizations collecting or receiving Edible Food directly from Commercial 
Edible Food Generators, via a contract or written agreement established under 14 CCR Section 
18991.3(b), shall maintain the following records, or as otherwise specified by 14 CCR Section 
18991.5(a)(2): 

   i. The name, address, and contact information for each Commercial Edible Food Generator 
from which the organization receives Edible Food. 



   ii. The quantity in pounds of Edible Food received from each Commercial Edible Food 
Generator per month. 

   iii. The name, address, and contact information for each Food Recovery Service that the 
organization receives Edible Food from for Food Recovery. 

  c. Commencing on January  1, 2022, and annually thereafter, Food Recovery Organizations and 
Food Recovery Services that have their primary address physically located in the City and contract with 
or have written agreements with one or more Commercial Edible Food Generators pursuant to 14 CCR 
Section 18991.3(b) shall report to the City the total pounds of Edible Food recovered in the previous 
calendar year from the Tier One and Tier Two Commercial Edible Food Generators they have established 
a contract or written agreement with pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18991.3(b).  

  d. Food Recovery Capacity Planning. In order to support Edible Food Recovery capacity 
planning assessments or other studies conducted by the City, or its designated entity, Food Recovery 
Services and Food Recovery Organizations operating in the City shall provide information and 
consultation to the City, upon request, regarding existing, or proposed new or expanded, Food Recovery 
capacity that could be accessed by the City and its Commercial Edible Food Generators. A Food 
Recovery Service or Food Recovery Organization contacted by the City shall respond to such request for 
information within 60 days, unless a shorter timeframe is otherwise specified by the City. 

E. Requirements for Haulers and Facility Operators. 

 1. Requirements for Haulers. 

  a. Exclusive franchised hauler providing residential, Commercial, or industrial Organic Waste 
collection services to generators within the City’s boundaries shall meet the following requirements and 
standards as a condition of approval of a contract, agreement, or other authorization with the City to 
collect Organic Waste: 

   i. Through written notice to the City annually on or before January 1, identify the facilities to 
which they will transport Organic Waste including facilities for Source Separated Recyclable Materials 
and Source Separated Green Container Organic Waste. 

   ii. Transport Source Separated Recyclable Materials and Source Separated Green Container 
Organic Waste to a facility, operation, activity, or property that recovers Organic Waste as defined in 14 
CCR, Division 7, Chapter 12, Article 2. 

   iii. Obtain approval from the City to haul Organic Waste, unless it is transporting Source 
Separated Organic Waste to a Community Composting site or lawfully transporting C&D in a manner 
that complies with 14 CCR Section 18989.1 and City’s C&D ordinance. 

  b. Exclusive franchised hauler authorization to collect Organic Waste shall comply with 
education, equipment, signage, container labeling, container color, contamination monitoring, reporting, 
and other requirements contained within its franchise agreement, permit, license, or other agreement 
entered into with City. 

 2. Requirements for Facility Operators and Community Composting Operations. 

  a. Owners of facilities, operations, and activities that recover Organic Waste, including, but not 
limited to, Compost facilities, in-vessel digestion facilities, and publicly-owned treatment works shall, 
upon City’s request, provide information regarding available and potential new or expanded capacity at 



their facilities, operations, and activities, including information about throughput and permitted capacity 
necessary for planning purposes. Entities contacted by the City shall respond within 60 days. 

  b. Community Composting operators, upon City request, shall provide information to the City to 
support Organic Waste capacity planning, including, but not limited to, an estimate of the amount of 
Organic Waste anticipated to be handled at the Community Composting operation. Entities contacted by 
the City shall respond within 60 days. 

F. Self-Hauler Requirements. 

 1. Self-Haulers shall source separate all recyclable materials and Organic Waste generated on-site 
from Solid Waste in a manner consistent with 14 CCR Sections 18984.1 and 18984.2, or shall haul 
Organic Waste to a High Diversion Organic Waste Processing Facility as specified in 14 CCR Section 
18984.3. 

 2. Self-Haulers shall haul their Source Separated Recyclable Materials to a facility that recovers those 
materials; and haul their Source Separated Green Container Organic Waste to a Solid Waste facility, 
operation, activity, or property that processes or recovers Source Separated Organic Waste. Alternatively, 
Self-Haulers may haul Organic Waste to a High Diversion Organic Waste Processing Facility. 

 3. Self-Haulers that are Commercial Businesses (including Multi-Family Residential Dwellings) shall 
keep a record of the amount of Organic Waste delivered to each Solid Waste facility, operation, activity, 
or property that processes or recovers Organic Waste; this record shall be subject to Inspection by the 
City. The records shall include the following information: 

  a. Delivery receipts and weight tickets from the entity accepting the waste. 

  b. The amount of material in cubic yards or tons transported by the generator to each entity. 

  c. If the material is transported to an entity that does not have scales on-site, or employs scales 
incapable of weighing the Self-Hauler’s vehicle in a manner that allows it to determine the weight of 
materials received, the Self-Hauler is not required to record the weight of material but shall keep a record 
of the entities that received the Organic Waste.  

 4. Self-Haulers that are Commercial Businesses (including Multi-Family Self-Haulers) shall provide 
information collected in Section F(3) to City.   

 5. A residential Organic Waste Generator that self-hauls Organic Waste is not required to record or 
report information in Section F(3) and (4). 

G. Inspections and Investigations by City. 

 1. City representatives and/or its designated entity, including Designees are authorized to conduct 
Inspections and investigations, at random or otherwise, of any collection container, collection vehicle 
loads, or transfer, processing, or disposal facility for materials collected from generators, or Source 
Separated materials to confirm compliance with this ordinance by Organic Waste Generators, 
Commercial Businesses (including Multi-Family Residential Dwellings), property owners, Commercial 
Edible Food Generators, haulers, Self-Haulers, Food Recovery Services, and Food Recovery 
Organizations, subject to applicable laws. This Section does not allow City to enter the interior of a 
private residential property for Inspection. For the purposes of inspecting Commercial Business 
containers for compliance with Section B(2) or C(2) of this ordinance, City may conduct container 
Inspections for Prohibited Container Contaminants using Remote Monitoring, and Commercial 



Businesses shall accommodate and cooperate with the Remote Monitoring pursuant to Section B or C of 
this ordinance.  

 2. Regulated entity shall provide or arrange for access during all Inspections (with the exception of 
residential property interiors) and shall cooperate with the City’s employee or its designated 
entity/Designee during such Inspections and investigations.  Such Inspections and investigations may 
include confirmation of proper placement of materials in containers, Edible Food Recovery activities, 
records, or any other requirement of this ordinance described herein.  Failure to provide or arrange for: (i) 
access to an entity’s premises; (ii) installation and operation of Remote Monitoring equipment; or (ii) 
access to records for any inspection or investigation is a violation of this ordinance and may result in 
penalties described.   

 3. Any records obtained by City during its Inspections, Remote Monitoring, and other reviews shall 
be subject to the requirements and applicable disclosure exemptions of the Public Records Act as set forth 
in Government Code Section 6250 et seq.  

 4. City representatives, its designated entity, and/or Designee are authorized to conduct any 
Inspections, Remote Monitoring, or other investigations as reasonably necessary to further the goals of 
this ordinance, subject to applicable laws.   

 5. City shall receive written complaints from persons regarding an entity that may be potentially non-
compliant with SB 1383 Regulations, including receipt of anonymous complaints. 

H. Enforcement. 

 1. Violation of any provision of this ordinance shall constitute grounds for issuance of a Notice of 
Violation and assessment of a fine by the City’s Enforcement Official or representative. Enforcement 
Actions under this ordinance are issuance of an administrative citation and assessment of a fine. The 
City’s procedures on imposition of administrative fines are hereby incorporated in their entirety, as 
modified from time to time, and shall govern the imposition, enforcement, collection, and review of 
administrative citations issued to enforce this ordinance and any rule or regulation adopted pursuant to 
this ordinance, except as otherwise indicated in this ordinance.   

 2. Other remedies allowed by law may be used, including civil action or prosecution as misdemeanor 
or infraction. The City may pursue civil actions in the California courts to seek recovery of unpaid 
administrative citations.  The City may choose to delay court action until such time as a sufficiently large 
number of violations, or cumulative size of violations exist such that court action is a reasonable use of 
City staff and resources. 

I. Effective Date.  This ordinance shall be effective commencing on January 7, 2022.  
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